Purdue University Purdue e-Pubs

Open Access Theses

Theses and Dissertations

January 2015

Temporal Changes in Routine Health Markers and Their Association with Illness and Mortality Rates in Cats Naturally Infected with Feline Immunodeficiency Virus

Jamieson Nichols *Purdue University*

Follow this and additional works at: https://docs.lib.purdue.edu/open_access_theses

Recommended Citation

Nichols, Jamieson, "Temporal Changes in Routine Health Markers and Their Association with Illness and Mortality Rates in Cats Naturally Infected with Feline Immunodeficiency Virus" (2015). *Open Access Theses*. 1157. https://docs.lib.purdue.edu/open_access_theses/1157

This document has been made available through Purdue e-Pubs, a service of the Purdue University Libraries. Please contact epubs@purdue.edu for additional information.



PURDUE UNIVERSITY GRADUATE SCHOOL Thesis/Dissertation Acceptance

This is to certify that the thesis/dissertation prepared

By Jamieson J. Nichols

Entitled

Temporal Changes in Routine Health Markers and Their Association with Illness and Mortality Rates in Cats Naturally Infected with Feline Immunodeficiency Virus

For the degree of Master of Science

Is approved by the final examining committee:

Lynn Guptill	Annette Litster
Chair	
Hsin-Yi Weng	
Joanne Messick	
John Christian	

To the best of my knowledge and as understood by the student in the Thesis/Dissertation Agreement, Publication Delay, and Certification Disclaimer (Graduate School Form 32), this thesis/dissertation adheres to the provisions of Purdue University's "Policy of Integrity in Research" and the use of copyright material.

Approved by Major Professor(s): Lynn Guptill

Approved by: Joanna C R Scott-Moncrieff

المستشارات

Head of the Departmental Graduate Program

12/2/2015

Date

www.manaraa.com

TEMPORAL CHANGES IN ROUTINE HEALTH MARKERS AND THEIR ASSOCIATION WITH ILLNESS AND MORTALITY RATES IN CATS NATIRALLY INFECTED WITH FELINE IMMUNODEFIENCY VIRUS

A Thesis

Submitted to the Faculty

of

Purdue University

by

Jamieson J Nichols

In Partial Fulfillment of the

Requirements for the Degree

of

Master of Science

December 2015

Purdue University

West Lafayette, Indiana



www.manaraa.com



FOR "MY" CATS.



ii

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

There are many people and organizations that worked together to complete this study. At the start I would like to thank Maddie's Fund for financial support of this study. As well as IDEXX Laboratories for further subsidizing the laboratory methods utilized during this study and the University of Glasgow Centre for Virus Research for providing virus isolation.

I would also like to thank the staff at PAWS Chicago, Tree House Humane Society, Fitzhugh B. Crews FIV sanctuary, Drennan Animal Hospital, Cordova Station Animal Hospital, Parkway Village Companion Animal Hospital and Hillcrest Animal Hospital for all of their help and support during recruitment of cats for the study. And specifically, for their patience during the follow-up examinations when we occupied valuable shelter/veterinary space at some of their busiest times – I am truly grateful you allowed us to inconvenience you.

I would like to thank Dr. Annette Litster for bringing me into the world of shelter medicine and allowing me to work on this project. I would also like to thank Dr. Joanne Messick and Dr. John Christian for their words of support and encouragement during this whole process.

Thank you is not nearly adequate for all of the time, help, advice and support that Dr. Hsin-Yi Weng has given me over the course of this project. I am truly thankful for everything you have done.

Dr. Guptill, I cannot possibly express how extremely appreciative I am for your willingness to take me on as a graduate student. There really are no words to articulate my sincere thanks for all of your patience, understanding, guidance, mentorship, and words of encouragement over the last 2 years; not to mention the endless hours spent reading and rereading my work. It really has been a great experience to work with you.



Kristin Hall, I am so glad you listened when I said you couldn't quit. You have been indispensable and irreplaceable. You have been the Thelma to my Louise - thankfully we didn't die at the end. From speeding tickets, Chili's and red Camaros to learning Bob Dylan is still alive and Memphis doesn't like recyclers – this has been an adventure.

Amy Bauer, Pierre Deshuillers, Kathy Johnson and Sheryl Walker, thank you all for being a much needed lunch buddy, drinking buddy, sounding board and friend. I am lucky to have had a chance to get to know each of you over the last 4 years. You are all fantastic, funny, brilliant and wonderful people.

To my family, thank you for sticking with me through life. I love you guys.

Last, but definitely not least, I have to thank my study cats and their owners - without them this project could not have been done. There is a special place in my heart for each of "my" study cats. I'm not sure they can say the same for me but I think they managed to get through this without any hard feelings. I have enjoyed getting to know each individual personality of "my" cats and can say without a doubt that I have come to love each of them because of - or in spite of - those personalities. Working with "my" cats has been the highlight of the last 5 years and has reminded me of why I became a veterinarian. A big kitty squeeze to each of you.



TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
LIST OF TABLES	vii
LIST OF FIGURES	viiii
ABSTRACT	X
CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION	1
References	5
CHAPTER 2. LITERATURE REVIEW	8
2.1 Introduction	8
2.2 Feline Immunodeficiency Virus	10
2.3 Epidemiology and Transmission	11
2.4 Cellular Infection and Dissemination	13
2.4.1 Cellular Infection	13
2.4.2 Dissemination	15
2.5 Mechanisms of Immune Impairment	16
2.6 Course of Infection	21
2.7 Diagnosis	23
2.8 Hematology and Histopathology Alterations Secondary to Infection	25
2.8.1 Hematology	25
2.8.2 Histopathology	26
2.9 Monitoring and Therapy	27
2.10 Microbial Translocation	29
2.10 Future Treatment	33
2.11 Conclusion	35
CHAPTER 3. TEMPORAL PATTERNS IN GENERAL HEALTH PANEL MARKERS A	ND
LYMPHOCYTE IMMUNOPHENOTYPE IN CATS NATURALLY INFECTED WITH	50
FELINE IMMUNODEFICIENCY VIKUS	
3.1 Introduction	



Page
3.2 Materials and Methods
3.2.1 Animals
3.2.2 Laboratory findings
3.2.3 Statistical analysis
3.3 Results
3.3.1 Overall differences in laboratory parameters between FIV-infected and uninfected cats
3.3.2 Temporal changes in laboratory parameters of FIV-infected cats vs. FIV-uninfected cats
3.3.3 Overall differences in laboratory parameters between FIV-infected cats in sanctuary housing and FIV-infectected cats
3.3.4 Temporal changes for laboratory parameters of FIV-infected cats in private homes vs. FIV-infected cats in sanctuary housing
3.4 Discussion
3.5 Conclusion
References79
CHAPTER 4. ILLNESS AND MORTALITY RATES IN CATS NATURALLY INFECTED WITH FELINE IMMUNODEFICIENCY VIRUS AND MARKERS ASSOCIATED WITH THESE OUTCOMES
4.1 Introduction
4.2 Materials and Methods
4.2.1 Animals
4.2.2 Laboratory findings
4.2.3 Statistical analysis
4.3 Results
4.3.1 Kaplan-Meier analysis
4.3.2 Cox regression analysis for mortality rate
4.3.3 Cox regression analysis for illness rate
4.4 Discussion
4.5 Conclusion
References
CHAPTER 5. CONCLUSION
References



vi

LIST OF TABLES

Table Page
Table 3.1. Reference intervals for hematological, biochemical and lymphocyte
immunophenotype markers64
Table 3.2. Sample size for groups at each time interval 65
Table 3.3. Descriptive statistics (median and range) and P-values for selected laboratory
parameters over 3 years for FIV-infected and FIV-uninfected cats
Table 3.4. Descriptive statistics (median and range) and P-values for selected laboratory
parameters over 3 years for FIV-infected in sanctuary housing and FIV-infected cats in
private homes67
Table 4.1. Age and Sex of FIV-infected and FIV-uninfected cats 95
Table 4.2. Analytes that are significantly associated with mortality and illness in FIV-infected
cats investigated in Cox regression with a stepwise procedure96



LIST OF FIGURES

Figure Page
Figure 3.1. Descriptive statistics (median and range) for differences in absolute $CD8\beta^{low}$ T cell
counts for FIV-infected and FIV-uninfected cats over 2 years
Figure 3.2. Descriptive statistics (median and range) for differences in total protein for FIV-
infected and uninfected cats over 2 year69
Figure 3.3. Descriptive statistics (median and range) for differences in globulin levels for FIV-
infected and uninfected cats over 2 years70
Figure 3.4. Descriptive statistics (median and range) for differences in CD4:CD8 ratio for FIV-
infected and uninfected cats over 2 years71
Figure 3.5. Temporal patterns for absolute CD4 T cell counts in FIV-infected and uninfected cats
over 3 years
Figure 3.6. Temporal patterns for absolute CD8 T cell counts in FIV-infected and uninfected cats
over 3 years
Figure 3.7. Temporal patterns for absolute lymphocyte counts in FIV-infected and uninfected cats
over 3 years74
Figure 3.8. Descriptive statistics (median and range) for differences in globulin levels for FIV-
infected cats in sanctuary housing and FIV-infected cats in private homes over 2
years
Figure 3.9. Descriptive statistics (median and range) for differences in absolute neutrophil counts
for FIV-infected cats in sanctuary housing and FIV-infected cats in private homes
over 2 years
Figure 3.10. Descriptive statistics (median and range) for differences in albumin levels for FIV-
infected cats in sanctuary housing and FIV-infected cats in private homes over 2
years



Figure Pag	ge
Figure 3.11. Descriptive statistics (median and range) for differences in cholesterol levels for	
FIV-infected cats in sanctuary housing and FIV-infected cats in private homes over	
2 years	78
Figure 4.1. Survival curves for Mortality in FIV-infected and FIV-uninfected cats) 3
Figure 4.2. Survival curves for Illness in FIV-infected and FIV-uninfected cats) 4

ABSTRACT

Nichols, Jamieson, J., M.S., Purdue University, December 2015, Temporal Changes in Routine Health Markers and Their Association with Illness and Mortality Rates in Cats Naturally Infected with Feline Immunodeficiency Virus. Major Professor: Lynn Guptill

Feline immunodeficiency virus is an important lentiviral infection in cats. Infection is life-long and results in immune compromise, increased susceptibility to opportunistic infections and early mortality. Infection is commonly referred to in three stages: acute, (asymptomatic) and end stage (symptomatic); although not all cats will progress to end stage disease. Acute infection lasts several months during which cats may have mild, transient anorexia, lethargy, fever, lymphadenomegaly and diarrhea. There is loss of mucosal and peripheral CD4 T cells, expansion of a subset of CD8 T cells, $CD8\beta^{low}$, and establishment of viremia during this period. Asymptomatic infection lasts a variable period of years during which progressive decreases in CD4 T cells and inversion of the CD4:CD8 ratio occurs. End stage infection does not occur in all infected cats. It is characterized by a rapid decline in health including generalized muscle wasting, treatment-refractory opportunistic infection and / or neoplasia leading to death within months. A marked decrease in CD4 T cell counts and CD4:CD8 ratio and several fold increase in viremia occurs during end stage disease but reported literature is sparse. Longitudinal studies of specific pathogen free cats experimentally infected with FIV infection have focused primarily on acute and early asymptomatic stages of infection. Little has been reported on the transition from late chronic to end stage disease. Longitudinal studies of cats naturally infected with FIV are needed to better characterize the course of infection.

In this study, a cohort of cats naturally infected with FIV (n = 87) and uninfected cats (n = 87) were monitored over a period of 3 to 5 years, depending on when they were enrolled. FIV-infected cats were examined twice yearly and uninfected were examined once yearly. At each examination blood samples were collected for routine hematological and biochemical screening



and lymphocyte immunophenotyping. It was hypothesized that FIV-infected cats, compared to FIV-uninfected cats, will have: 1) an increased rate of illness and mortality; 2) differences in temporal patterns for routine hematological and biochemical tests, and lymphocyte immunophenotype; and 3) changes in lymphocyte immunophenotype and clinical pathology markers associated with illness and mortality rates. The same hypotheses were also tested between FIV-infected cats in sanctuary housing and FIV-infected cats living in private homes of <7 cats.

Results showed that mortality rate was increased by 11.7 fold in FIV-infected cats in sanctuary housing and 4.1 fold in FIV-infected cats in private homes compared to FIV-uninfected cats. Illness rates were increased 15.1 fold higher in sanctuary housed cats and 3.0 fold higher in privately homed cats compared to FIV-uninfected cats. FIV-infected cats in sanctuary housing had a 5.1 fold increased mortality rate associated with FIV infection compared to FIV-infected cats living in private homes.

Differences in temporal patterns were statistically significantly different for absolute CD4 T cell counts, total CD8 T cell counts, lymphocytes numbers, albumin, blood urea nitrogen (BUN), and cholesterol levels for FIV-infected cats compared to uninfected cats. Although T cell and lymphocyte counts decreased in both groups, the decreases were greater for FIV-infected cats. Albumin and BUN values decreased and globulin values increased in FIV-infected cats compared to uninfected cats but the changes were small. Differences in CD8^{blow} cells counts, CD4:CD8 ratio, globulin and total protein levels were seen but remained stable between the groups over time. FIV-infected cats in sanctuary housing showed statistically significantly different temporal patterns for absolute white blood cell counts (WBC), hematocrit, total protein (TP), BUN, creatinine and alanine aminotransferase (ALT) but the changes were small. WBC and TP values increased in FIV-infected cats in sanctuary housing compared to cats in private homes. Decreasing temporal patterns in BUN, creatinine, ALT and hematocrit were found in FIVinfected cats in sanctuary housing compared to cats in private homes but changes were small and median values remained within the reference intervals. Higher absolute neutrophil counts and globulin levels and lower values for albumin and cholesterol levels were seen in FIV-infected cats in sanctuary housing compared to cats in private homes but differences remained stable between the two groups.



In FIV-infected cats, a greater decrease in CD4 T cell and albumin percentages and a greater increase in CD4:CD8 ratios and neutrophil counts were associated with an increase in illness rate. An increase in mortality rate was associated with a greater increase in total protein and greater decreased in albumin and hematocrit percentages. However, associations were weak and use of any of these parameters as a stand-alone monitoring tool cannot be recommended. There were no associations between any parameter and illness or mortality in FIV-uninfected cats.

Results of this study showed FIV-infected cats had increased illness and mortality rates compared to FIV-uninfected cats. Furthermore, FIV-infected cats living in sanctuary housing had higher illness and mortality rates compared to FIV-infected cats living in private housing. This raises the question of what role environmental conditions may play in disease progression in FIV infection. This has not been previously reported in the literature and further investigation into the potential environmental impact on disease progression is warranted.

The most notable differences in temporal patterns for health parameters were associated with inflammation and immune cells. Illness and mortality rates were associated with greater changes in inflammatory parameters and lymphocyte immunophenotype in FIV-infected cats, although, associations were weak. While considered exploratory in this study population, these findings further support the roles of chronic inflammation and immune activation in disease progression following FIV infection that have been reported in the literature. Given the limited availability of monitoring techniques for FIV-infected cats, further investigation into the use of these health markers of inflammation and lymphocyte immunophenotype as a panel to monitor disease progression is warranted. However, continued research into new, reliable and easily performed techniques that accurately measure chronic inflammation and immune activity in FIV infection is needed.



CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION

Feline immunodeficiency virus (FIV) is an important worldwide lentiviral disease in cats similar to human immunodeficiency (HIV) and simian immunodeficiency virus (SIV). Worldwide disease prevalence has been reported between 2 and 34% depending on location, living environment and health of the cat^{1.2}. FIV is a complicated lifelong disease that results in immunocompromise and a chronic inflammatory state within the host. Infection is most commonly spread through deep, penetrating bite wounds and male, intact, outdoor cats are considered at highest risk due to territorial fighting behavior^{3,4}.

Following infection there are 3 stages of infection: acute, chronic (asymptomatic) and end stage (symptomatic). In the acute stage of infection, cats may experience transient clinical signs of illness including fever, lethargy, anorexia and diarrhea beginning approximately 6-8 weeks postinfection⁵. Mucosal and peripheral blood CD4 T cell populations are greatly reduced, CD8^{βlow} T cell populations are expanded and viremia is established⁵⁻⁸. The expansion of $CD8\beta^{low}$ cells appears to be unique to FIV infection and studies have shown that as this population of cells is expanded viremia is decreased⁹. However, infected cats are unable to clear the virus resulting in life-long infection and persistent low level viremia^{10,11}. Once viremia is brought under control, CD4 T cell counts recover but typically not to pre-infection levels and cats transitions into a chronic asymptomatic phase of infection which lasts a variable period of years. During this time, cats have no detectable abnormalities on physical examination. There is, however, a gradual decrease in CD4 T cell counts, expansion of CD8^{βlow} cells, progressive inversion of the CD4:CD8 ratio, and an undulating viral burden which at times is below the limit of detection^{10,12}. Progressive immune alteration eventually results in immunocompromise and may increase susceptibility to certain infections and neoplasias. It is not known what proportion of cats will progress to end stage infection. However, it is known that once in the end stage of infection, decline in health is rapid, typically over several months, and death is imminent. Of cats that do



progress to end stage infection, treatment refractory opportunistic infections, generalized muscle wasting, chronic gastrointestinal disease and neoplasia are common^{13,14}. It is thought that cats in end stage infection have a resurgence of viremia, extreme loss of CD4 T cells, and marked anemia and leukopenia, however, this has not been extensively studied¹⁵⁻¹⁷.

Several underlying mechanisms of immunocompromise and chronic inflammation are similar between FIV, HIV and SIV; although mechanisms in HIV have been more intensively studied and reported. For example, in FIV-infected cats, cytokine dysregulation, increased T cell anergy and apoptosis, and increased regulatory T cell (T_{reg}) activity have been associated with FIV disease progression¹⁸. Altered cytokine production resulting in increased circulating proinflammatory cytokines such as interleukin-6 (IL-6), IL-1, IL-10, and tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α) and decreased IL-12; favors humoral (antibody) immunity and limits cell-mediated immunity, leaving infected cats unable to mount an appropriate immune response to intracellular pathogens¹⁹⁻²². T_{reg} cell activation limits the amount of IL-2 produced; a key cytokine produced by T cells to propagate an adaptive immune response to pathogens²³. Up-regulation and overexpression of several surface proteins on activated T cells, namely CTLA-4 and B7.1, act as co-stimulatory signals between T cells and induce a state of anergy (immune inactivity)^{24,25}. These factors may create a paradoxical situation, in which, immune activation stimulates dampening of the adaptive immune response, rather than proliferation of a protective response. Similar activity has been reported in HIV and SIV.

The body of knowledge regarding the immune response following FIV infection has been gleaned from experimental studies. Experimental longitudinal studies tend to focus primarily on acute and early chronic infection^{5,6,21}, with limited studies on the transition from chronic to end stage infection^{15,16}. In contrast, studies of natural infection tend to be cross-sectional studies that reported seroprevalence and / or mean differences in health markers between FIV-infected and uninfected cats at one point in time ^{3,26,27}. Several factors complicate long term studies of FIV, whether experimentally or naturally acquired, including the long duration of infection, uncertainty of which cats will progress to end stage infection, lack of known factors that underlie disease progression, and the expense associated with monitoring cats over a prolonged period of time. Some investigators have expressed concern that experimentally induced infection may not accurately mimic naturally acquired infection¹⁰. Infecting dose is unknown, as is the impact of different inoculating routes, and pathogen exposure disparity between specific pathogen free



housing of experimental settings and the variety of housing conditions for privately owned and shelter housed cats.

To date there are no readily available monitoring methods for characterizing immune system function changes or for predicting which FIV-infected cats will progress to end stage disease and when. Current monitoring guidelines for FIV-infected cats include twice yearly physical examinations and once yearly routine hematological and biochemical screenings^{28,29}. While important, these screenings only report hematological or biochemical abnormalities and do not evaluate immune activation or inflammatory mediators.

The study reported here monitored a cohort of naturally FIV-infected cats living in either sanctuary housing or private homes and FIV-uninfected cats over a period of up to 5 years. During the study period, FIV-infected cars were examined twice yearly and FIV-uninfected cats were examined once yearly. At each examination blood and urine was collected for routine hematological and biochemical screening as well as lymphocyte immunophenotyping. Physical examination and laboratory data were assessed and used to calculate illness and mortality rates, assess for differences in temporal patterns for laboratory parameters, and for association of inflammatory, immunophenotype and hepatic markers with illness and mortality in FIV-infected and FIV-uninfected cats.

The study was designed to address the following hypotheses: FIV-infected cats, compared to FIV-uninfected cats will have: 1) higher illness and mortality rates; 2) differences in temporal patterns of change CD4 and total CD8 lymphocyte counts and ratios, and hematological and biochemical parameters; and 3) changes in markers of inflammation, lymphocyte immunophenotype associated with illness and mortality rates over the 1 year interval prior to progression to illness or death. These hypotheses were also examined for FIV-infected cats in sanctuary housing compared to FIV-infected cats in private homes of <7 cats.

The information gained from this study will be important for privately owned cats, and also for FIV-infected shelter housed cats. These cats represent an emerging population as animal sheltering systems move toward a model where FIV-infected cats are placed for adoption rather than euthanized. Cats housed in shelters live within a dynamic housing environment and face higher exposure to pathogens than do cats living in private homes with smaller numbers of cats. For FIV-infected cats, the shelter environment, with ongoing exposure to new cats and pathogens, places further stress on the FIV-altered immune system. Without other readily available



diagnostics to assess disease progression in FIV-infected cats, identification of easily monitored markers associated with illness and mortality is important for maintaining the health of these cats. In a broader scope, these findings may help guide future husbandry and management strategies to maximize health in FIV-infected cats, particularly shelter housed cats where improved knowledge of health status may indirectly improve adoption rates of these cats.



References

1. Al-Kappany YM, Lappin MR, Kwok OC, et al. Seroprevalence of Toxoplasma gondii and concurrent Bartonella spp., feline immunodeficiency virus, feline leukemia virus, and Dirofilaria immitis infections in Egyptian cats. J Parasitol 2011;97:256-258.

2. Marcola TG, Gomes CP, Silva PA, et al. Identification of a novel subtype of feline immunodeficiency virus in a population of naturally infected felines in the Brazilian Federal District. Virus Genes 2013;46:546-550.

3. Levy JK, Scott HM, Lachtara JL, et al. Seroprevalence of feline leukemia virus and feline immunodeficiency virus infection among cats in North America and risk factors for seropositivity. J Am Vet Med Assoc 2006;228:371-376.

4. Yamamoto JK, Hansen H, Ho EW, et al. Epidemiologic and clinical aspects of feline immunodeficiency virus infection in cats from the continental United States and Canada and possible mode of transmission. J Am Vet Med Assoc 1989;194:213-220.

5. Dua N, Reubel G, Moore PF, et al. An experimental study of primary feline immunodeficiency virus infection in cats and a historical comparison to acute simian and human immunodeficiency virus diseases. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 1994;43:337-355.

6. Willett BJ, Hosie MJ, Callanan JJ, et al. Infection with feline immunodeficiency virus is followed by the rapid expansion of a CD8+ lymphocyte subset. Immunology 1993;78:1-6.

7. Dean GA, Reubel GH, Moore PF, et al. Proviral burden and infection kinetics of feline immunodeficiency virus in lymphocyte subsets of blood and lymph node. Virol J 1996;70:5165-5169.

 Howard KE, Reckling SK, Egan EA, et al. Acute mucosal pathogenesis of feline immunodeficiency virus is independent of viral dose in vaginally infected cats. Retrovirology 2010;7:2.

9. Jeng CR, English RV, Childers T, et al. Evidence for CD8+ antiviral activity in cats infected with feline immunodeficiency virus. Virol J 1996;70:2474-2480.

10. Murphy B, Hillman C, McDonnel S. Peripheral immunophenotype and viral promoter variants during the asymptomatic phase of feline immunodeficiency virus infection. Virus Res 2014;179:34-43.



11. Murphy B, Vapniarsky N, Hillman C, et al. FIV establishes a latent infection in feline peripheral blood CD4+ T lymphocytes in vivo during the asymptomatic phase of infection. Retrovirology 2012;9:12.

12. Shimojima M, Miyazawa T, Kohmoto M, et al. Expansion of CD8alpha+beta- cells in cats infected with feline immunodeficiency virus. J Gen Virol 1998;79 (Pt 1):91-94.

13. Hopper CD, Sparkes AH, Gruffydd-Jones TJ, et al. Clinical and laboratory findings in cats infected with feline immunodeficiency virus. Vet Rec 1989;125:341-346.

14. Callanan JJ, Jones BA, Irvine J, et al. Histologic classification and immunophenotype of lymphosarcomas in cats with naturally and experimentally acquired feline immunodeficiency virus infections. Vet Pathol 1996;33:264-272.

15. Goto Y, Nishimura Y, Baba K, et al. Association of plasma viral RNA load with prognosis in cats naturally infected with feline immunodeficiency virus. Virol J 2002;76:10079-10083.

16. Ishida T, Taniguchi A, Matsumura S, et al. Long-term clinical observations on feline immunodeficiency virus infected asymptomatic carriers. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 1992;35:15-22.

17. Ishida T, Tomoda I. Clinical staging of feline immunodeficiency virus infection. Jap J Vet Sci Clin 1990;52:645-648.

18. Tompkins MB, Tompkins WA. Lentivirus-induced immune dysregulation. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 2008;123:45-55.

Dean GA, Bernales JA, Pedersen NC. Effect of feline immunodeficiency virus on cytokine response to Listeria monocytogenes in vivo. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 1998;65:125-138.

20. Dean GA, LaVoy A, Yearley J, et al. Cytokine modulation of the innate immune response in feline immunodeficiency virus-infected cats. J Infect Dis 2006;193:1520-1527.

21. Dean GA, Pedersen NC. Cytokine response in multiple lymphoid tissues during the primary phase of feline immunodeficiency virus infection. Virol J 1998;72:9436-9440.

22. Levy JK, Liang Y, Ritchey JW, et al. Failure of FIV-infected cats to control Toxoplasma gondii correlates with reduced IL2, IL6, and IL12 and elevated IL10 expression by lymph node T cells. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 2004;98:101-111.

23. Vahlenkamp TW, Tompkins MB, Tompkins WA. Feline immunodeficiency virus infection phenotypically and functionally activates immunosuppressive CD4+CD25+ T regulatory cells. J Immunol 2004;172:4752-4761.



24. Vahlenkamp TW, Bull ME, Dow JL, et al. B7+CTLA4+ T cells engage in T-T cell interactions that mediate apoptosis: a model for lentivirus-induced T cell depletion. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 2004;98:203-214.

25. Bull ME, Vahlenkamp TW, Dow JL, et al. Spontaneous T cell apoptosis in feline immunodeficiency virus (FIV)-infected cats is inhibited by IL2 and anti-B7.1 antibodies. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 2004;99:25-37.

26. Liem BP, Dhand NK, Pepper AE, et al. Clinical findings and survival in cats naturally infected with feline immunodeficiency virus. J Vet Intern Med 2013;27:798-805.

27. Sparkes AH, Hopper CD, Millard WG, et al. Feline immunodeficiency virus infection.

Clinicopathologic findings in 90 naturally occurring cases. J Vet Intern Med 1993;7:85-90.

28. Levy J, Crawford C, Hartmann K, et al. 2008 American Association of Feline Practitioners' feline retrovirus management guidelines. J Feline Med Surg 2008;10:300-316.

29. Hosie MJ, Addie D, Belak S, et al. Feline immunodeficiency. ABCD guidelines on prevention and management. J Feline Med Surg 2009;11:575-584.



CHAPTER 2. LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Introduction

Feline immunodeficiency virus (FIV) is an important infectious disease affecting cats worldwide. The seroprevalence of antibodies to FIV infection in various worldwide cat populations varies and has been reported to be between 2% and 34%¹⁻¹⁴. Seroprevalence is higher in adult, male cats with outdoor access and has been reported to be higher in cats presented to veterinarians with clinical signs of illness than in healthy cats^{6,13-15}. The virus is most commonly spread through deep, penetrating bite wounds and the higher infection prevalence in intact, outdoor, male cats is thought to be due to territorial fighting behavior.

Similar to human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) and simian immunodeficiency virus (SIV), the FIV course of infection can generally be divided into an acute phase of several months, a variable period of chronic asymptomatic infection lasting a variable number of years and finally progression to severe immunodeficiency and end stage disease¹⁶⁻¹⁹. The viruses cause chronic immune activation and impaired response to infection, with immune compromise and eventually poor health. There is progressive loss of circulating CD4 T cells leading to persistent inversion of the CD4:CD8 ratio²⁰⁻²⁴, and loss of structural immune integrity including disruption of the intestinal barrier and depletion of mucosal immune cells²⁵⁻³¹. As a result of progressive immune compromise during the chronic phase of infection, patients are at risk for developing certain diseases and opportunistic infections such as neoplasia, periodontal disease, chronic gingivostomatitis, and upper respiratory infections^{18,19,32}. In the early symptomatic stage of infection oral, respiratory, dermal and intestinal infections are common but typically respond to medical management and care. However, progression to end stage immunodeficiency often leads to treatment-refractory opportunistic infections, wasting, anemia, leukopenia, neoplasia, and death^{17,24,33}. In humans, CD4 T cell counts and viral load are routinely monitored to assess the need for medical intervention with anti-retroviral therapies (ART) and to evaluate response to



ART^{34,35}. However, in some HIV-infected individuals, there is progression to end stage disease despite vigilant monitoring and positive response to ART therapies^{36,37}. It has been reported that progression of disease in such individuals may be related to chronic immune activation³⁸, and that microbial translocation from the intestinal lumen to systemic circulation is an underlying cause of chronic immune activation^{26,39}. Patients evaluated had bacterial 16S rRNA, lipopolysaccharide (LPS), and increased lipopolysaccharide binding protein (LBP) in circulation as well as increased serum concentrations of the inflammatory cytokines interleukin-1 β (IL-1 β), IL-6, soluble CD14 (sCD14), and tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α), supporting the hypothesis that microbial translocation is associated with chronic immune activation and HOV disease progression^{26,40}. As a result, these cytokine biomarkers are being considered for routine monitoring of HIV-infected persons to assess and predict disease progression.

Monitoring of CD4 T cell counts and viral loads is not readily available for use in FIV-infected cats and ART therapies are not widely recommended due to serious adverse effects⁴¹⁻⁴⁵. Recommendations for monitoring FIV-infected cats currently include twice yearly physical examinations and yearly routine hematological and serum biochemistry tests⁴⁶⁻⁴⁸. However, these measures only identify progressive disease rather than predict progression. Given the similarities between HIV and FIV, similar monitoring techniques may allow identification of immune activation and prediction of progression to clinical disease in FIV-infected cats. This could result in earlier medical intervention to prevent or slow progression to symptomatic infection and extend good quality of life. As the shelter industry moves to adopt rather than euthanize FIV-infected cats, there is an emerging population of FIV-infected cats in shelters. Monitoring techniques that can assess immune health and predict progression to symptomatic infection may help improve the care and management of FIV-infected shelter cats and improve adoption rates by providing a better health assessment to potential adopters.

This review provides a general overview of epidemiology, transmission, diagnosis and course of FIV infection. It addresses mechanisms of cellular infection, virus dissemination and immune impairment including histopathologic alternations secondary to infection and compares FIV to human immunodeficiency virus (HIV). A summary of future directions for patient monitoring and therapy, which may be applicable to future directions in FIV research, is also presented.



2.2 Feline Immunodeficiency Virus

Feline immunodeficiency virus is a lentivirus in the family Retroviridae. This group of viruses uses reverse transcriptase to make a double stranded DNA (dsDNA) copy of viral RNA and insert it into the host cell genome. Insertion into the host genome allows for transmission of the virus to daughter cells during cell division and propagates life-long infection^{49,50}. Lentiviruses, including FIV, HIV and SIV, have similar genes including *env*, *gag* and *pol*⁴⁹. The proteins encoded by these genes have specific functions that allow for replication and survival within the host. The *env* gene encodes for envelope proteins associated with attachment, fusion and infection of target cells. This region is the most variable and is prone to mutation or recombination events that help the virus evade the immune system in circulation. The *gag* gene encodes the structural proteins of the virus and is less prone to mutation and recombination. The *pol* gene encodes the transcriptional proteins, most notably reverse transcriptase, and is the most conserved allowing for successful replication and integration of new viral DNA into the host genome^{49,50}.

Several FIV subtypes exist based on phylogenetic mapping of these three genetic regions and are identified as A through F⁵¹⁻⁵⁶. FIV has a worldwide distribution and the most prevalent subtype varies by location. Subtypes A and B have the broadest worldwide distribution. Subtype C is rare in the United States but prevalent in Australia and Canada^{57,58}. Subtype D is reported in Japan and Vietnam, and subtype E is found in Argentina^{55,56}. Subtype F, thought to be a variant of subtype B, has only been identified in the United States^{51,52}. Based largely on experimental infection, using differing strains and infecting doses of FIV in kittens and cats of varying ages, there appear to be differences in subtype pathogenicity. These experimental observations on subtype pathogenicity have not been reported in naturally acquired FIV infection of domestic cats. In general, subtype B is believed to be the least pathogenic, resulting in the mildest clinical signs and longest time to disease progression⁵⁴. This subtype is also more genetically diverse and may show the most host adaptation based on studies of wild cat populations^{54,59}. Subtype C has been reported as the most virulent and pathogenic strain resulting in rapid disease progression and death⁶⁰. Subtype A has moderate pathogenicity and may be more associated with the development of neurological disease signs than other subtypes⁵⁴.

Commonly, subtyping of FIV has been performed using the variable regions 3 through 5 (V3-V5) of the *env* genes however, use of the *gag* and *pol* genes has also been performed and similar subtyping results are reported between genes⁵⁷. Diversity within the V3-V5 *env* regions of subtypes A, B and C has been reported to be 3-15% within a subtype and 18-26% between



subtypes⁵³. The *env* gene encodes for the outer surface glycoprotein of the virus and is responsible for attachment and entry of the virus into the cell; therefore it is easily detected by immune surveillance cells and serves as the primary target for antibody production. As a result, the *env* gene is under pressure to evade the immune system. One such protective mechanism is recombination which results from crossover between viral genomic RNA regions within the host⁵⁷. Recombinant events between 2 strains of the same subtype can occur as either intragenic or intergenic recombination⁵⁷. Intragenic recombination results from crossover between 2 single gene regions whereas intergenic recombination results from crossover between 2 different gene regions⁵⁷. In a recent study, recombination events in the *env* region occurred in 41% of the naturally infected cats that were studied⁶¹. In a separate but related study, an evolutionary rate of 1.16×10^{-3} substitutions per site per year was reported in naturally FIV-infected cats, which is faster than $3.1-6.6 \times 10^{-3}$ rates previously reported^{57,62,63}. The rate of viral evolution was found to be higher in those cats without physical examination abnormalities as compared to those without which suggests increased pressure for viral evasion of the immune system in healthy FIV-infected cats⁶².

Recombination may also occur when 2 different parent viral strains are present within the host either due to co-infection or super-infection^{57,64}. Co-infection, as defined for HIV, results from recent infection with a second viral strain before the first viral strain infection has been established and an immune response developed. Super-infection results when the second viral strain infection occurs after the first viral strain infection was established and an immune response developed⁶⁴. The existence of co-infection and super-infection, in both HIV and FIV, can be difficult to determine in natural infection but the occurrence of phenotypes displaying sequences of multiple subtypes has been reported. In FIV infection, recombination events between A/B, B/D and A/C subtypes have been reported^{54,65,66}.

2.3 Epidemiology and Transmission

Seroprevalence for FIV antibodies in various countries has been reported to be between 2% and 34%¹⁻¹⁴. Variability in seroprevalence is attributed to several factors such as whether cats studied are owned, stray or feral, are allowed to roam outdoors or display clinical signs of illness at the time of testing. A recent study in Germany reported the seroprevalence of FIV to be 3.2% in a group of healthy privately owned cats brought to the veterinarian for routine healthcare⁶. A study in Egypt reported the seroprevalence of FIV to be 33.9% in a group of feral cats captured as part of a trap-neuter-release effort². Two other studies, from Japan and Malaysia, reported the



seroprevalence of FIV in healthy cats, with access to the outdoors, to be 4.2% and 23.6%, respectively^{3,9}. The latter two studies reported a higher seroprevalence of FIV (18.8% and 38.4%, respectively) in cats identified as unhealthy at the time of testing^{3,9}. In the United States and Canada, the overall seroprevalence of FIV is estimated to be approximately 2.5% and 5.5%, respectively, in domestic cats. A higher prevalence has been reported in cats allowed outdoors (4.3%), cats in large sanctuaries (8.8%) and cats presented to veterinarians with clinical signs of illness (up to 20.6%)^{14,15,67}.

Transmission is reported to occur most commonly through saliva exposure via deep penetrating bite wounds. Adult, intact, outdoor male cats are reported to be at increased risk due to territorial fighting behavior^{1,3,13,14,68,69}. There was no reported horizontal transmission of infection in households where FIV-infected and FIV-uninfected cats comingle, are kept strictly indoors, not introduced to new cats, and have minimal inter-cat aggression^{3,6,70,71}. Parenteral injection (intravenous or intraperitoneal) of FIV-contaminated tissue establishes infection, however, this is considered an unlikely route of naturally acquired infection^{46,72-76}. Transmission during mating appears possible as virus has been detected in feline seminal fluid but this is not thought to be a common transmission pathway⁷²⁻⁷⁶.

Transmission from queen to kitten is reported in experimental infection and infection rates may be as high as 70% but this appears to be uncommon in naturally acquired infection⁷⁷. In experimental settings, transmission from queen to kittens can occur in utero, during parturition with exposure to vaginal secretions and via colostrum and milk⁷⁸⁻⁸¹. FIV-infected queens have a higher rate of abortion, stillbirth and nonviable kitten delivery^{78,82}. The rate of transmission during pregnancy seems to be higher in FIV-naïve queens infected during pregnancy and chronically FIV-infected queens with low CD4 T cell counts (<200cells/uL)⁷⁹. Kittens born to FIV-infected queens may test FIV-positive by virus isolation (VI) and polymerase chain reaction (PCR) at birth and by antibody titer as early as 2 weeks of $age^{78,82}$. In experimental settings, some kittens have shown evidence of regressive infection after testing FIV-positive by VI, PCR and antibody test⁸². In regressive infection, there is a loss of detectable FIV antibody, virus and provirus in peripheral blood despite having tested positive at earlier time points. However it is not known if these kittens have truly cleared the virus or if disease remains in tissues at an undetectable level or latent state^{78,82}. Similar events have been reported for HIV in perinatally infected children but again, it is not known whether the virus remains in the tissues or has been cleared from the body 83 .



2.4 Cellular Infection and Dissemination

2.4.1 Cellular Infection

In FIV, similar to HIV and SIV, CD4 T cells are the primary target for infection during acute infection and throughout the course of disease. The CD4 T cells are a key component of the adaptive immune system and function to direct the humoral (antibody production) and cell mediated (cell-to-cell interactions) arms of the immune system⁸⁴. During the chronic phase of infection, FIV infects macrophages, neutrophils and dendritic cells within the innate immune system. These cells are considered generalized surveillance cells, are the first line of defense against infection, and activate the adaptive immune response.

Similar to HIV, FIV requires a co-stimulatory signal in order to infect an individual cell. FIV utilizes CD134 and CXCR4 receptors on T cells for cell entry^{32,49}. The FIV glycoprotein 120 subunit (gp120), encoded on the V3 loop of *env*, first binds to the CD134 receptor on the activated host T cell. This induces a conformational change exposing a cryptic epitope in the V3 loop to allow binding to the CXCR4 receptor, which is the necessary co-stimulatory signal to allow the virus to gain entry into the cell^{32,49,85}. Once this attachment is complete the virus fuses with the host cell membrane and the virus particle is brought into the cell.

CD134 is expressed at higher concentrations on activated lymphocytes, in particular CD4 T cells, which are the primary target cell for FIV infection⁸⁵. CD134 is also found on activated CD8 T cells, B cells and monocytes/macrophages⁸⁵. The chemokine, CXCR4, is found on all cells but is expressed in higher concentration on monocytes and macrophages. These receptor location and concentration distinctions help explain the pattern of cellular infection. Host CD4 T cells are the primary targets but as chronic infection is established the target cell population expands to include CD8 T cells, B cells and monocytes. In one study, the shift in cellular infection from CD4 T cells to monocytes and macrophages occurred with the appearance of clinical signs of disease⁸⁶. This shift in cellular infection was thought to reflect the emergence of a viral variant that preferentially infected monocytes and macrophages⁸⁷. Mutations in the *env* region of the virus during replication during experimental infection have been reported to produce a variant that is CD134-independent with an increased ability to infect cells lacking CD134 but expressing CXCR4 (i.e. monocytes and macrophages)⁸⁵. The use of CD134 as a primary receptor for viral entry into a cell involves a complex interaction with the cysteine rich domains 1 and 2 (CRD1 and CRD2) of the receptor but as infection progresses the interaction with the CRD2 region decreases and becomes less complex⁸⁸. It has been suggested that in "early" FIV infection the



www.manaraa.com

virus is CD134-dependent whereas in "late" infection the virus is CD134-independent. It has been reported that removal of a single glycosylation site in the V1-V2 viral homolog contributes to the shift away from CD134 dependence for viral entry⁸⁹. Recently it was reported that a higher proportion of CD134-independent viral variants was associated with an increase in abnormalities on physical examination, CD4 T cell counts <350 cells/ μ L, and death suggesting that a shift towards these viral variants are associated with disease progression⁸⁸.

Once inside the cell, the FIV virus makes a double stranded DNA (dsDNA) copy of its viral RNA, utilizing reverse transcriptase (RT). Creation of dsDNA from viral RNA involves a series of events: 1) RT creates a strand of complementary DNA (cDNA) of the RNA genome, 2) RNase H activity removes the RNA strand from the cDNA strand, 3) the cDNA anneals with the end of another viral RNA strand and polymerization of DNA continues, 4) the annealed RNA is degraded in multiple areas by RNase H, 5) another strand of DNA is created using the remaining segments of RNA as a primer, 6) the DNA strands are separated and 7) the newly formed DNA strand anneals to a different DNA strand to create a complete double stranded DNA (dsDNA). Once complete, this dsDNA copy is inserted into the host genome in the nucleus of the cell.

The dsDNA is transported to the nucleus as part of the pre-integration complex (PIC) and interacts with FIV integrase to tether it to the host cell chromatin. Integration of the dsDNA occurs through cleavage, repair and ligation of the new dsDNA to the host target DNA to create a new genome sequence^{49,90}. The insertion of the dsDNA copy into the host genome ensures the viral material will be passed to daughter cells resulting in life-long infection. It also allows evasion of the immune system by disguising itself as part of the host cell genetic material^{49,90}.

Transcription of viral RNA copies within the nucleus and packaging of new virion particles within the cytoplasm is also performed. New virion particles are released to spread infection to new cells. It is thought that the accessory protein, OrfA, initiates transcription indirectly within the nucleus. Then Rev protein interacts with Rev-response element, both encoded within the virus, to shuttle target RNA out of the nucleus. Once outside the nucleus, proteins are translated from the genomic transcript and then identified and captured for packaging the *gag* proteins. The *gag* proteins provide the main structure of the virion and play a role in budding and release of the virion from cells, although the mechanism is not well understood. Tetherin, a transmembrane protein, anchors the virion to the cell and is thought to interfere with its release, however, with the CD134-independent strain of FIV, tetherin may actually enhance cell-to-cell spread of the virus



by syncytial formation. During maturation of the virion, viral protease cleaves several precursor polyproteins from *Gag* and *Gag-Pol*. These precursors are then further cleaved in specific order to form the mature virion and activate enzymes associated with its ability to infect a new cell. The release of new viral particles contributes to continued infection of naïve CD4 T cells, macrophages and dendritic cells and perpetuates a state of active infection^{49,50, 90}.

2.4.2 Dissemination

Rapid and widespread dissemination of FIV occurs concurrently with the cellular alterations in peripheral blood and other tissues following experimental infection⁸⁷. Proviral DNA can be detected in 1/1,000,000 circulating PBMC by day 5 post-infection and in 1/100,000 cells day 84 post-infection⁸⁷. Proviral DNA was isolated as early as 10 days post-infection from thymus, lymph nodes, tonsils, lungs and brain and several weeks later from peripheral lymph nodes, spleen, bone marrow, intestines and spinal cord⁸⁷. Viral RNA was detected in PBMC as early as 14 days post-infection at a rate of 1/100,000 and this increased to 1/100 by 6-8 weeks postinfection⁸⁷. Similarly, virus was detected in plasma around 3 weeks post-infection and continued to increase until approximately 6-8 weeks post-infection before rapidly falling to low or undetectable levels (typically associated with asymptomatic disease)^{22,87,91}. At this stage, viral RNA is found in approximately 1/1000 peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC)⁸⁷. This rise and fall in viremia and PBMC infection coincided with the appearance and resolution of clinical signs of illness seen 6-8 weeks post-infection and with a decrease in CD4 T cells and expansion of CD8^{βlow} cells within lymph nodes and peripheral blood. This shift in viral RNA (free virus) to viral DNA (provirus) is indicative of the ability of the immune system to control but not clear infection⁸⁷.

Humoral immunity as measured by non-neutralizing or binding antibody production by activation of B cells to the p24 viral capsid protein was reported as early as 2 weeks following experimental infection⁸⁷. This antibody response peaked about 6-8 weeks post-infection prior to the decrease in viremia and remained detectable life-long^{87,92}. Production of FIV antibodies is aimed primarily at the V3 regions of the *env* gene due to its role in attachment of the virion to the cell but also the V4 and V5 regions⁹³. As protection against the immune system, the *env* region is coated in N-glycosylation sites (carbohydrates that are linked to viral proteins) that mask the epitopes responsible for entry into the cell⁹³. Non-neutralizing antibodies, which bind to viral epitopes exposed on the outer membrane of the virion, flag the antigens for destruction by immune cells but do not inhibit their infective capabilities. This is in contrast to neutralizing antibodies that



bind to viral epitopes and block infection by interfering with binding of the virion to its receptors, blocking virion uptake into a cell, preventing uncoating of the viral genome within a cell or causing aggregation of viral particles in circulation⁸⁴. In FIV, similar to HIV, neutralizing antibodies develop slowly over time and have been reported to plateau at 50-60% neutralization ability at 4 years post-infection^{93,94}. Broad neutralizing antibody activity, or the ability to neutralize multiple viral strains, is considered rare. In a recent study including 345 plasma samples from FIV-infected cats, detection of broadly neutralizing antibodies against a representative FIV subtype A (GL8) ranged from 0-100%; however, only 2 of 345 plasma samples from FIV-infected cats had broad neutralizing ability against a range of infectious subtype strains of FIV⁹³. This suggests that humoral immunity does not play a strong role in combating the spread of infection to new cells.

2.5 Mechanisms of Immune Impairment

In uninfected healthy adult cats, CD4 and CD8 T cell counts have been reported as 1182 cells/µL (range: 543-1820) and 674 cells/µL (range: 353-994), respectively, with a CD4:CD8 ratio of 1.9 (range: 1.2-2.6)⁹⁵. Following experimental infection, alterations within peripheral blood, lymphoid and non-lymphoid tissues are well characterized. Within the first 6-8 weeks of infection there is a marked decrease in CD4 T cell counts, commonly below the reference interval. CD4 T cell levels have been reported to be as low as 20% of pre-infection levels at the peak of clinical signs of illness⁸⁶. Infected CD4 T cells are removed by direct cell-to-cell interaction with cytotoxic CD8 T cells. Apoptotic pathways (programmed cell death secondary to infection) are activated secondary to cellular infection and cell lysis secondary to rupture and release of new viral particles also serve to decrease CD4 T cell populations⁸⁴. CD8 T cell counts also decline, but to a lesser extent ⁹⁶. CD4 T cell counts may recover during the asymptomatic phase, but not to pre-infection levels and in chronic infection this decrease in CD4 T cells typically does not become statistically significant until about 18 months after infection^{20,97}. In one study of experimental infection, the mean CD4 T cell count was reported as 691±130 cells/mm³ in FIVinfected cats compared to 1450±46 cells/mm³ in FIV-uninfected cats at 18 months postinfection⁹⁸.

There is an overall inversion of the CD4:CD8 ratio throughout the remaining course of infection^{20,22,23,99}. In one study, 2 experimentally infected cats were reported to have CD4:CD8 ratios of 0.62 and 0.49 at 103 weeks post-infection²³. In a recent study of experimentally infected cats, the CD4:CD8 ratio inversion was reported to be statistically significant as soon as 6 weeks



post-infection and averaged 0.75±0.47 in chronically FIV-infected cats compared to 1.65±0.38 in FIV-uninfected cats²². Loss of CD4 T cells and decline of CD4:CD8 ratios are hallmarks of FIV infection. A subset of CD8 T cells (CD8 β^{low}) increases in FIV-infected cats compared to uninfected cats^{98,100}. The expansion of $CD8\beta^{low}$ cells begins within weeks of infection and they comprise up to 90% of the total CD8 T cell population at \geq 7 years post-infection¹⁰⁰. In a set of experimentally infected cats, CD8 β^{low} cells comprised 2.98 ± 0.8% (174±14 cells/mm) of peripheral blood mononuclear cells pre-infection compared to $17.31 \pm 9.5\%$ (1120±30 cells/mm) post-infection⁹⁸. Absolute CD8^{blow} cell count at 18 months post-infection has been reported to be 352 ± 60 cells/mm³ in FIV-infected cats compared to 158 ± 60 cells/mm³ in FIV-uninfected $cats^{98}$. The CD8 β^{low} cells are considered activated effector cells as determined by the phenotype, $CD8\beta^{low}CD62L-CD44+CD18+CD49+$. This is similar to what occurs in HIV-infected people¹⁰¹. $CD8\beta^{low}$ cells suppress viral replication *in vitro* and are thought to be responsible for decreasing viremia in acute infection and maintaining low level viremia during asymptomatic infection in FIV-infected cats^{102,103}. The exact mechanism of action is not known but the presence of $CD8\beta^{low}$ cells in culture with FIV-infected cells greatly reduced viral replication within cell culture supernatant¹⁰⁴. Presumably this is done through cell-mediated immunity mechanisms that may include direct interaction with cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CD8 T cells) and production of cytokines (interferon-gamma and tumor necrosis factor) that protect cells against viral infection ¹⁰⁵.

Cats that progress to the terminal stage of illness may exhibit marked immunosuppression and a lack of response to FIV viral replication and invasion by secondary pathogens¹⁰⁶. During end stage disease a decline in FIV antibody production to undetectable levels, a resurgence in viremia, severe loss of CD4 T cells, and markedly decreased CD4:CD8 ratio have been reported compared to cats in the asymptomatic stage of infection^{18,19,24,107}. In studies of naturally infected cats, viral loads were reported to increase 100-150 fold compared to cats in the asymptomatic stage of disease^{24,107}. Significant declines in CD4 T cells (671 ± 432 vs 147 ± 103 cells/µL), CD8 T cells (492 ± 314 vs 162 ± 72 cells/µL) and CD4:CD8 ratio (1.45 ± 0.53 vs 0.87 ± 0.26) in cats in the asymptomatic stage of infection, the most severe decline in reported for a cat in end stage disease was a CD4 T cell count of 21 cells/µL and a CD4:CD8 ratio of 0.075^{108} . However, in another study of experimental infection, one cat in the chronic stage of infection had a CD4 T cell count of 42cells/µL and had no clinical signs of illness. This suggests that some cats may be able to tolerate low CD4 T cell counts without adverse side effects. Acute and chronic FIV infection



has been widely studied but the long duration of infection, particularly the lengthy asymptomatic stage of infection, makes longitudinal studies of infected cats reaching end stage disease difficult and expensive. Additionally, it is unknown what percentage of cats will progress to end stage disease and recent reports have indicated FIV-infected cats may likely succumb to other diseases before they succumb to FIV infection^{14,67,68}. As such, the underlying factors that cause progression from asymptomatic to end stage disease remain elusive.

The underlying immune dysfunction in FIV-infected cats is reported to be the result of alterations in T cell populations, lymphoid tissue structure, cytokine production and immune responses to pathogens. However, the underlying cause of immune dysregulation and disease progression has yet to be defined. Several mechanisms have been suggested, including cytokine dysregulation, immunologic anergy, activation of immune regulatory cells and chronic immune activation¹⁰⁹.

Cytokines are secreted proteins that direct communication signals from one cell to another in order to direct an immune response. There are several classes of cytokines including: interleukins (communication signals between leukocytes), colony stimulating factors (support hematopoietic precursor proliferation), tumor necrosis factors (stimulates cytotoxicity) and interferons (interrupt viral replication)¹⁰⁵. Cytokines are constitutively produced to help maintain immune homeostasis but are specifically up-regulated or down-regulated during an immune response. Kipar et al investigated the constitutive expression of several cytokines (interleukin-1 β (IL-1 β), IL-6, IL-10, IL12, and tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- α)) from monocytes and macrophages in healthy cats over a range of ages (15 months to 10 years) and reported that all cytokines were constitutively expressed but this expression was variable within an individual cat and between cats of the same age. In general, the highest transcription levels were found in young adults and older cats for IL-1 β , IL-6 and IL-12 whereas transcription levels of IL-10 and TNF α remained stable across different ages¹¹⁰.

FIV infection alters cytokine production and response to various infections. Monocyte and macrophage constitutive cytokine transcription levels in experimentally asymptomatic FIV-infected cats were decreased compared to uninfected controls with only IL-1 β found in all FIV-infected samples¹¹¹. Alternatively, the PBMC transcription of these cytokines is markedly increased in symptomatic infection compared to asymptomatic infection¹¹²⁻¹¹⁶. In one study of FIV, the mRNA levels of interleukin 10 (IL-10) and interferon-gamma (IFN γ) from PBMC were highest at 6-8 weeks post-infection, with a transient peak in IL-4. This correlated with the



presence of clinical signs of acute infection. The mRNA cytokine levels then decreased, although not to the level of pre-infection, once the cats entered the asymptomatic phase. The CD4 T cells appeared to be the main source of IL-2, IL-4, IL-10, IL-12 transcription, and CD8 T cells were the main source of IFN- γ transcription¹¹³. In chronic FIV infection, both experimentally induced and naturally acquired, infected cats had increased plasma levels of IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α and had decreased IL-2 production and decreased PBMC proliferation in response to mitogen stimulation compared to uninfected cats¹¹². The altered cytokine production and mitogen responses were more pronounced in symptomatic cats with clinical signs of illness (anorexia, weight loss, fever, stomatitis, lymphadenopathy, anemia, leukopenia and hyperglobulinemia) compared to asymptomatic FIV-infected cats¹¹². When challenged with intracellular pathogens such as Toxoplasma gondii and Listeria monocytogenes, FIV-infected cats had less lymph node enlargement, broader pathogen dissemination, higher pathogen burden and decreased inflammatory cytokine production, all consistent with an increased susceptibility to infection and a decreased ability to clear infection compared to uninfected cats^{113,114}. The alterations in cytokine production resulted in an increased IL-10:IL-12 ratio which may represent a cytokine shift in FIV-infected cats that favors a Th2 humoral immune response over a Th1 cell mediated response. This could contribute to impaired ability to quickly clear infection via cell-to-cell interaction and cytotoxic mechanisms^{113,114,116}. A similar cytokine profile has been identified in HIV-infected people, including high pro-inflammatory cytokines INF- α , IL-1, IL-6, IL-18 and TNF- α , and is associated with innate immune cell activation, apoptosis of immune cells, and decreased lymphocytes levels that in turn decreases homeostatic cytokine production (IL-17, IL-22) from lymphocytes^{117,118}.

Initiation of an adaptive immune response is dependent on interaction with cells of the innate immune system. During this interaction an antigen presenting cell (APC), typically a dendritic cell or macrophage, bearing an epitope of the invading antigen binds to the T-cell receptor (TCR) specific for that epitope on a naïve T cell. Once bound to the T cell, a costimulatory signal between the APC and T cell is needed to direct the cell's immune response. In general, this costimulatory signal either propagates or dampens the inflammatory immune response. In every immune reaction both responses are needed – one to increase the immune response to clear the infection and the other to regulate the immune response to avoid unnecessary and prolonged tissue injury. In the pro-inflammatory response, B7.1 or B7.2 (CD80 and CD86, respectively) on the APC binds to CD28 on the T cell to initiate signal transduction and inflammatory cytokine production to direct humoral and/or cell-mediated immunity^{84,105}. This co-stimulation causes



increased production and release of IL-2, up-regulation of IL-2 receptors, and activation of neighboring T cells to increase the response to the pathogen threat. In contrast, during the regulatory response, B7.1 or B7.2 on the APC binds to cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated protein 4 (CTLA-4) on the T cell to induce a state of anergy (inactivity) or activate apoptosis. This reaction causes decreased IL-2 production and down-regulation of IL-2 receptor expression which eliminates the activation signal to neighboring T cells. Up-regulation of CTLA-4 on the T cell usually occurs 2 to 3 days after the initiation of the T cell immune response. Cellular anergy and apoptosis are important and necessary steps in regulating the immune response. Binding affinity of B7 to CTLA-4 has been reported to be 20-100X that of CD28 suggesting the importance of the regulatory response^{84,105}. Several studies have reported that lymphocytes from lymph nodes and peripheral blood of FIV-infected cats have increased expression of B7.1, B7.2 and CTLA-4 and decreased expression of CD28 compared to those from uninfected cats¹¹⁹⁻¹²². These changes in expression patterns of CD4 and CD8 T cells have been reported to increase with age and time post-infection and are inversely correlated with lymph node CD4:CD8 ratio and peripheral CD4 and CD8 T cell counts¹²¹. Additionally, after 24 hours in culture, T cells from FIV-infected cats showed increased levels of spontaneous apoptosis compared to those of uninfected cats, particularly after stimulation with Concanavalin A¹¹⁹⁻¹²². The level of spontaneous apoptosis and anergy in stimulated cultured T cells can be decreased by either addition of exogenous IL-2 or antibody blockade of B7 and CTLA-4 receptors, particularly B7.1, although reduction of apoptosis is not complete^{119,122}. A better response to apoptosis blockade has been reported in FIV-infected cats with viral RNA loads <1x10⁵ compared to FIV-infected cats with higher viral RNA loads¹¹⁹. Based on the up-regulated expression of B7.1 and B7.2, it has been shown that activated T cells can act as APC and mediate apoptosis and anergy through T cell-T cell interactions between B7 and CTLA-4 binding¹²².

Regulatory T cells (T_{reg}) are a specific subset of CD4 T cells that carry the activated phenotype CD4⁺CD25⁺CTLA4⁺ and are differentiated in the presence of TBGF β and IL-6 using the transcription factor FoxP3¹²³⁻¹²⁵. These cells constitute about 5-10% of T cells in peripheral blood and 20-30% of T cells in lymph nodes in both FIV-infected and uninfected cats. T_{reg} cells have increased activity in FIV-infected cats¹²³, in both the acute and chronic states of infection, compared to FIV-uninfected cats and decrease the immune response to invading pathogens, however, the exact mechanism of increased activity is unknown¹²². It is known that once activated, these cells do not produce the cytokine IL-2 or up-regulate IL-2 receptors on the cell



surface and therefore fail to activate surrounding CD4 T cells to produce an appropriate immune response¹²³. In culture, these cells have been reported to suppress the immune system by cell-cell interaction and down-regulate IL-2 production and receptor expression in neighboring T cells¹²³. Chronic immune activation (immune hyper-activation) has been shown to occur in CD4 and CD8 T cell populations of FIV-infected cats. Phenotypic analysis of activation in the T cell populations of FIV-infected cats has revealed decreased CD8 β chain immunofluorescence, down-regulation of CD62 L-selectin on CD4 and CD8 T cells, progressive loss of the CD8 naïve cell pool, and up-regulation of CD25^{100,101,121}. These changes are consistent with the immunophenotype of a chronically activated immune system. Studies show that up to 70% of CD8 T cells and 80% of CD4 T cells have an activated phenotype in cats infected with FIV \geq 7 years^{98,100,101}. In addition to T cell hyper-activation, chronic B cell activation has also been reported in FIV-infected cats; this results in a polyclonal hypergammapathy secondary to increased antibody production^{20,126}. The role that immune hyper-activation may play in disease progression has not yet been defined.

Together these changes in chronically FIV-infected cats – altered cytokine production, increased cell anergy and apoptosis, immunosuppression secondary to increased Treg activation and a state of immune hyper-activation – all contribute to an altered immune response and place the cats at increased risk for clinical disease.

2.6 Course of Infection

The course of FIV infection includes an acute phase followed by a long period of chronic infection during which progression from an asymptomatic to symptomatic state of infection is expected. In the acute phase of infection cats may experience transient signs of clinical illness. In experimental studies, lymphadenomegaly is reported as early as 10 days post-infection and may persist for months^{22,69,86,112,127}. Further clinical signs of acute disease such as fever, diarrhea, malaise, anorexia and dehydration may occur approximately 6 weeks post-infection, with some cats requiring fluid support and antibiotic therapy^{33,86,99,127}. These vague clinical signs may go unnoticed by the pet owner

As transient clinical signs resolve, cats enter an asymptomatic phase of infection. This asymptomatic phase can lasts months to years before progressing to a symptomatic phase of infection^{22,69,97,127}. The symptomatic phase of infection is characterized by varied clinical signs including, but not limited to, diarrhea, stomatitis, periodontitis, gingivitis, upper respiratory infection, and other opportunistic infections^{92,127,128}. During this period of symptomatic infection cats often respond to supportive therapy and antibiotic treatment and may transition between



asymptomatic and symptomatic states. Many of these cats eventually progress to end stage disease marked by weight loss, loss of body condition, generalized muscle wasting, lymphopenia, neutropenia, anemia, and / or bacterial, viral and fungal infections that are refractory to treatment or opportunistic^{17,19,33,41,112,129,130}. Neoplasia, most commonly lymphoma, but also squamous cell carcinoma, myeloproliferative disease and fibrosarcoma are reported to occur at a higher incidence in FIV-infected cats¹³¹. Lymphoma has been the most commonly reported neoplasia in FIV infection and although a direct mechanism has not been identified it is suspected that viral interruption or transformation of the host cell cycle oncogenes or tumor suppressor genes is involved^{17,92,131,132}.

While the general disease course is similar among cats, course of disease and clinical signs seen differ between individual cats and between study groups. Age at the time of infection is thought to play a role in disease progression as neonatal kittens are reported to suffer more severe blood dyscrasias (neutropenia, leukopenia) and prolonged lymphadenopathy in the acute phase while aged cats appear to have delayed antibody response, lower T-lymphocyte levels and more severe chronic illness than young adult cats or kittens¹³³. The underlying cause of the delayed immune response in aged cats is not known but may be related to or influenced by the immunosenescence of aging. Differences in dose, strain, route of infection, initial immune response to infection, and immune competency at the time of infection may also influence the progression of disease. In naturally acquired infection, the infectious dose, FIV strain, and initial immune response to infection are unknown which makes extrapolation of experimental data difficult. However, in a recent study of experimental FIV infection, it was reported that within groups of cats given the same infectious dose of one of three viral strains there was a variety of immune responses. The variation in immune response was dose-dependent and positively correlated with viremia and $CD8\beta^{low}CD62L^{neg}$ expansion over the first 12 weeks post-infection¹³⁴. This supports previous findings that individual immune response to FIV infection was varied but appeared to be dosedependent as cats receiving a lower infectious dose had a longer time to seroconversion and undetectable lymphadenopathy as compared to those that received higher infectious doses¹³⁵. These results suggest that infectious dose and initial immune response may predict disease progression but long term follow-up in experimental settings has not been performed.

Experimental infection poses a unique situation in that FIV-infected cats are commonly housed under specific pathogen free (SPF) conditions which shield them from common pathogens that naturally FIV-infected cats may encounter. Similarly, housing conditions of naturally infected


cats may influence an individual cat's immune status and response to pathogen exposure. Crowded housing conditions and shelter housing have been associated with increased upper respiratory infection^{136,137}. These housing conditions also carry increased risk of intestinal and dermatophyte pathogen exposure if proper hygiene protocols are not implemented and followed¹³⁸. In a recent study, it was reported that FIV-infected cats living in a large multi-cat household had more clinical signs of illness on examination and shorter survival times compared to FIV-infected cats living in private homes of less than 2 cats, this suggests that management and housing play a role in FIV disease progression¹³⁹.

2.7 Diagnosis

Published guidelines recommend initial FIV testing by commercially available in-house ELISA tests be done for any cat that is: 1) new to a household, 2) showing signs of clinical illness, 3) living in a high-risk environment (outdoor cats, dynamic household or living with FIV-infected cats), or 4) FIV-uninfected and recovering from a cat fight. Retesting is recommended at least 60 days after an initial negative test in cats that are new to a household, have a recent history of fighting, after an initial positive test in kittens less than 6 months of age when maternal antibodies may still be circulating, or in cats with positive results and unknown history of FIV vaccination (which results in antibodies indistinguishable from those generated by natural infection). Annual testing is recommended for any FIV-uninfected cat living in a high-risk environment⁴⁶⁻⁴⁸.

Initial testing for FIV is typically performed using an in-house enzyme linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) to detect antibody against FIV p24 surface protein. In the case of positive ELISA test results or high suspicion of disease in a cat with negative results, additional testing is recommended^{46,47}. It is important to note that no diagnostic method for FIV is absolute therefore caution in interpretation of results is crucial.

False positive ELISA results can occur secondary to maternal antibodies in kittens less than 6 months of age, or in cats that have received an FIV vaccination. Available ELISA tests cannot differentiate between antibodies acquired via maternal transfer, antibodies secondary to vaccination, and antibodies secondary to active infection^{140,141}. Cats which have received the FIV vaccine reportedly test antibody-positive on ELISAs for years following the last FIV vaccination¹⁴¹⁻¹⁴³. In a recent study, it was FIV-uninfected cats that received the FIV vaccination tested antibody-positive on in-house ELISA tests as long as 11 years after the last FIV vaccination was given (Nichols et al, unpublished data). False negative ELISA results, although



less common, can occur early in infection prior to seroconversion, or in cats with end-stage FIV disease in which antibody production can be below a detectable level ^{144,145}.

Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) tests available commercially differ by primer set and reaction protocol, and reported sensitivity and specificity vary^{146,147}. PCR tests detect the presence of viral RNA and DNA and can detect acute infection prior to the development of an antibody response. False positive PCR results can occur, for example, secondary to contamination at the time of sample collection or during processing at the laboratory. False negative PCR results can occur, for example, in cats with viral loads below that which can be detected by PCR. Detection limit is defined as the lowest number of viral copies that can be identified in a standard sample; detection limits vary between laboratories but can be as low as 1 to 10 copies in a given sample. Additionally, as primer sets and protocols differ between laboratories it is possible that a specific primer set will not detect all FIV strains. One PCR comparison study, between 3 different laboratories, reported sensitivities between 41 and 93% and specificities between 81 and 100% in correctly identifying cats infected with FIV subtypes A, B and C from those not infected¹⁴⁷. Another study, using 3 different laboratories in Canada, found similar varied results¹⁴⁶. Potential reasons for variation in reported sensitivities and specificities included sample contamination during sample processing, differing primer sets, detection limits and sample type (whole blood, plasma, serum or blood smear)^{143,146,147}.

Western blot serologic testing has been used as a confirmatory test for FIV infection. In this test, FIV core viral proteins, namely p24 and p15, are separated by size using gel electrophoresis and transferred to a membrane. The membrane is then incubated with a serum sample and a secondary fluorescent reagent to detect binding between viral proteins and sample antibodies. Binding of at least 2 separate viral proteins is needed to report a sample as positive; binding of only 1 protein is considered indeterminate¹⁴³. Reported sensitivity and specificity are typically lower than those of ELISA tests^{144,146}. False negatives can occur due to viral protein multimeric binding which creates viral proteins of larger size that will not be correctly identified as FIV viral core proteins¹⁴³. Similar to other serologic testing, if the test is performed prior to an adequate antibody response a negative result may occur¹⁴³.

Virus isolation (VI) is considered the reference standard. Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) isolated from FIV-infected cats are cultured with primary lymphoblast cells from SPF uninfected cats to determine whether infection is propagated from the PBMC cells to the blast



cells. Cultures are monitored for cell viability, cytopathic effect (ballooning degeneration, syncytium formation, and increased cell death), and Mg^{2+} -dependent reverse transcriptase activity in the culture supernatant. A reaction is considered positive when there is a five-fold increase of reverse transcriptase activity in the culture supernatant of 2 consecutive samples as compared to negative control culture supernatant. Identification of the virus in supernatant by electron microscopy, antigen ELISA or IFA can be done^{148,149}.

Virus isolation can be falsely negative as the test is technically challenging to perform and the outcome of the test is largely based on viral activity over time making the duration of culturing time crucial. Similar to PCR, false positive results may occur secondary to sample contamination. False negative results may be due to several factors that influence duration of the procedure including: 1) circulating virus numbers, 2) the reverse transcription (RT) activity within a culture, 3) viability of the virus and cells sampled from the infected cat, and 4) proper condition and maintenance of the culture cells and supernatant. Cats with high viral load would be expected to have a positive virus culture result sooner than cats with low viral load. The level of reverse transcriptase activity can also influence the speed at which VI may yield a positive result as increased RT activity would be identified sooner. Therefore, it is recommended that cultures be grown for 5 to 6 weeks before they are declared negative¹⁴⁸.

2.8 Hematology and Histopathology Alterations Secondary to Infection

2.8.1 Hematology

Hematological and serum biochemical alterations have been noted in FIV-infected cats. These alterations can fluctuate over time depending on other factors such as concurrent illness, environmental stressors, and age. Information regarding hematologic alterations in acute infection has largely been gleaned from experimental infection and in general, cats have leukopenia, neutropenia and sometimes lymphopenia as these cells respond to initial infection. Neutropenia is most likely to occur during acute infection as neutrophils are lost from circulation through diapedesis into tissues to respond to FIV-related inflammation^{20,22,33,150}. Lymphopenia is the result of apoptosis and destruction of infected CD4 T lymphocytes following infection. In either natural or experimental infection, during the asymptomatic phase, FIV-infected cats may have lower mean leukocyte counts compared to FIV-uninfected cats but FIV-infected cats do not generally have a true leukopenia; cell counts remain within the reference interval but at the lower limit^{20,22}. During the symptomatic phase, particularly end stage disease, marked anemia, leukopenia and thrombocytopenia may occur^{18,19,150}. In either setting, serum biochemistry abnormalities most



commonly include hyperproteinemia attributed to a polyclonal hypergammaglobulinemia, thought to occur secondary to B cell stimulation and antibody production to varied FIV epitopes ^{20,68,69}. Mild hypernatremia has also been reported but the underlying cause remains unknown⁶⁸. Decreased urine specific gravity (USG) has been reported in naturally and experimentally infected cats without concurrent azotemia¹⁵¹. Additionally, naturally infected cats were reported to have a higher urine-to-creatinine (UPC) ratio compared to client-owned uninfected cats whereas experimentally infected cats had an increased creatinine level compared to SPF housed cats¹⁵¹. The reason for the difference between naturally and experimentally infected cats is unknown.

2.8.2 Histopathology

Histologic changes within lymph nodes, thymus, spleen, bone marrow, gut-associated lymphoid tissue (GALT), intestinal epithelium, kidneys, and brain have been reported. Alteration and compromise of structural integrity of these organs, particularly lymphoid organs, are seen as early as 3 weeks post-infection^{86,87}.

In experimental infection, the most severe lesions appear in lymphoid tissues at approximately 6-8 weeks post-infection and coordinate with the appearance of clinical signs⁸⁶. Changes are most dramatic in thymus, bone marrow, lymph nodes, spleen and mucosal associated lymphoid tissue (MALT)^{86,87}. Grossly, lymph nodes are enlarged and the thymus may be smaller in size compared to similar tissues in uninfected cats. Histologically, the thymus shows cortical involution, decreased thymocyte numbers and thymitis characterized by infiltration of lymphocytes and macrophages into the interlobular area^{86,87}. The bone marrow is hyperplastic with increased cellularity characterized by increased granulocyte and monocyte precursors although the myeloid:erythroid ratio remains normal^{86,87}¹⁵⁰. In peripheral lymphoid tissues, a progressive hyperplastic change is characterized by increased number and size of lymphoid follicles, prominent germinal centers, prominent high endothelial vessels (HEV) containing lymphocytes and expansion of parafollicular domains that contain lymphocytes, macrophages and lymphoblasts^{86,87}. Similar findings are reported in adult cats naturally infected with FIV²⁸. Histologically, lymph nodes show follicular hyperplasia but also follicular involution (cortical sinus collapse, small to non-existent germinal centers and eosinophilic hyaline deposits) or a mixture of both²⁸. These central and peripheral lymphoid tissue histological findings are similar to those reported in people with chronic HIV infection.



Changes occur in other tissues. The histologic lesion most commonly reported is a perivascular inflammatory infiltrate, comprised of lymphocytes, neutrophils, plasma cells and macrophages in the small and large intestines, oral cavity, kidney, liver, lung, eyes and brain. Small intestinal villous blunting, loss of villi, crypt dilatation, and necrotizing enteritis is reported²⁸. Additional secondary pathogens within the intestinal tissue that may be, in part, responsible for these lesions have not been identified²⁸. Amyloid deposition in the organs of cats naturally infected with FIV has been reported in some naturally infected cats, but this is not reported in experimentally infected cats do not. A specific cause for this discrepancy is not known^{152,153}. Renal amyloidosis is reported in HIV infection and, although considered uncommon, may be a contributing factor to the increased incidence of renal disease in HIV-infected patients¹⁵⁴.

2.9 Monitoring and Therapy

Current recommendations for monitoring of cats infected with FIV include twice yearly physical examination and once yearly routine hematological and serum biochemistry panels and urinalysis^{46,47}. These monitoring techniques identify illness and allow medical intervention only after disease has occurred. Currently, there are no readily available and reliable techniques to monitor FIV-infected cats to indicate progression of disease and when medical intervention should be initiated to prevent development of clinical disease.

This is in stark contrast to the monitoring techniques and treatments available for HIV-infected people, for whom infection and disease progression has been traditionally monitored by measurement of CD4 T cell counts, viral loads, and evaluation of clinical signs. This information is used to decide when medical intervention is necessary and to gauge response to treatment^{34,35}. The mainstay of HIV therapy is a combination of various anti-retroviral medications, known as highly active anti-retroviral therapy (HAART), tailored to the individual patient¹⁵⁵. HAART therapy results in decreased viremia and increased CD4 T cell counts. The medications work by interrupting viral replication, at different stages, which reduces viral particle burden in tissues and peripheral blood. There are several points during viral replication at which antiretroviral therapy can interfere with replication including: 1) attachment of the virus to the host cell surface receptors, 2) fusion of the viral particle with the host cell, 3) reverse transcription of viral RNA, 4) nuclear translocation and viral dsDNA integration, 4) nuclear export of viral mRNA, and 5) viral assembly and maturation of the virion in the cytoplasm. In HAART, the most commonly used class of drug is the nucleoside reverse transcription inhibitors (NRTIs). The general mechanism of these compounds is to generate altered deoxynucleotides (dNTs) that compete with



cellular dNTs for insertion into the elongating viral DNA strand. Once incorporated, these altered dNTs are unable to bind the next dNT in sequence and effectively halt production of that viral DNA strand. The first of these compounds to be approved for use in anti-retroviral therapy was azidothymidine (AZT) or Zidovudine. Since then, many other NRTI class drugs have been cleared for use in HIV-infected patients that each have slightly different mechanisms of action, reduced patient side effects such as anemia, and better tolerance of viral mutations⁵⁰.

Positive response to HAART therapy results in decreases provirus burden and increases CD4 T cells numbers in lymphoid tissues and peripheral blood of HIV-infected people. The decreased viral load lessens the burden of free virus that can infect new CD4 T cells which results in fewer CD4 T cells being removed by cytotoxic CD8 T cells and apoptosis, allows for restoration of the CD4 T cell count, and decreases the number of CD4 T cells acting as a reservoir of viral infection. The restoration of CD4 T cells, even though it may be incomplete, strengthens the ability of the adaptive immune system to respond to routine pathogen encounters in the mucosal tissues and within the lymph nodes. In most patients showing a positive response to HAART, there has been a significant increase in survival time and quality of life and a decrease in clinical signs of illness¹⁵⁵. There are some patients, though, that show progressive disease despite a positive response to HAART. In these patients, progressive disease and shorter survival times has been associated with increased immune activation rather than CD4 T cell counts or viral burden³⁸.

In FIV-infected cats several antiretroviral therapies have been investigated. Although two drugs have recommended doses for therapy, they have limited scope in use⁴⁷. Zidovudine (AZT), the NRTI described above, is fairly well tolerated in cats and is effective in reducing clinical signs, decreasing viral burden and stabilizing CD4 T cell counts. However, in some cats it produces a non-regenerative anemia. Resistance to the drug is common and can occur as soon as 6 months after initiation. Drug resistance is secondary to the poor proof-reading and editing capabilities of FIV reverse transcriptase which allows for mutation of the viral genome and loss of the drug's site of action. Another drug, AMD 3100 or Plerixafor, is a CXCR4 antagonist and blocks binding of the viral particle to the CXCR4 receptor. This prohibits fusion and entry of the virus particle into the host cell. The drug appears to be well tolerated in cats, results in a decrease in proviral load compared to a placebo, and does not show evidence of drug resistance. However, there were no reported significant decreases in clinical signs of disease in one study⁴⁴. Other drugs that have been investigated, PMEA and D4API, have caused severe anemia or liver disease which in some cases was fatal⁴⁵.



2.10 Microbial Translocation

Microbial translocation is defined as the nonphysiological passage of gastrointestinal (GI) microflora through the intestinal epithelial barrier and lamina propria, with eventual dissemination to the mesenteric lymph nodes and then extranodal, sites⁴⁰. Microbial translocation is believed to have an important role in chronic immune activation of HIV-infected persons. When it became apparent that some HIV-infected persons still succumbed to progressive disease despite a positive, appropriate response to HAART, investigation showed that in some HIV-infected persons, shorter survival times were not linked to increased viral burden or decreased CD4 T cell counts. Rather, these individuals had high levels of immune activation, as measured by markers of lymphocyte activation, and this immune activation better predicted progression of disease and a shorter survival time³⁸. It was postulated that chronic immune activation led to immune exhaustion which in turn led to increased susceptibility to pathogens, enhanced other disease processes, and ultimately led to disease progression^{26,39}.

Brenchley et al.^{26,39} proposed that microbial translocation from the gastrointestinal tract into circulation as a source of chronic immune activation and disease progression as opposed to immune activation by HIV alone. In health, the gut associated lymphoid tissue (GALT) of the gastrointestinal tract (GIT) contains approximately 80% of the lymphoid tissue in the body, likely due to the constant exposure to microbial products at the interface of intestinal epithelial cell and luminal contents. Within the GIT, several mechanisms create immune barriers to further protect the body against luminal microbes including: epithelial tight junctions between cells prevent microbial movement between cells, a mucus layer produced by goblet cells prevents microbes from adhering to epithelial cells, secretory Immunoglobulin A (IgA) identifies pathogens within the intestinal lumen for removal, and an immune cell dense lamina propria directly beneath the intestinal epithelium layer^{27,156}.

In a healthy GIT, most microbial products that cross the epithelial barrier are contained and removed by macrophage phagocytosis within the lamina propria and mesenteric lymph nodes^{26,40}. In pathogenic lentiviral infections, the integrity and structure of the GIT and GALT is compromised, enabling microbial translocation^{26,40}. In non-human primates infected with pathogenic SIV, structural loss of tight junctions between intestinal epithelial cells, small foci of epithelial cell erosion, increased crypt enterocyte turnover and evidence of lymphocytic-plasmacytic inflammatory infiltrates occur 14-28 days post-infection and continue into the chronic stage of disease¹⁵⁷. In HIV and SIV-infected individuals, GALT undergoes severe CD4 T



cell depletion during the acute phase of infection that exceeds the level of CD4 T cell depletion seen in peripheral blood and lymph nodes^{25,158,159}. Furthermore, restoration of CD4 T cell counts of GALT is delayed and incomplete even at 5 years post-infection^{25,158}. The CD4 T cell population of GALT contains a larger proportion of CCR5+CD4+ T cells, the primary target for HIV and SIV, than other lymphoid tissues and peripheral blood and likely serves as a reservoir for infection and viral replication. The CD4 and CD8 T cells within GALT of HIV-infected patients, also express a higher proportion of activated phenotypes (CD25+, CD27-) at the expense of naïve or resting T cell phenotypes contributing to the risk for microbial translocation, compared to HIV-negative patients^{25,158,159}.

SIV-infection of non-human primates is pathogenic in certain species and not in others. In either case, infection causes marked deletion of T cells in intestinal mucosal and peripheral lymphoid tissues as well as lymphoid hyperplasia and lymphoid fibrosis^{160,161}. However in species for which the virus is not pathogenic, infected animals do not have the same degree of intestinal barrier compromise or deleterious secondary infections as seen in animals for which the virus is pathogenic. In a study by Estes et al¹⁵⁷, it was shown that during pathogenic SIV infection, Gramnegative bacterial products, including lipopolysaccharide (LPS), were present in the lamina propria of GALT adjacent to the sites of epithelial barrier compromise. Gram-negative bacterial products were also identified in mesenteric lymph nodes draining the gastrointestinal tract (GIT), axillary lymph nodes and liver. LPS was identified in the medullary cords, sinuses, paracortex and germinal centers of affected lymph nodes. There was a positive correlation between the quantitative amount of LPS within the lamina propria and mesenteric lymph nodes and axillary lymph nodes. There were no bacterial products in the lamina propria of GALT, GI lymph nodes, peripheral lymph nodes or liver in the non-human primates for which the virus is not pathogenic. This supports the theory that alterations in lymphoid tissue T cell populations and structural compromise of the intestinal epithelial barrier in pathogenic infection permit primary bacterial translocation. Once disseminated, these bacteria and bacterial products are a source of chronic systemic immune activation.

The innate immune system functions as the surveillance system to identify pathogens. The macrophages, neutrophils and dendritic cells utilize pathogen recognition receptors (PRR) on their outer membrane to identify highly conserved epitopes, termed pathogen associated molecular patterns (PAMP), located on pathogens. These receptors include toll-like receptors (TLR) that recognize certain bacteria, viruses and fungi, and glucan, mannose, and scavenger



receptors that recognize certain cell wall components of bacteria, yeast and fungi. The presence of PAMPs, found only on the outer membrane of pathogens, serve as a danger signal to alert the immune system to a foreign invader. Examples of PAMPs include lipopolysaccharide (LPS) of Gram-negative bacteria, lipotechoic acid (LTA) of Gram-positive bacteria and mannose-rich oligosaccharides of yeast and fungi. Once a PRR has bound to a PAMP it starts a cascade of events including pro-inflammatory cytokine production, extravasation of innate cells into tissues, chemotaxis of cells to the site of infection and antigen presentation to cells of the adaptive immune system^{84,105}.

Gram-negative bacteria are a primary component of the microbial population within the GIT. LPS, a PAMP on Gram-negative bacteria, is a potent immunostimulatory agent and is readily recognized by PRRs on marcophages of the innate immune system, in particular TLR-4 and CD14. The immune signaling pathway caused by the presence of LPS is complicated and not fully understood, however, it is known that multiple protein molecules play a role in the signaling cascade. Currently, it is known that the lipid A tail of LPS is the potent immunostimulatory region of the antigen. The lipid A portion is bound to the N-terminus of lipopolysaccharide binding protein (LBP), an acute phase serum protein that is produced by hepatocytes, epithelial cells and muscle cells. It is the C-terminus end of LBP that binds to CD14 to complete the trimerization of LPS-LBP-CD14. Once this trimer is formed, further signaling through the TLR-4/MD-2 complex on the macrophage is carried out to produce pro-inflammatory cytokines such as interleukin-6 (IL-6), IL-1 β , and tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α)¹⁶². In low concentrations of LPS, LBP will shuttle LPS to serum lipoproteins or form LPS aggregates for removal from the body through other mechanisms¹⁶²⁻¹⁶⁷.

CD14, a key glycoprotein in the immune signaling cascade following LPS detection, is expressed by monocytes, macrophages and neutrophils and occurs in membrane bound (mCD14) and soluble forms (sCD14)^{162,163}. Although sCD14 is most notably associated with LPS activation there is also evidence that it can enhance LTA, lipoarabinomannanes, peptidoglycans and other glycoprotein signaling¹⁶⁸. Soluble CD14 is necessary for an immune signaling response in low concentrations of LPS. In addition to the trimerization pathway outlined above there is a second pathway that sCD14 is thought to employ to initiate an LPS signaling cascade. In this second pathway, sCD14 binds LPS in circulation and shuttles it to the MD-2 receptor of the macrophage after which sCD14 is released and recycled back into circulation. The LPS bound to MD-2 causes



a conformational change in the TLR-4 receptor on the surface of the macrophage which in turn carries out the LPS intracellular signaling cascade and pro-inflammatory cytokine production. It is thought that at high LPS concentrations sCD14 may act similar to LBP and shuttle LPS to lipoproteins for removal from the body¹⁶³.

Recently, LPS, sCD14 and LBP have been identified as plasma biomarkers of immune activation that can be used to monitor for progression of disease in HIV-infected patients^{26,40,169}. Plasma concentrations of sCD14, LBP and LPS are increased in HIV and SIV infected individuals compared to uninfected individuals and are further increased in chronically infected individuals compared to acutely infected individuals^{26,169-172}. Soluble CD14 in plasma has also been shown to be an independent predictor of mortality in HIV-infected patients and is positively correlated with T cell activation in early HIV infection¹⁷³.

Bacterial 16S rRNA products have been found in peripheral blood samples of chronically HIVinfected patients with high plasma concentrations of sCD14, LPS and LBP, further indicating microbial translocation is an underlying cause of immune activation and disease progression ^{26,37,174-179}.

Measurement of circulating LPS and bacterial 16S rRNA are considered direct evidence of microbial translocation, but use of these tests can be challenging^{40,171}. Samples can easily become contaminated with bacteria or LPS at collection or during handling. Detection of bacterial 16S rRNA is also dependent upon primer choice, PCR reaction conditions, and amount of microbial products in circulation. The assays for LPS are technically challenging to perform and results are often difficult to replicate. Soluble CD14 and LBP are considered surrogate markers for microbial translocation as they are produced secondary to immune stimulation by LPS, and are positively correlated with plasma and serum LPS concentration^{40,171}. Plasma LBP and sCD14 are measured using enzyme-linked immunosorbent assays (ELISA). Results of these assays have been replicated within and between laboratories making them more robust markers of microbial translocation than LPS quantitation or 16S rRNA PCR assay⁴⁰.

Chronic immune activation as an underlying cause of disease progression in HIV-infected patients is now generally accepted. Microbial translocation as an underlying cause of chronic immune activation is now recognized as a significant factor in disease progression for HIV-infected patients. Although the traditional monitoring techniques, CD4 T cell counts and viral load levels, are still the cornerstones of HIV patient care, the use of plasma biomarkers of chronic



immune activation as a monitoring tool is increasing and some researchers and clinicians suggest that it will become a routine part of HIV patient care.

Given the similarities between FIV and HIV - depletion of T cells, alteration in cytokine profiles, and chronic immune activation - exploration and investigation into microbial translocation in FIV-infected cats is prudent. Research into a feline specific immunoassay to assess the level of circulating sCD14 in FIV-infected cats is ongoing and preliminary results show promise for use of this assay in detecting increased inflammation associated with FIV disease progression (Dr. Gregg Dean, personal communication). Discovery of an easy and readily available biomarker of immune health, in contrast to T cell levels and viral loads, would potentially allow for better characterization of immune health and disease stage, improved and focused medical interventions prior to development of clinical signs of disease, and enhanced length and quality of life. This would not only impact the lives of client-owned FIV-infected cats but also those infected cats residing within shelters. Improved ability to determine and monitor the immune health of FIV-infected cats within shelters would provide beneficial information that could improve the adoptability, care and management of these cats.

2.10 Future Treatment

As microbial translocation has become an accepted pathway for chronic immune activation in HIV infection, the composition and relative abundance of bacterial species within the intestinal microbiome has become more relevant. With the invention of high-throughput sequencing, investigation into the intestinal microbiome has become increasingly easier and more common. Dysbiosis, fluctuations in bacterial population and composition, of the intestinal microbiome has become a focus of pathology in several diseases associated with a pro-inflammatory state including irritable bowel syndrome, diabetes mellitus and HIV.

In recent years, several studies have examined the microbiome of HIV-infected patients compared to uninfected controls and revealed significant differences between the two groups¹⁸⁰⁻¹⁸². In general, researchers have reported an increase in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and *Candida albicans* and a decrease in Lactobacillus and Bacteroides spp. in fecal samples of HIV-infected individuals compared to uninfected controls¹⁸⁰⁻¹⁸². Despite the difference in abundance of specific bacteria both groups had an equal richness in microbial diversity^{180,181}. Differences in bacterial abundance based on sampling techniques such as mucosal biopsy, rectal swab or fecal sample are of concern. A recent study compared the microbiome of colonic mucosal samples to rectal swabs and fecal samples within individual patients, both HIV-infected and uninfected controls, and



reported that bacterial populations determined by sequencing techniques were not the same between sampled groups or sample types¹⁸⁰. Colonic mucosal samples contained a higher abundance of Prevotella spp in the HIV-infected patients compared to uninfected controls. Prevotella spp were of much lower abundance in swabs and fecal samples in HIV-infected patients compared to colonic mucosal samples¹⁸⁰. Prevotella spp are a Gram-negative pathobiont bacteria associated with other GI inflammatory diseases and are known for their ability to degrade mucin at the epithelial lining, disrupt epithelial tight junctions and contribute to intestinal barrier dysfunction¹⁸⁰. Whereas the alterations in Bacteroides and Lactobacillus spp in rectal swabs and fecal samples were consistent between sampled group and sample type and also consistent with findings reported in similar studies^{181,182}.

In addition to bacterial composition and abundance, several studies have reported associations between certain bacterial species and elevations in markers of immune activation. Certain bacterial species, including Prevotella and Enterobacteria spp, have been associated with increased immune parameters including plasma viral load, colonic viral load, and plasma IL-6, IL-1β, LPS, and sCD14 concentrations^{180,181}. But further studies must be done to establish a cause and effect relationship between dysbiosis and immune activation.

The acceptance of microbial translocation as an underlying cause of immune activation has ushered in an additional approach to HIV therapy aimed at supporting immune health and integrity. These approaches aim to decrease HIV pathologic sequelae including: viral replication within the GI mucosa, microbial translocation, lymphoid fibrosis and immune activation^{183,184}.

The use of raltegravir burst therapy in combination with traditional HAART medications has been shown to decrease reservoir viral replication within the GI mucosa and support restoration of CD4 T cell populations and decrease local inflammation¹⁸³. Several studies have reported beneficial effects of prebiotics and probiotics in supporting the abundance of "good bacteria" such as Lactobacillus spp within the GIT resulting in increased GI mucosal CD4 T cell populations, deceased GALT lymphoid fibrosis and decreased T cell turnover within GALT^{185,186}. One study in HIV-infected children, diagnosed with failure to thrive despite HAART medications, reported an increase in height and weight gains after 5 months of probiotic therapy compared to a placebo group¹⁸⁷.

The use of LPS binding agents in SIV-infected patients, such as sevelamer, have been reported to block microbial translocation by clearing LPS from the GIT and stabilizing sCD14 and LPS



concentrations as compared to those patients not receiving the drug in which sCD14 and LPS levels continued to increase¹⁸⁸. Further studies investigating the use of medications to influence bacterial colonization and inflammation within the gut of HIV-infected patients are ongoing and include: the antibiotic, rifaximin, which concentrates in the GIT; the anti-inflammatory, mesalamine, that concentrates activity in the GIT; and chloroquine that inhibits toll-like receptor immune activation^{183,184,189}. Additionally, the angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitor, Lisinopril, is being studied for its potential role in reducing lymphoid fibrosis by reducing angiotensin II which is reported to be associated with fibrosis by increasing levels of TGF- β 1¹⁸³.

To date, characterization of the intestinal microbiome in FIV-infected cats is limited and investigation into therapies aimed at modifying immune activation in FIV-infected cats are lacking. One study reported no difference in microbiome richness, diversity or evenness between FIV-infected cats and uninfected cats; but FIV-infected cats had a higher percentage of Bifidobacteriales, Lactobacillales and Aeromonadales at the order level¹⁹⁰. Based on operational taxonomic units, there was diversity in community membership and structure in FIV-infected cats compared to uninfected cats¹⁹⁰. The difference in bacteria type compared to bacterial function was not performed. Investigation into the use of probiotics in FIV-infected cats showed decreased bacterial translocation in an ex vivo evaluation of small intestinal mucosa, suggesting some probiotics may be effective supportive therapy¹⁹¹. Several studies investigating the use of recombinant feline interferon-omega have reported clinical improvement and decreased viral shedding of upper respiratory pathogens in FIV-infected cats but none have reported an improvement in immune status such as CD4 T cell counts and viral load¹⁹²⁻¹⁹⁴.

2.11 Conclusion

Feline immunodeficiency virus is an important, widespread, global disease in cats that causes progressive immune compromise which results in increased susceptibility to opportunistic infection, neoplasia and early death. Similar to human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) in people, FIV-infected cats have alterations in T cell counts, cytokine alterations, chronic immune activation and a decreased response to pathogens. Alterations in T cell populations, cytokine production and immune activation in the acute and asymptomatic stages of experimental FIV infection have been well documented and further understanding of the mechanisms associated with these changes is ongoing. However, despite these great strides in understanding this disease, the factors that propel a patient from asymptomatic to end stage disease are still unknown.



Unlike HIV-infected people, FIV-infected cats do not have access to advanced routine monitoring techniques, like CD4 T cell counts and viral loads, to identify progression of disease. This puts FIV infected cats and the veterinarians who care for them at a disadvantage. Investigation into inflammatory and lymphocyte immunophenotype health markers currently available is needed. Development of health panels that specifically monitor health parameters associated with inflammation such as white blood count, neutrophil count, albumin and globulin levels and CD4 T cell and CD8 T cell counts should be pursued. Additionally, optimizing the frequency for which FIV-infected cats should be examined and monitored should also be performed. This would allow veterinarians to identify early alterations in inflammation and immune cell activity and intervene with medical therapies or preventative treatment earlier to extend good quality of life.

Recent work in the study of HIV has found that chronic immune activation is associated with disease progression and early mortality. As such, new techniques to determine factors associated with immune activation have been developed for use in HIV-infected people. These techniques have the potential to advance patient monitoring, identify disease progression earlier, and guide future medical intervention to prolong health, thwart disease progression and increase quality of life.

Given the similarities between FIV and HIV, it is plausible that these same techniques will be applicable to FIV-infected cats and will provide an easy diagnostic technique to identify disease progression. Continued investigation into the underlying mechanisms of disease progression will lead to novel therapies aimed at reducing immune activation and improved management protocols for FIV-infected cats that will increase quality and quantity of life.



References

1. Akhtardanesh B, Ziaali N, Sharifi H, et al. Feline immunodeficiency virus, feline leukemia virus and Toxoplasma gondii in stray and household cats in Kerman-Iran: seroprevalence and correlation with clinical and laboratory findings. Res Vet Sci 2010;89:306-310.

2. Al-Kappany YM, Lappin MR, Kwok OC, et al. Seroprevalence of Toxoplasma gondii and concurrent Bartonella spp., feline immunodeficiency virus, feline leukemia virus, and Dirofilaria immitis infections in Egyptian cats. J Parasitol 2011;97:256-258.

3. Bande F, Arshad SS, Hassan L, et al. Prevalence and risk factors of feline leukaemia virus and feline immunodeficiency virus in peninsular Malaysia. BMC Vet Res 2012;8:33.

4. Blanco K, Prendas J, Cortes R, et al. Seroprevalence of viral infections in domestic cats in Costa Rica. J Vet Med Sci 2009;71:661-663.

5. Duarte A, Castro I, Pereira da Fonseca IM, et al. Survey of infectious and parasitic diseases in stray cats at the Lisbon Metropolitan Area, Portugal. J Feline Med Surg 2010;12:441-446.

6. Gleich SE, Krieger S, Hartmann K. Prevalence of feline immunodeficiency virus and feline leukaemia virus among client-owned cats and risk factors for infection in Germany. J Feline Med Surg 2009;11:985-992.

 Kelly PJ, Moura L, Miller T, et al. Feline immunodeficiency virus, feline leukemia virus and Bartonella species in stray cats on St Kitts, West Indies. J Feline Med Surg 2010;12:447-450.
 Marcola TG, Gomes CP, Silva PA, et al. Identification of a novel subtype of feline immunodeficiency virus in a population of naturally infected felines in the Brazilian Federal District. Virus Genes 2013;46:546-550.

 9. Nakamura Y, Nakamura Y, Ura A, et al. An updated nation-wide epidemiological survey of feline immunodeficiency virus (FIV) infection in Japan. J Vet Med Sci 2010;72:1051-1056.
 10. Ortega-Pacheco A, Aguilar-Caballero AJ, Colin-Flores RF, et al. Seroprevalence of feline leukemia virus, feline immunodeficiency virus and heartworm infection among owned cats in tropical Mexico. J Feline Med Surg 2014;16:460-464.

11. Spada E, Proverbio D, della Pepa A, et al. Seroprevalence of feline immunodeficiency virus, feline leukaemia virus and Toxoplasma gondii in stray cat colonies in northern Italy and correlation with clinical and laboratory data. J Feline Med Surg 2012;14:369-377.

12. Stojanovic V, Foley P. Infectious disease prevalence in a feral cat population on Prince Edward Island, Canada. Can Vet J 2011;52:979-982.



 Sukhumavasi W, Bellosa ML, Lucio-Forster A, et al. Serological survey of Toxoplasma gondii, Dirofilaria immitis, Feline Immunodeficiency Virus (FIV) and Feline Leukemia Virus (FeLV) infections in pet cats in Bangkok and vicinities, Thailand. Vet Parasitol 2012;188:25-30.
 Levy JK, Scott HM, Lachtara JL, et al. Seroprevalence of feline leukemia virus and feline immunodeficiency virus infection among cats in North America and risk factors for seropositivity. J Am Vet Med Assoc 2006;228:371-376.

15. Polak KC, Levy JK, Crawford PC, et al. Infectious diseases in large-scale cat hoarding investigations. Vet J 2014;201:189-195.

16. Schacker T, Collier AC, Hughes J, et al. Clinical and epidemiologic features of primary HIV infection. Ann Intern Med 1996;125:257-264.

17. Hopper CD, Sparkes AH, Gruffydd-Jones TJ, et al. Clinical and laboratory findings in cats infected with feline immunodeficiency virus. Vet Rec 1989;125:341-346.

18. Ishida T, Taniguchi A, Matsumura S, et al. Long-term clinical observations on feline immunodeficiency virus infected asymptomatic carriers. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 1992;35:15-22.

19. Ishida T, Tomoda I. Clinical staging of feline immunodeficiency virus infection. Jap J Vet Sci Clin 1990;52:645-648.

20. Ackley CD, Yamamoto JK, Levy N, et al. Immunologic abnormalities in pathogen-free cats experimentally infected with feline immunodeficiency virus. Virol J 1990;64:5652-5655.

21. Murphy B, Hillman C, Mok M, et al. Lentiviral latency in peripheral CD4+ T cells isolated from feline immunodeficiency virus-infected cats during the asymptomatic phase is not associated with hypermethylation of the proviral promoter. Virus Res 2012;169:117-126.

22. Murphy B, Hillman C, McDonnel S. Peripheral immunophenotype and viral promoter variants during the asymptomatic phase of feline immunodeficiency virus infection. Virus Res 2014;179:34-43.

23. Beatty JA, Willett BJ, Gault EA, et al. A longitudinal study of feline immunodeficiency virus-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes in experimentally infected cats, using antigen-specific induction. Virol J 1996;70:6199-6206.

24. Goto Y, Nishimura Y, Mizuno T, et al. Quantification of viral ribonucleic acid in plasma of cats naturally infected with feline immunodeficiency virus. Am J Vet Res 2000;61:1609-1613.
25. Veazey RS, DeMaria M, Chalifoux LV, et al. Gastrointestinal tract as a major site of CD4+ T cell depletion and viral replication in SIV infection. Science 1998;280:427-431.



26. Brenchley JM, Price DA, Schacker TW, et al. Microbial translocation is a cause of systemic immune activation in chronic HIV infection. Nat Med 2006;12:1365-1371.

27. Brenchley JM, Douek DC. The mucosal barrier and immune activation in HIV pathogenesis. Curr Opin HIV AIDS 2008;3:356-361.

28. Brown PJ, Hopper CD, Harbour DA. Pathological features of lymphoid tissues in cats with natural feline immunodeficiency virus infection. J Comp Pathol 1991;104:345-355.

29. Obert LA, Hoover EA. Relationship of Lymphoid Lesions to Disease Course in Mucosal Feline Immunodeficiency Virus Type C Infection. Vet Pathol 2000;37:386-401.

30. Howard KE, Reckling SK, Egan EA, et al. Acute mucosal pathogenesis of feline immunodeficiency virus is independent of viral dose in vaginally infected cats. Retrovirology 2010;7:2.

31. Howard KE, Burkhard MJ. Mucosal challenge with cell-associated or cell-free feline immunodeficiency virus induces rapid and distinctly different patterns of phenotypic change in the mucosal and systemic immune systems. Immunology 2007;122:571-583.

32. Willett BJ, Hosie MJ. The virus-receptor interaction in the replication of feline immunodeficiency virus (FIV). Curr Opin Virol 2013;3:670-675.

33. Callanan JJ, Thompson H, Toth SR, et al. Clinical and pathological findings in feline immunodeficiency virus experimental infection. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 1992;35:3-13.

34. Benson C, Brooks JT, Holmes K, et al. Guidelines for prevention and treatment of opportunistic infections in HIV-infected adults and adolescents: recommendations from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, the National Institutes of Health, and the HIV Medicine Association of the Infectious Diseases Society of America. 2014.

35. Gulick R, Hirsch M, Lane HC. Panel on anti-retroviral guidelines for adults and adolescents. Guidelines for the use of anti-retroviral agents in HIV-1-infected adults and adolescents. Department of Health and Human Services. 2015.

36. Lederman MM, Calabrese L, Funderburg NT, et al. Immunologic failure despite suppressive antiretroviral therapy is related to activation and turnover of memory CD4 cells. J Infect Dis 2011;204:1217-1226.

37. Merlini E, Bai F, Bellistri GM, et al. Evidence for polymicrobic flora translocating in peripheral blood of HIV-infected patients with poor immune response to antiretroviral therapy. PLoS One 2011;6:e18580.



38. Giorgi JV, Hultin LE, McKeating JA, et al. Shorter survival in advanced human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection is more closely associated with T lymphocyte activation than with plasma virus burden or virus chemokine coreceptor usage. J Infect Dis 1999;179:859-870.

39. Brenchley JM, Price DA, Douek DC. HIV disease: fallout from a mucosal catastrophe? Nat Immunol 2006;7:235-239.

40. Marchetti G, Tincati C, Silvestri G. Microbial translocation in the pathogenesis of HIV infection and AIDS. Clin Microbiol Rev 2013;26:2-18.

41. Hartmann K. Clinical aspects of feline immunodeficiency and feline leukemia virus infection. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 2011;143:190-201.

42. Hartmann K, Donath A, Beer B, et al. Use of two virustatica (AZT, PMEA) in the treatment of FIV and of FeLV seropositive cats with clinical symptoms. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 1992;35:167-175.

43. Hartmann K, Ferk G, North TW, et al. Toxicity associated with high dosage 9-[(2R,5R-2,5-dihydro-5-phosphonomethoxy)-2-furanyl]adenine therapy off attempts to abort early FIV infection. Antiviral Res 1997;36:11-25.

44. Hartmann K, Stengel C, Klein D, et al. Efficacy and adverse effects of the antiviral compound plerixafor in feline immunodeficiency virus-infected cats. J Vet Intern Med 2012;26:483-490.

45. Hartmann K, Kuffer M, Balzarini J, et al. Efficacy of the acyclic nucleoside phosphonates (S)-9-(3-fluoro-2-phosphonylmethoxypropyl)adenine (FPMPA) and 9-(2-

phosphonylmethoxyethyl)adenine (PMEA) against feline immunodeficiency virus. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr Hum Retrovirol 1998;17:120-128.

46. Levy J, Crawford C, Hartmann K, et al. 2008 American Association of Feline Practitioners' feline retrovirus management guidelines. J Feline Med Surg 2008;10:300-316.

47. Hosie MJ, Addie D, Belak S, et al. Feline immunodeficiency. ABCD guidelines on prevention and management. J Feline Med Surg 2009;11:575-584.

48. Little S, Bienzle D, Carioto L, et al. Feline leukemia virus and feline immunodeficiency virus in Canada: recommendations for testing and management. Can Vet J 2011;52:849-855.

49. Kenyon JC, Lever AM. The molecular biology of feline immunodeficiency virus (FIV). Viruses 2011;3:2192-2213.

50. Mohammadi H, Bienzle D. Pharmacological inhibition of feline immunodeficiency virus (FIV). Viruses 2012;4:708-724.



51. Phadke AP, de la Concha-Bermejillo A, Wolf AM, et al. Pathogenesis of a Texas feline
immunodeficiency virus isolate: an emerging subtype of clade B. Vet Microbiol 2006;115:64-76.
52. Weaver EA. A detailed phylogenetic analysis of FIV in the United States. PLoS One

53. Sodora DL, Shpaer EG, Kitchell BE, et al. Identification of three feline immunodeficiency virus (FIV) env gene subtypes and comparison of the FIV and human immunodeficiency virus type 1 evolutionary patterns. Virol J 1994;68:2230-2238.

54. Bachmann MH, Mathiason-Dubard C, Learn GH, et al. Genetic diversity of feline immunodeficiency virus: dual infection, recombination, and distinct evolutionary rates among envelope sequence clades. Virol J 1997;71:4241-4253.

55. Kakinuma S, Motokawa K, Hohdatsu T, et al. Nucleotide sequence of feline immunodeficiency virus: classification of Japanese isolates into two subtypes which are distinct from non-Japanese subtypes. Virol J 1995;69:3639-3646.

56. Pecoraro MR, Tomonaga K, Miyazawa T, et al. Genetic diversity of Argentine isolates of feline immunodeficiency virus. J Gen Virol 1996;77 (Pt 9):2031-2035.

57. Hayward JJ, Rodrigo AG. Molecular epidemiology of feline immunodeficiency virus in the domestic cat (Felis catus). Vet Immunol Immunopathol 2010;134:68-74.

58. Reggeti F, Bienzle D. Feline immunodeficiency virus subtypes A, B and C and intersubtype recombinants in Ontario, Canada. J Gen Virol 2004;85:1843-1852.

59. Troyer JL, Roelke ME, Jespersen JM, et al. FIV diversity: FIV Ple subtype composition may influence disease outcome in African lions. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 2011;143:338-346.

60. Diehl LJ, Mathiason-Dubard CK, O'Neil LL, et al. Plasma viral RNA load predicts disease

progression in accelerated feline immunodeficiency virus infection. Virol J 1996;70:2503-2507.

61. Beczkowski PM, Hughes J, Biek R, et al. Feline immunodeficiency virus (FIV) env recombinants are common in natural infections. Retrovirology 2014;11:80.

62. Beczkowski PM, Hughes J, Biek R, et al. Rapid evolution of the env gene leader sequence in cats naturally infected with feline immunodeficiency virus. J Gen Virol 2015;96:893-903.

63. Greene WK, Meers J, del Fierro G, et al. Extensive sequence variation of feline

immunodeficiency virus env genes in isolates from naturally infected cats. Arch Virol 1993;133:51-62.

64. Smith DM, Richman DD, Little SJ. HIV Superinfection. J Infect Dis;192:438-444.

65. Hayward JJ, Rodrigo AG. Recombination in feline immunodeficiency virus from feral and companion domestic cats. Virol J 2008;5:76.



2010;5:e12004.

66. Kann R, Seddon J, Kyaw-Tanner M, et al. Co-infection with different subtypes of feline immunodeficiency virus can complicate subtype assignment by phylogenetic analysis. Arch Virol 2007;152:1187-1193.

67. Ravi M, Wobeser GA, Taylor SM, et al. Naturally acquired feline immunodeficiency virus (FIV) infection in cats from western Canada: Prevalence, disease associations, and survival analysis. Can Vet J 2010;51:271-276.

68. Liem BP, Dhand NK, Pepper AE, et al. Clinical findings and survival in cats naturally infected with feline immunodeficiency virus. J Vet Intern Med 2013;27:798-805.

69. Yamamoto JK, Sparger E, Ho EW, et al. Pathogenesis of experimentally induced feline immunodeficiency virus infection in cats. Am J Vet Res 1988;49:1246-1258.

70. Addie DD, Dennis JM, Toth S, et al. Long-term impact on a closed household of pet cats of natural infection with feline coronavirus, feline leukaemia virus and feline immunodeficiency virus. Vet Rec 2000;146:419-424.

71. Litster AL. Transmission of feline immunodeficiency virus (FIV) among cohabiting cats in two cat rescue shelters. Vet J 2014;201:184-188.

72. Jordan HL, Howard J, Barr MC, et al. Feline immunodeficiency virus is shed in semen from experimentally and naturally infected cats. AIDS Res Hum Retrov 1998;14:1087-1092.

73. Jordan HL, Howard J, Sellon RK, et al. Transmission of feline immunodeficiency virus in domestic cats via artificial insemination. Virol J 1996;70:8224-8228.

74. Jordan HL, Howard J, Tompkins WA, et al. Detection of feline immunodeficiency virus in semen from seropositive domestic cats (Felis catus). Virol J 1995;69:7328-7333.

75. Jordan HL, Howard JG, Bucci JG, et al. Horizontal transmission of feline immunodeficiency virus with semen from seropositive cats. J Repro Immunol 1998;41:341-357.

76. Jordan HL, Liang Y, Hudson LC, et al. Shedding of feline immunodeficiency virus in semen of domestic cats during acute infection. Am J Vet Res 1999;60:211-215.

77. Ueland K, Nesse LL. No evidence of vertical transmission of naturally acquired feline immunodeficiency virus infection. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 1992;33:301-308.

78. O'Neil LL, Burkhard MJ, Diehl LJ, et al. Vertical transmission of feline immunodeficiency virus. AIDS Res Hum Retrov 1995;11:171-182.

79. O'Neil LL, Burkhard MJ, Hoover EA. Frequent perinatal transmission of feline immunodeficiency virus by chronically infected cats. Virol J 1996;70:2894-2901.

Allison RW, Hoover EA. Covert vertical transmission of feline immunodeficiency virus.
 AIDS Res Hum Retrov 2003;19:421-434.



81. Allison RW, Hoover EA. Feline immunodeficiency virus is concentrated in milk early in lactation. AIDS Res Hum Retrov 2003;19:245-253.

82. O'Neil LL, Burkhard MJ, Obert LA, et al. Regression of feline immunodeficiency virus infection. AIDS Res Hum Retrov 1997;13:713-718.

83. Roques PA, Gras G, Parnet-Mathieu F, et al. Clearance of HIV infection in 12 perinatally infected children: clinical, virological and immunological data. AIDS 1995;9:F19-26.

84. Murphy K, Travers P, Walport M, et al. Janeway's immunobiology. New York: Garland Science; 2012.

85. Shimojima M, Miyazawa T, Ikeda Y, et al. Use of CD134 as a primary receptor by the feline immunodeficiency virus. Science 2004;303:1192-1195.

86. Dua N, Reubel G, Moore PF, et al. An experimental study of primary feline

immunodeficiency virus infection in cats and a historical comparison to acute simian and human immunodeficiency virus diseases. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 1994;43:337-355.

87. Beebe AM, Dua N, Faith TG, et al. Primary stage of feline immunodeficiency virus infection: viral dissemination and cellular targets. Virol J 1994;68:3080-3091.

88. Beczkowski PM, Techakriengkrai N, Logan N, et al. Emergence of CD134 cysteine-rich domain 2 (CRD2)-independent strains of feline immunodeficiency virus (FIV) is associated with disease progression in naturally infected cats. Retrovirology 2014;11:95.

89. Willett BJ, McMonagle EL, Logan N, et al. A single site for N-linked glycosylation in the envelope glycoprotein of feline immunodeficiency virus modulates the virus-receptor interaction. Retrovirology 2008;5:77.

90. Lewin B, Krebs JE, Goldstein ES, et al. Lewin's essential genes. Burlington (Mass.): Jones and Bartlett Learning; 2013.

91. Dean GA, Reubel GH, Moore PF, et al. Proviral burden and infection kinetics of feline immunodeficiency virus in lymphocyte subsets of blood and lymph node. Virol J 1996;70:5165-5169.

92. Yamamoto JK, Hansen H, Ho EW, et al. Epidemiologic and clinical aspects of feline immunodeficiency virus infection in cats from the continental United States and Canada and possible mode of transmission. J Am Vet Med Assoc 1989;194:213-220.

93. Hosie MJ, Pajek D, Samman A, et al. Feline immunodeficiency virus (FIV) neutralization: a review. Viruses 2011;3:1870-1890.



94. Deeks SG, Schweighardt B, Wrin T, et al. Neutralizing antibody responses against autologous and heterologous viruses in acute versus chronic human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) infection: evidence for a constraint on the ability of HIV to completely evade neutralizing antibody responses. Virol J 2006;80:6155-6164.

95. Dean GA, Quackenbush SL, Ackley CD, et al. Flow cytometric analysis of T-lymphocyte subsets in cats. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 1991;28:327-335.

96. Paillot R, Richard S, Bloas F, et al. Toward a detailed characterization of feline immunodeficiency virus-specific T cell immune responses and mediated immune disorders. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 2005;106:1-14.

97. Hofmann-Lehmann R, Holznagel E, Ossent P, et al. Parameters of disease progression in long-term experimental feline retrovirus (feline immunodeficiency virus and feline leukemia virus) infections: hematology, clinical chemistry, and lymphocyte subsets. Clin Diagn Lab Immunol 1997;4:33-42.

98. Willett BJ, Hosie MJ, Callanan JJ, et al. Infection with feline immunodeficiency virus is followed by the rapid expansion of a CD8+ lymphocyte subset. Immunology 1993;78:1-6.
99. Murphy B, Vapniarsky N, Hillman C, et al. FIV establishes a latent infection in feline peripheral blood CD4+ T lymphocytes in vivo during the asymptomatic phase of infection. Retrovirology 2012;9:12.

100. Shimojima M, Miyazawa T, Kohmoto M, et al. Expansion of CD8alpha+beta- cells in cats infected with feline immunodeficiency virus. J Gen Virol 1998;79 (Pt 1):91-94.

101. Gebhard DH, Dow JL, Childers TA, et al. Progressive expansion of an L-selectin-negative CD8 cell with anti-feline immunodeficiency virus (FIV) suppressor function in the circulation of FIV-infected cats. J Infect Dis 1999;180:1503-1513.

102. Bucci JG, English RV, Jordan HL, et al. Mucosally transmitted feline immunodeficiency virus induces a CD8+ antiviral response that correlates with reduction of cell-associated virus. J Infect Dis 1998;177:18-25.

103. Bucci JG, Gebhard DH, Childers TA, et al. The CD8+ cell phenotype mediating antiviral activity in feline immunodeficiency virus-infected cats is characterized by reduced surface expression of the CD8 beta chain. J Infect Dis 1998;178:968-977.

104. Jeng CR, English RV, Childers T, et al. Evidence for CD8+ antiviral activity in cats infected with feline immunodeficiency virus. Virol J 1996;70:2474-2480.

105. Delves PJ, Roitt IM. Roitt's essential immunology. Chichester, West Sussex; Hoboken, NJ: Wiley-Blackwell; 2011.



106. Taniwaki SA, Figueiredo AS, Araujo JP, Jr. Virus-host interaction in feline
immunodeficiency virus (FIV) infection. Comp Immunol Microbiol Infect Dis 2013;36:549-557.
107. Goto Y, Nishimura Y, Baba K, et al. Association of plasma viral RNA load with prognosis
in cats naturally infected with feline immunodeficiency virus. Virol J 2002;76:10079-10083.
108. Kohmoto M, Uetsuka K, Ikeda Y, et al. Eight-year observation and comparative study of
specific pathogen-free cats experimentally infected with feline immunodeficiency virus (FIV)
subtypes A and B: terminal acquired immunodeficiency syndrome in a cat infected with FIV
petaluma strain. J Vet Med Sci 1998;60:315-321.

109. Tompkins MB, Tompkins WA. Lentivirus-induced immune dysregulation. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 2008;123:45-55.

110. Kipar A, Baptiste K, Meli ML, et al. Age-related dynamics of constitutive cytokine transcription levels of feline monocytes. Exp Gerontol 2005;40:243-248.

111. Kipar A, Boretti FS, Meli MM, et al. Reduced constitutive cytokine transcription in isolated monocytes of clinically healthy cats, infected with an FIV strain of low pathogenicity. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 2004;98:215-221.

112. Lawrence CE, Callanan JJ, Willett BJ, et al. Cytokine production by cats infected with feline immunodeficiency virus: a longitudinal study. Immunology 1995;85:568-574.

113. Dean GA, Bernales JA, Pedersen NC. Effect of feline immunodeficiency virus on cytokine response to Listeria monocytogenes in vivo. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 1998;65:125-138.

114. Dean GA, LaVoy A, Yearley J, et al. Cytokine modulation of the innate immune response in feline immunodeficiency virus-infected cats. J Infect Dis 2006;193:1520-1527.

115. Dean GA, Pedersen NC. Cytokine response in multiple lymphoid tissues during the primary phase of feline immunodeficiency virus infection. Virol J 1998;72:9436-9440.

116. Levy JK, Liang Y, Ritchey JW, et al. Failure of FIV-infected cats to control Toxoplasma gondii correlates with reduced IL2, IL6, and IL12 and elevated IL10 expression by lymph node T cells. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 2004;98:101-111.

117. Klatt NR, Brenchley JM. Th17 cell dynamics in HIV infection. Curr Opin HIV AIDS 2010;5:135-140.

118. Connolly NC, Riddler SA, Rinaldo CR. Proinflammatory cytokines in HIV disease-a review and rationale for new therapeutic approaches. AIDS Rev 2005;7:168-180.

119. Bull ME, Vahlenkamp TW, Dow JL, et al. Spontaneous T cell apoptosis in feline immunodeficiency virus (FIV)-infected cats is inhibited by IL2 and anti-B7.1 antibodies. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 2004;99:25-37.



120. Choi IS, Yoo HS, Collisson EW. Evaluation of expression patterns of feline CD28 and CTLA-4 in feline immunodeficiency virus (FIV)-infected and FIV antigen-induced PBMC. J Vet Sci 2000;1:97-103.

121. Tompkins MB, Bull ME, Dow JL, et al. Feline immunodeficiency virus infection is characterized by B7+CTLA4+ T cell apoptosis. J Infect Dis 2002;185:1077-1093.

122. Vahlenkamp TW, Bull ME, Dow JL, et al. B7+CTLA4+ T cells engage in T-T cell interactions that mediate apoptosis: a model for lentivirus-induced T cell depletion. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 2004;98:203-214.

123. Vahlenkamp TW, Tompkins MB, Tompkins WA. Feline immunodeficiency virus infection phenotypically and functionally activates immunosuppressive CD4+CD25+ T regulatory cells. J Immunol 2004;172:4752-4761.

124. Mexas AM, Fogle JE, Tompkins WA, et al. CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells are infected and activated during acute FIV infection. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 2008;126:263-272.
125. Miller MM, Petty CS, Tompkins MB, et al. CD4+CD25+ T regulatory cells activated during feline immunodeficiency virus infection convert T helper cells into functional suppressors through a membrane-bound TGFbeta / GARP-mediated mechanism. Virol J 2014;11:7.
126. Flynn JN, Dunham S, Mueller A, et al. Involvement of cytolytic and non-cytolytic T cells in

the control of feline immunodeficiency virus infection. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 2002;85:159-170.

127. Pedersen NC, Yamamoto JK, Ishida T, et al. Feline immunodeficiency virus infection. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 1989;21:111-129.

128. Tenorio AP, Franti CE, Madewell BR, et al. Chronic oral infections of cats and their relationship to persistent oral carriage of feline calici-, immunodeficiency, or leukemia viruses. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 1991;29:1-14.

129. Hartmann K. Feline immunodeficiency virus infection: an overview. Vet J 1998;155:123-137.

130. Hartmann K. Clinical aspects of feline retroviruses: a review. Viruses 2012;4:2684-2710.

131. Magden E, Quackenbush SL, VandeWoude S. FIV associated neoplasms--a mini-review. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 2011;143:227-234.

132. Callanan JJ, Jones BA, Irvine J, et al. Histologic classification and immunophenotype of lymphosarcomas in cats with naturally and experimentally acquired feline immunodeficiency virus infections. Vet Pathol 1996;33:264-272.



133. George JW, Pedersen NC, Higgins J. The effect of age on the course of experimental feline immunodeficiency virus infection in cats. AIDS Res Hum Retrov 1993;9:897-905.

134. Roche S, El Garch H, Brunet S, et al. Diversity of trends of viremia and T-cell markers in experimental acute feline immunodeficiency virus infection. PLoS One 2013;8:e56135.

135. Hokanson RM, TerWee J, Choi IS, et al. Dose response studies of acute feline immunodeficiency virus PPR strain infection in cats. Vet Microbiol 2000;76:311-327.

136. McManus CM, Levy JK, Andersen LA, et al. Prevalence of upper respiratory pathogens in four management models for unowned cats in the Southeast United States. Vet J 2014;201:196-201.

137. Bannasch MJ, Foley JE. Epidemiologic evaluation of multiple respiratory pathogens in cats in animal shelters. J Feline Med Surg 2005;7:109-119.

138. Mostl K, Egberink H, Addie D, et al. Prevention of infectious diseases in cat shelters: ABCD guidelines. J Feline Med Surg 2013;15:546-554.

139. Beczkowski PM, Litster A, Lin TL, et al. Contrasting clinical outcomes in two cohorts of cats naturally infected with feline immunodeficiency virus (FIV). VetMicrobiol 2015;176:50-60.
140. Levy JK, Crawford PC, Kusuhara H, et al. Differentiation of feline immunodeficiency virus vaccination, infection, or vaccination and infection in cats. J Vet Intern Med 2008;22:330-334.

141. MacDonald K, Levy JK, Tucker SJ, et al. Effects of passive transfer of immunity on results of diagnostic tests for antibodies against feline immunodeficiency virus in kittens born to vaccinated queens. J Am Vet Med Assoc 2004;225:1554-1557.

142. Levy JK, Crawford PC, Slater MR. Effect of vaccination against feline immunodeficiency virus on results of serologic testing in cats. J Am Vet Med Assoc 2004;225:1558-1561.

143. Crawford PC, Levy JK. New challenges for the diagnosis of feline immunodeficiency virus infection. Vet Clin North Am Small Anim Pract 2007;37:335-350, vii.

144. Barr MC. FIV, FeLV, and FIPV: interpretation and misinterpretation of serological test results. Semin Vet Med Surg (Small Anim) 1996;11:144-153.

145. Burkhard MJ, Dean GA. Transmission and immunopathogenesis of FIV in cats as a model for HIV. Curr HIV Res 2003;1:15-29.

146. Bienzle D, Reggeti F, Wen X, et al. The variability of serological and molecular diagnosis of feline immunodeficiency virus infection. Can Vet J 2004;45:753-757.

147. Crawford PC, Slater MR, Levy JK. Accuracy of polymerase chain reaction assays for diagnosis of feline immunodeficiency virus infection in cats. J Am Vet Med Assoc 2005;226:1503-1507.



148. Giannecchini S, Matteucci D, Mazzetti P, et al. Incubation time for feline immunodeficiency virus cultures. J Clin Microbiol 1996;34:2036-2038.

149. Matteucci D, Baldinotti F, Mazzetti P, et al. Detection of feline immunodeficiency virus in saliva and plasma by cultivation and polymerase chain reaction. J Clin Microbiol 1993;31:494-501.

150. Shelton GH, Linenberger ML, Persik MT, et al. Prospective hematologic and

clinicopathologic study of asymptomatic cats with naturally acquired feline immunodeficiency virus infection. J Vet Intern Med 1995;9:133-140.

151. Baxter KJ, Levy JK, Edinboro CH, et al. Renal disease in cats infected with feline immunodeficiency virus. J Vet Intern Med 2012;26:238-243.

152. Asproni P, Abramo F, Millanta F, et al. Amyloidosis in association with spontaneous feline immunodeficiency virus infection. J Feline Med Surg 2013;15:300-306.

153. Poli A, Tozon N, Guidi G, et al. Renal alterations in feline immunodeficiency virus (FIV)infected cats: a natural model of lentivirus-induced renal disease changes. Viruses 2012;4:1372-1389.

154. Berggren R, Batuman V. HIV-associated renal disorders: recent insights into pathogenesis and treatment. Curr HIV/AIDS Rep 2005;2:109-115.

155. Hirnschall G, Harries AD, Easterbrook PJ, et al. The next generation of the World Health Organization's global antiretroviral guidance. J Int AIDS Soc 2013;16:18757.

156. Brenchley JM, Douek DC. Microbial translocation across the GI tract. Annu Rev Immunol 2012;30:149-173.

157. Estes JD, Harris LD, Klatt NR, et al. Damaged intestinal epithelial integrity linked to microbial translocation in pathogenic simian immunodeficiency virus infections. PLoS Pathog 2010;6:e1001052.

158. Guadalupe M, Reay E, Sankaran S, et al. Severe CD4+ T-Cell Depletion in Gut Lymphoid
Tissue during Primary Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type 1 Infection and Substantial Delay
in Restoration following Highly Active Antiretroviral Therapy. Virol J 2003;77:11708-11717.
159. Brenchley JM, Schacker TW, Ruff LE, et al. CD4+ T cell depletion during all stages of HIV

disease occurs predominantly in the gastrointestinal tract. J Exp Med 2004;200:749-759.

160. Pandrea I, Sodora DL, Silvestri G, et al. Into the wild: simian immunodeficiency virus (SIV) infection in natural hosts. Trends Immunol 2008;29:419-428.



161. Gordon SN, Klatt NR, Bosinger SE, et al. Severe depletion of mucosal CD4+ T cells in AIDS-free simian immunodeficiency virus-infected sooty mangabeys. J Immunol 2007;179:3026-3034.

162. Jerala R. Structural biology of the LPS recognition. Int J Med Microbiol 2007;297:353-363.163. Kitchens RL, Thompson PA. Modulatory effects of sCD14 and LBP on LPS-host cell interactions. J Endotoxin Res 2005;11:225-229.

164. Tapping RI, Gegner JA, Kravchenko VV, et al. Roles for LBP and soluble CD14 in cellular uptake of LPS. Prog Clin Biol Res 1998;397:73-78.

165. Tapping RI, Tobias PS. Soluble CD14-mediated cellular responses to lipopolysaccharide. Chem Immunol 2000;74:108-121.

166. Kitchens RL, Thompson PA, O'Keefe GE, et al. Plasma constituents regulate LPS binding to, and release from, the monocyte cell surface. J Endotoxin Res 2000;6:477-482.

167. Kitchens RL, Thompson PA, Viriyakosol S, et al. Plasma CD14 decreases monocyte responses to LPS by transferring cell-bound LPS to plasma lipoproteins. J Clin Invest 2001;108:485-493.

168. Shive CL, Jiang W, Anthony DD, et al. Soluble CD14 is a nonspecific marker of monocyte activation. AIDS 2015;29:1263-1265.

169. Sandler NG, Douek DC. Microbial translocation in HIV infection: causes, consequences and treatment opportunities. Nat Rev Microbiol 2012;10:655-666.

170. Mendez-Lagares G, Romero-Sanchez MC, Ruiz-Mateos E, et al. Long-term suppressive combined antiretroviral treatment does not normalize the serum level of soluble CD14. J Infect Dis 2013;207:1221-1225.

171. Leeansyah E, Malone DF, Anthony DD, et al. Soluble biomarkers of HIV transmission, disease progression and comorbidities. Curr Opin HIV AIDS 2013;8:117-124.

172. Pilakka-Kanthikeel S, Kris A, Selvaraj A, et al. Immune activation is associated with increased gut microbial translocation in treatment-naive, HIV-infected children in a resource-limited setting. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 2014;66:16-24.

173. Sandler NG, Koh C, Roque A, et al. Host response to translocated microbial products predicts outcomes of patients with HBV or HCV infection. Gastroenterology 2011;141:1220-1230, 1230 e1221-1223.

174. Pilakka-Kanthikeel S, Huang S, Fenton T, et al. Increased gut microbial translocation in HIV-infected children persists in virologic responders and virologic failures after antiretroviral therapy. Pediatr Infect Dis J 2012;31:583-591.



175. Nockher W, Bergmann L, Scherberich J. Increased soluble CD14 serum levels and altered CD14 expression of peripheral-blood monocytes in HIV-infected patients. ClinExp Immunol 1994;98:369-374.

176. Romero-Sanchez M, Gonzalez-Serna A, Pacheco YM, et al. Different biological significance of sCD14 and LPS in HIV-infection: importance of the immunovirology stage and association with HIV-disease progression markers. J Infect 2012;65:431-438.

177. Shan L, Siliciano RF. Unraveling the relationship between microbial translocation and systemic immune activation in HIV infection. J Clin Invest 2014;124:2368-2371.

178. Vassallo M, Mercie P, Cottalorda J, et al. The role of lipopolysaccharide as a marker of immune activation in HIV-1 infected patients: a systematic literature review. Virol J 2012;9:174.
179. Wallet MA, Rodriguez CA, Yin L, et al. Microbial translocation induces persistent macrophage activation unrelated to HIV-1 levels or T-cell activation following therapy. AIDS 2010:24:1281-1290.

180. Dillon SM, Lee EJ, Kotter CV, et al. An altered intestinal mucosal microbiome in HIV-1 infection is associated with mucosal and systemic immune activation and endotoxemia. Mucosal Immunol 2014;7:983-994.

181. Dinh DM, Volpe GE, Duffalo C, et al. Intestinal microbiota, microbial translocation, and systemic inflammation in chronic HIV infection. J Infect Dis 2015;211:19-27.

182. Gori A, Tincati C, Rizzardini G, et al. Early impairment of gut function and gut flora supporting a role for alteration of gastrointestinal mucosa in human immunodeficiency virus pathogenesis. J Clin Microbiol 2008;46:757-758.

183. Hatano H. Immune activation and HIV persistence: considerations for novel therapeutic interventions. Curr Opin HIV AIDS 2013;8:211-216.

184. Douek DC. Immune activation, HIV persistence, and the cure. Top Antivir Med 2013;21:128-132.

185. Klatt NR, Canary LA, Sun X, et al. Probiotic/prebiotic supplementation of antiretrovirals improves gastrointestinal immunity in SIV-infected macaques. J Clin Invest 2013;123:903-907.
186. Schunter M, Chu H, Hayes TL, et al. Randomized pilot trial of a synbiotic dietary supplement in chronic HIV-1 infection. BMC Complement Altern Med 2012;12:84.
187. Cunningham-Rundles S, Ahrne S, Johann-Liang R, et al. Effect of probiotic bacteria on

microbial host defense, growth, and immune function in human immunodeficiency virus type-1 infection. Nutrients 2011;3:1042-1070.



188. Kristoff J, Haret-Richter G, Ma D, et al. Early microbial translocation blockade reduces
SIV-mediated inflammation and viral replication. J Clin Invest 2014;124:2802-2806.
189. George MD, Asmuth DM. Mucosal immunity in HIV infection: what can be done to restore gastrointestinal-associated lymphoid tissue function? Curr Opin Infect Dis 2014;27:275-281.
190. Weese JS, Nichols J, Jalali M, et al. The rectal microbiota of cats infected with feline immunodeficiency virus infection and uninfected controls. VetMicrobiol 2015;180:96-102.
191. Stoeker LL, Overman EL, Nordone SK, et al. Infection with feline immunodeficiency virus alters intestinal epithelial transport and mucosal immune responses to probiotics. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 2013;153:146-152.

192. Gil S, Leal RO, Duarte A, et al. Relevance of feline interferon omega for clinical improvement and reduction of concurrent viral excretion in retrovirus infected cats from a rescue shelter. Res Vet Sci 2013;94:753-763.

193. Gil S, Leal RO, McGahie D, et al. Oral Recombinant Feline Interferon-Omega as an alternative immune modulation therapy in FIV positive cats: clinical and laboratory evaluation. Res Vet Sci 2014;96:79-85.

194. Leal RO, Gil S, Duarte A, et al. Evaluation of viremia, proviral load and cytokine profile in naturally feline immunodeficiency virus infected cats treated with two different protocols of recombinant feline interferon omega. Res Vet Sci 2015;99:87-95.



CHAPTER 3. TEMPORAL PATTERNS IN GENERAL HEALTH PANEL MARKERS AND LYMPHOCYTE IMMUNOPHENOTYPE IN CATS NATURALLY INFECTED WITH FELINE IMMUNODEFICIENCY VIRUS

3.1 Introduction

Feline immunodeficiency virus (FIV) is a complex, important lentiviral infection of cats. FIV infection causes immunosuppression and may lead to an increased risk of certain opportunistic infections, neoplasias and early mortality. The overall prevalence of FIV is reported to be approximately 2.5% in the United States ^{1,2}. Transmission of FIV among cats occurs primarily via inoculation of virus via penetrating wounds. Male, intact, outdoor cats are at increased risk for acquiring FIV infection due to territorial fighting behavior³. Transplacental and transmammary transmission in experimental settings has been reported but this is not considered a common mode of transmission in naturally acquired infection.^{4,5}

FIV infections typically progress through three stages: acute, chronic (asymptomatic) and symptomatic (end stage). During the acute phase of infection cats may have anorexia, diarrhea, lethargy, fever and lymphadenomegaly beginning approximately 6 weeks post-infection^{6,7}. The acute phase may last for several weeks and is followed by the asymptomatic phase during which cats show no outward signs of infection. The asymptomatic phase typically lasts for a variable period of years. During chronic infection, there are changes in the immune system of infected cats, and cats may be at risk for illnesses such as gingivostomatitis, upper respiratory infections and diarrhea, although these typically respond to treatment. Some cats progress to a final symptomatic stage of infection which is marked by an ongoing loss of body condition, treatment-refractory opportunistic infections, blood dyscrasias, neoplasia and death.^{3,8}

During the acute phase of infection, cats may be anemic, leukopenic, lymphopenic and / or neutropenic but these abnormalities are transient. Cats in the chronic phase of infection may have relative leukopenia, lymphopenia and / or monocytopenia compared to FIV-uninfected cats but



values for asymptomatic FIV-infected cats typically remain within the reference interval^{9,10}Additionally, hypergammaglobulinemia believed secondary to polyclonal B cell proliferation and increased immunoglobulin production has been reported in FIV-infected cats compared to FIV-uninfected cats^{9,11,12}. Hypernatremia was reported in some FIV-infected cats although the cause for this was unknown¹¹. For those cats progressing to end stage disease, marked anemia, leukopenia, neutropenia and lymphopenia are most commonly reported although reports of blood dyscrasias in symptomatic infection are sparse^{13,14}.

It is well documented in experimental infection that CD4 T cell percentages and absolute cell counts may markedly decrease during the acute phase of infection, rebound during the early asymptomatic phase (typically not to pre-infection levels) and then gradually decline over the remainder of infection^{10,15-18}. The CD8 T cell population has been shown to increase following infection and this is reportedly due to an expansion of the CD8 T cell subset, $CD8\beta^{low 17,19}$. $CD8\beta^{low}$ cells are thought to be activated effector cells as based on phenotype and have been shown to decrease FIV replication in vitro; these cells may increase as early as 3 weeks post infection and are reported to comprise up to 70% of the total CD8 T cell population^{19,20}. In one experimental infection, CD4 T cell counts of FIV-infected cats 18 months post-infection were 691±130 cells/mm³ compared to 1450±46 cells/mm³ in FIV-uninfected cats¹⁷. In this same population of FIV-infected cats, CD8 β^{low} cells were reported as 352±59 cells/mm³ at 18 months post-infection compared to 158±61 cells/mm³ in FIV-uninfected cats¹⁷. The decrease in CD4 T cells and increase in CD8/CD8^{low} cells, results in an inversion of the CD4:CD8 ratio in FIVinfected that persists throughout infection^{9,10,18,21}. In one study of experimentally infected cats, the CD4:CD8 ratio inversion was reported to be statistically significant as early as 6 weeks postinfection and at each time point thereafter compared to uninfected control cats. The averaged CD4:CD8 ratio was reported as 0.75±0.47 in chronically FIV-infected cats compared to 1.65 ± 0.38 in FIV-uninfected cats¹⁰.

The majority of information detailing progressive hematological, biochemical and lymphocyte immunophenotype abnormalities of FIV-infected cats has been gained through studies of experimental infection. While experimental infections are very important to allow controlled study of the course of FIV infections, it is not known whether experimental infection accurately mimics natural infection. Experimentally infected cats are often inoculated as kittens, whereas it is believed that the majority of naturally infected cats are infected with FIV as adult cats. Experimentally infected cats are housed in specific pathogen free (SPF) conditions, and often



inoculated via intraperitoneal, intravenous or mucosal routes rather than deep, penetrating bite wounds. SPF housing conditions limit environmental pathogen exposure and protect cats from exposure to common pathogens encountered by naturally infected cats. It is not known whether experimental FIV inoculation doses and strains are similar to those encountered in natural infection. It is therefore difficult to make generalizations or predictions about disease progression in naturally acquired infection based on results from experimental infection.

The purpose of this study was to compare the temporal patterns of common hematological, plasma biochemical and lymphocyte immunophenotype values between FIV-infected cats and FIV-uninfected cats and also between FIV-infected cats residing in private homes and infected cats residing in sanctuary housing over a period of up to 4 years. The study was designed to test the following hypotheses: in comparison to FIV-uninfected cats, FIV-infected cats will have different temporal patterns in: 1) CD4 and CD8 lymphocyte numbers and ratios; 2) hematological parameters and 3) plasma biochemical parameters. Furthermore, there will be different temporal patterns in FIV-infected cats residing in sanctuary housing compared to FIV-infected cats residing in private homes of <7 cats.

3.2 Materials and Methods

3.2.1 Animals

Cats were enrolled from adoption guarantee shelters (PAWS Chicago and Treehouse Humane Society, (Chicago, IL)), the Fitzhugh B. Crews FIV Sanctuary (Memphis, TN), or private homes in the Chicago, IL and Memphis, TN metropolitan areas. Cats were considered FIV-infected when enzyme linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) and polymerase chain reaction (PCR) were both positive at the time of enrollment. Any cat with discordant results had virus isolation (VI) performed and this result determined the FIV status of the cat. Date of initial FIV infection was not known for any of the cats at the time of enrollment; therefore chronicity of infection for the cats in this study was unknown. Any cat testing positive for feline leukemia virus (FeLV) at enrollment was excluded from the study.

3.2.2 Laboratory findings

Cats were examined every 12 months. At enrollment and at each subsequent examination time point, blood was collected and submitted to IDEXX Laboratories (Westbrook, ME) for complete blood count (CBC), plasma biochemistry, and FIV/FeLV ELISA test (SNAP® FIV/FeLV test, IDEXX Laboratories, Westbrook, ME). Lymphocyte immunophenotyping was performed at IDEXX Laboratories (Westbrook, ME) or Purdue University (West Lafayette, IN). Lymphocyte



immunophenotyping was performed using the protocol described by Lin et al²². PCR for FIV (FIV Real PCRTM Test) was performed at IDEXX Laboratories (West Sacramento, CA) using proprietary primers and methodology. Virus isolation was performed at the University of Glasgow Centre for Virus Research (Glasgow, United Kingdom)²³. The following laboratory parameters were evaluated in FIV-infected and FIV-uninfected cats: hematocrit (HCT), leukocyte count (WBC), neutrophil count (NEUT), lymphocyte count (LYMPH), blood urea nitrogen (BUN), creatinine (CREA), total protein (TP), albumin (ALB), globulin (GLOB), alkaline phosphatase (AlkP), and alanine aminotransferase (ALT) activities, cholesterol (CHOL), glucose (GLUC), sodium (NA), urine specific gravity (USG), CD4 count, total CD8 count, CD8 β^{low} count, and CD4:CD8 ratio. Reference intervals for hematological and plasma biochemical markers and lymphocyte immunophenotype are listed in Table 1.

3.2.3 Statistical analysis

Data were analyzed using commercially available statistical software (IBM SPSS for Windows version 22). Descriptive statistics are reported and laboratory parameter values are reported as median and range. General linear mixed models regression (GLMM) was used to assess temporal patterns in laboratory parameters, comparing these values between FIV-infected and FIVuninfected cats and also between FIV-infected cats living in sanctuary housing and FIV-infected cats living in private homes with <7 cats. GLMM was used to account for repeated measures over time within individual cats. Intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC) was calculated for each laboratory parameter to determine the variation within each cat that contributed to the total variations. Age at enrollment was adjusted in all models. The GLMM analyses were performed separately by three time intervals from enrollment to year 2, year 3, and year 4 in order to investigate potential effects of non-random withdrawal (i.e. due to death) of study cats over time. Within each time interval, only cats that had data at all time points were included in the analysis. Normality for each variable was assessed using the Shapiro-Wilk statistic (>0.85). Mathematical data transformations (e.g. log) were applied to correct parameters with a skewed distribution. Statistical significance is set at P < 0.05.

3.3 Results

A total of 174 cats were evaluated at enrollment, with 87 FIV-infected cats (29 female spayed (FS) and 58 male neutered (MN)) and 87 FIV-uninfected cats (30 FS and 57 MN) and the median age of 5 years (range: 1.5 - 11). There were 104 cats available for temporal pattern comparison over the 3 year duration including 43 FIV-infected and 61 FIV-uninfected with a median age of 4



years (range: 1.5 - 10). The number of cats evaluated at each interval decreased due to death or dropout of cats for other reasons (e.g. owners moved away or no longer were able to participate). The sample size of cats included for each interval is summarized in Table 2. However, no obvious differences were found in the temporal patterns among the three time intervals. Therefore, only the results of the interval from enrollment to year 2 for overall differences between groups and enrollment to year 3 for temporal change were reported.

The data for the following laboratory parameters were right skewed and log transformed for all statistical analyses: CD4, CD8, CD8 β^{low} , CD4:CD8 ratio, WBC, LYMPH, NEUT, BUN, CREA, ALT, ALKP, CHOL, GLU, and TP.

3.3.1 Overall differences in laboratory parameters between FIV-infected and uninfected cats

FIV-infected cats had consistently higher values for CD8 β^{low} cells, TP and GLOB compared to FIV-uninfected cats (P <0.001 for each; Figures 1, 2 and 3). The CD4:CD8 ratio was consistently lower in FIV-infected cats compared to FIV-uninfected cats (P <0.001; Figure 4).

3.3.2 Temporal changes in laboratory parameters of FIV-infected cats vs. FIV-uninfected cats

There were statistically significant differences in temporal patterns between FIV-infected and FIV-uninfected cats for CD4, CD8 and LYMPH. CD4 and CD8 values decreased in both FIV-infected and FIV-uninfected cats overtime, but the loss of cells was greater in FIV-infected cats (Figures 5 and 6). LYMPH values decreased in FIV-infected cats but remained stable over time in FIV-uninfected cats (Figure 7).

For FIV-infected cats, compared to FIV-uninfected cats, statistically significant differences in temporal patterns were found for HCT, ALB, and BUN although the overall change was small. Median and range laboratory parameters and P-values are summarized in Table 3. The FIV-infected cats showed a decreasing temporal pattern in HCT values while an increasing pattern was observed in FIV-uninfected cats. Temporal patterns for ALB showed a decreasing pattern for FIV-infected cats whereas values remained stable in FIV-uninfected cats. BUN values were lower in FIV-infected cats and showed a decreasing pattern compared to stable values in the FIV-uninfected cats.

There were no statistically significant differences between FIV infected and uninfected cats for the following laboratory parameters: WBC, ALT, ALKP, GLU, NA and USG.



Intraclass correlation coefficient percentages for laboratory parameters with statistically significant temporal changes ranged from 43 - 96%. BUN had the lowest ICC percentage and CHOL had the highest ICC percentage (data not shown).

3.3.3 Overall differences in laboratory parameters between FIV-infected cats in sanctuary housing and FIV-infected cats

FIV-infected cats had consistently higher laboratory parameter values for GLOB (P = 0.002) and NEUT (P = 0.019) compared to FIV-infected cats living in private homes (Figures 8 and 9). Laboratory parameter values were consistently lower for ALB (P < 0.001) and CHOL (P = 0.001) in sanctuary housed cats compared to cats in private homes (Figures 10 and 11).

3.3.4 Temporal changes for laboratory parameters of FIV-infected cats in private homes vs. FIV-infected cats in sanctuary housing

There were statistically significant differences in temporal patterns for the following laboratory parameters: CREA, HCT, WBC, TP, BUN and ALT in FIV-infected cats in sanctuary housing compared to FIV-infected cats in private homes, although the overall change was small. Laboratory parameter values and P-values are summarized in Table 3.

CREA values for FIV-infected cats living in sanctuary housing were lower and decreased over time compared to FIV-infected cats in private homes for which values remained stable. For HCT, a decreasing temporal pattern and lower values were observed for FIV-infected sanctuary housed cats compared to an increasing pattern for FIV-infected cats in private homes. For FIV-infected cats in sanctuary housing, the BUN pattern decreased over time and values were lower compared to FIV-infected cats in private homes for which values remained stable. Laboratory parameter values for ALT showed an increasing pattern for FIV-infected cats in sanctuary housing compared to a decreasing pattern in ALT for FIV-infected cats in private homes.

A difference in temporal pattern for WBC in FIV-infected cats in sanctuary housing compared to FIV-infected cats living in private homes was seen. Median WBC counts and maximum range values were consistently higher in sanctuary housed cats compared to stable values for cats in private homes. TP values showed an increasing pattern for FIV-infected cats in sanctuary housing compared to a decreasing pattern for cats in private homes, although values were higher in sanctuary housed cats.



There were no statistically significant differences in temporal change between the 2 FIV-infected groups for CD4, CD8, and CD8 β^{low} counts, CD4:CD8 ratio, LYMPH, ALKP, GLU, NA or USG values (data not shown).

The ICC percentages for markers with statistically significant temporal change comparisons ranged from 42 - 58%. HCT had the lowest ICC percentage and WBC had the highest ICC percentage (data not shown).

3.4 Discussion

The results of this study show that cats naturally infected with FIV had differences in multiple laboratory parameters, and among these, some parameters had differences in temporal patterns compared to FIV-uninfected cats. FIV-infected cats had consistently higher values for CD8β^{low} cells, globulin levels and total protein levels and lower CD4:CD8 ratio values compared to FIV-uninfected cats. Differences in temporal patterns were seen forCD4 and total CD8 T cell values, absolute lymphocyte counts, hematocrit, blood urea nitrogen (BUN), cholesterol and albumin in FIV-infected cats compared to FIV-uninfected cats. For FIV-infected cats living in sanctuary housing consistently higher values for globulin levels and absolute neutrophil counts and lower values for albumin and cholesterol levels. Differences in temporal patterns were seen for hematocrit, albumin, BUN, creatinine, absolute white blood cell counts and total protein in FIV-infected cats living sanctuary housing compared to cats in private homes, however, changes were small. The biological importance of small changes in temporal patterns within or just above the reference interval is not known and may be indicative of disease within an individual cat rather than a trend within the group. Furthermore, based on ICC values, there is a high degree of variability within the individual cats of each group, although slightly less variability within the FIV-infected cats.

The temporal pattern in CD4 T cells in FIV-infected cats compared to FIV-uninfected cats was expected. The lower number of CD4 T cells in FIV-infected cats compared to FIV-uninfected cats has been documented in the literature in both experimental and naturally acquired infection^{9,10,16,17}. CD4 T cells are the primary target of the virus and loss of these cells occurs in peripheral blood as well as lymphoid tissue, particularly in the gut-associated lymphoid tissue (GALT) ^{15,24,25}. It was somewhat surprising that CD4 T cell counts of FIV-uninfected cats decreased over time, similar to the FIV-infected cats. Median CD4 T cell counts fell below the low end of the reference interval by year 3 of the study but values for uninfected cats remained within the reference interval (543 – 1820 cells/µL) reported for healthy adult cats²⁶. Temporal


patterns for CD8 T cell counts showed a decreasing pattern in both FIV-infected and FIVuninfected cats, although the pattern was more pronounced in FIV-infected cats but neither group had a median value below the reference interval. FIV-infected cats had higher CD8 T cell counts compared to FIV-uninfected cats, which was not entirely unexpected. The higher CD8 T cell values in FIV-infected cats were hypothesized to be the result of expansion of $CD8\beta^{low}$ cells in FIV-infected cats, which occurs soon after infection and is reported to continue throughout the chronic stage of disease¹⁷. In this population of cats, the $CD8\beta^{low}$ cells were consistently higher in FIV-infected cats compared to FIV-uninfected cats but failed to show continued expansion over time. As the duration of FIV infection was unknown for the cats in this study, it may be that these cats had reached a plateau in $CD8\beta^{low}$ production, and that is why there was not a significant difference in temporal change for this parameter. Furthermore, it has been postulated that $CD8\beta^{low}$ cells may transform to $CD8\beta$ -negative ($CD8\beta^{neg}$) cells in the late stages of chronic infection¹⁹ but CD8^{βlow} cell counts have not been widely documented in experimental infection so it is not known how this population changes over time. Lymphocyte immunophenotyping for $CD8\beta^{neg}$ cells was not performed in this study and therefore any change in this population was not seen.

In two longitudinal studies of experimentally infected cats and uninfected controls, it was shown that absolute CD4 T cell counts fluctuate over time in both FIV-infected and FIV-uninfected cats and at times showed a decreasing trend in the FIV-uninfected cats^{10,18}. The intracorrelation coefficient CD4 and CD8 T cell percentages for the cats in this study support large variation for these values within cats. It has been reported that in healthy cats there is a loss of absolute CD4 and total CD8 T cells in peripheral blood of senior cats (10-14 years old) compared to adult cats (2-5 years old) that is similar to what is seen in aging people and mice²⁷. Additionally, a loss of absolute B cells in peripheral blood of senior cats was also reported but interestingly immunoglobulin levels were found to be increased in the senior cats²⁷. Immunosenescence, the result of multiple changes to the immune system over time, is associated with loss of leukocytes, lymphocytes and increases in inflammatory cytokines which affect immune response and increase susceptibility to infection and disease in geriatric mammals, although this has not been widely studied in cats²⁸. Immunosenescence may have played a role in the loss of T cells and lymphocyte numbers and globulin levels higher than the reference interval in FIV-uninfected cats.

In a recent longitudinal study of experimental FIV infection, FIV infected cats had higher CD8 T cell counts compared to uninfected control cats¹⁰. Gradual declines in CD8 T cell counts were



noted in half of those FIV-infected cats, whereas the remaining FIV-infected cats appeared to have stable counts. CD8 T cell counts of uninfected control cats appeared stable over time¹⁰. However, the authors reported no statistical difference in absolute CD8 T cell counts between FIV-infected and uninfected cats, although a higher percentage of lymphocytes expressed the CD8 marker in FIV-infected cats compared to FIV-uninfected cats¹⁰. The CD8 β^{low} cell population was not reported for that study¹⁰. CD8 β^{low} cell populations have been reported to comprise up to 70% of CD8 T cells \geq 7 years post-FIV infection^{19,29} As experimentally infected cats are kept in SPF housing, it is not known how other viral pathogens may impact CD4 and CD8 T cell findings. Consistent with the decrease in CD4 and total CD8 T cell counts, lymphocyte numbers decreased over time in both FIV-infected and FIV-uninfected cats, although the decrease was greater in FIV-infected cats. As CD4 and CD8 T cells are a large portion of the lymphocyte population this finding is not unexpected.

The temporal change and decreasing hematocrit in FIV-infected cats compared to FIV-uninfected and FIV-infected cats living in sanctuary housing compared to those in private homes, although mild, may reflect an early change in red blood cell counts associated chronic inflammatory disease. However, in each group the values remained within the reference interval making further biological interpretation of the results difficult. The differences in temporal pattern for albumin between FIV-infected cats and FIV-uninfected cats, and the lower albumin levels in sanctuary housed cats compared to cats in private homes, may be a result of inflammation associated with chronic disease in FIV infection. Chronic inflammation is associated with a decrease in negative acute phase proteins, such as albumin, and an increase in positive acute phase proteins. The production of pro-inflammatory cytokines can interfere with albumin production. It has been shown that FIV-infected cats have increased levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines in circulation. Loss of albumin can also occur through the kidneys, gastrointestinal tract and skin. However, other laboratory parameters and physical examination findings did not support those as likely reasons for decreasing albumin.

The difference in temporal pattern for white blood cell counts between FIV-infected cats in sanctuary housing and cats in private homes and the higher median and maximal range WBC values for sanctuary housed cats raises the question of whether environmental conditions play a role in FIV disease progression. It has been reported that cats living within sanctuary housing have a higher prevalence of upper respiratory infections with pathogens such as feline herpesvirus-1 (FHV-1), feline calicivirus (FCV), *Bordetella bronchiseptica, Chlamydophila felis*



and *Mycoplasma* disease compared to those in private homes. Although identifying environmental pathogen exposure was beyond the scope of this study, it is possible that the cats living in sanctuary housing were exposed to an increased number of pathogens, and therefore suffered a higher occurrence of concurrent viral and possible secondary bacterial infection which may have led to increased WBC.

Plasma total protein levels were higher in cats living in sanctuary housing than in cats living in private homes and showed a difference in temporal patterns. The FIV-infected cats in sanctuary housing had consistently higher median and range globulin levels compared to FIV-infected cats in private homes, although a difference in temporal pattern was not found. Increased globulin levels in FIV-infected cats have been previously reported and are thought to be secondary to B cell stimulation and increased immunoglobulin production. Median values for albumin were lower in the sanctuary housed cats compared to those in private homes although no temporal change was found. The higher globulin levels and lower albumin levels could be a consequence of increased pro-inflammatory cytokines that favor humoral immunity and interrupt albumin production, but confirmation of increased cytokine levels was not performed. As duration of infection is unknown in these cats, an increasing trend in the change of globulin levels may have been masked due to the likely varied durations of infection. Additionally, a potential difference in pathogen exposure between sanctuary housed cats and cats in private homes causing a pro-inflammatory response should be considered. This is further supported by increased WBC and absolute neutrophil counts in sanctuary housed cats compared to cats in private homes.

Differences in temporal patterns for blood urea nitrogen (BUN) and creatinine were found in FIV-infected cats compared to FIV-uninfected cats and in FIV-infected cats in sanctuary housing compared to those in private homes. Additionally, a difference in temporal pattern for cholesterol in FIV-infected cats compared to uninfected cats and alanine aminotransferase (ALT) in FIV-infected cats in sanctuary housing compared to FIV-infected cats in private homes. The changes in BUN, creatinine, cholesterol and ALT were small and the median values of each remained within reference intervals therefore the biological significance of these changes is not known; changes may be the result of concurrent disease within a specific cat rather than a trend within the group. A recent study showed no significant difference in renal values between FIV-infected and uninfected cats but found an increased urine protein-to-creatinine (UPC) ratio in FIV-infected cats³⁰. The UPC ratio was not measured for cats in this study. Diagnostics to assess liver function



or intestinal mucosal integrity were not performed and further inference as to cause of differences in ALT and cholesterol cannot be made.

There were several limitations to this study. Enrollment of cats in the study was ongoing for two years, therefore not all cats were monitored for a period of 4 years; some were only monitored for 2 years. Although cats in both the infected and uninfected groups were lost to follow-up, more FIV-uninfected cats were lost to follow-up. This led to a greater attrition rate than expected over the course of the study and the resulting sample size may not have been large enough to detect significant differences in temporal patterns. Moreover, loss of cats over the duration of the study may have unintentionally favored selection of healthy cats that survived to the end of the study. In addition, the duration of the study may not have been long enough to observe the full impact of change over time in erythrocyte, leukocyte or lymphocyte subset populations or in albumin and globulin levels. The lack of an FIV-uninfected sanctuary housed population limited a more thorough investigation into the impact of environment on laboratory parameters. Virus isolation was not performed on all cats enrolled in the study and without the results of this test, considered the reference standard, there is a possibility that infection status was not correct in all cats. Finally, as the cats in this study were all naturally infected, and acquired from shelters with limited knowledge of any previous health history, there was no known duration of infection for direct comparison between the cats. Similarly, the age of the cats was an estimate made at the time of entry into the shelter and may not have been accurate, although adjustment for age was performed in the statistical analysis.

3.5 Conclusion

The results of this study showed that FIV-infected cats have higher values for absolute CD8β^{low} cell counts, total protein and globulin levels and lower CD4:CD8 ratio compared to uninfected cats. Additionally, differences in temporal patterns were seen for CD4 and total CD8 T cell values, absolute lymphocyte cell counts, hematocrit, BUN, creatinine and albumin levels compared to FIV-uninfected cats. Furthermore, FIV-infected cats in sanctuary housing had higher values for globulin levels and absolute neutrophil counts compared to FIV-infected cats living in private homes. FIV-infected cats in sanctuary housing showed differences in temporal patterns for WBC count, total protein, hematocrit, BUN, creatinine and alanine aminotransferase activity levels compared to cats that lived in private homes. Differences in laboratory parameter values and temporal patterns associated with inflammation and immune activity were seen in FIV-infected cats compared to uninfected cats and FIV-infected cats in sanctuary housing compared to



62

cats that lived in private homes. These findings are consistent with those reported for experimental infection but raised the question of environmental impact on inflammation and immune response in the progression of disease in FIV infection. Particularly when inflammation and immune activation are two prominent aspects of FIV infection associated with disease progression and may be influenced by increased exposure to pathogens within the environment. Due to the small number of cats in this study and lack of an FIV-uninfected sanctuary housed control group, the results of this study are considered exploratory and cannot be extrapolated to the larger FIV-infected population. Further investigation into the potential impact of living environment on chronic FIV infection is warranted and should be pursued. At this time, CD4 and total CD8 T cell counts may be the most sensitive parameters by which to measure disease progression in FIV infection should include discovery of new biological markers that more accurately reflect the chronic inflammation and immune activation associated with FIV infection, rather than continued investigation into routine laboratory health parameters which may not be specific to FIV infection.



Table 3.1. Reference intervals for hematological, biochemical and lymphocyte immunophenotype markers

^a Reference intervals as used by Purdue University College of Veterinary Medicine

^b Dean GA et al. Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology, 28 (1991) 327-335

Marker	Reference interval	Marker	Reference Interval		
HCT ^a	30.0 - 45.0%	BUN ^a	15 - 35 mg/dL		
WBC ^a	6.0 - 18.0 x10³/uL	CREA ^a	0.9 - 2.3 mg/dL		
NEUT ^a	3.0 - 12.0 x10³/uL	TP ^a	5.5 - 7.1 g/dL		
LYMPH ^a	1.50 - 7.0 x10³/uL	ALB ^a	2.7 - 3.9 g/dL		
CD4 ^b	543 - 1820 x10³/uL	GLOB ^a	2.3 - 3.8 g/dL		
CD8 ^b	353 - 994 x10³/uL	ALKP ^a	23 - 107 U/L		
CD8β ^{low, c}	97 – 219 x10³/uL	ALT ^a	20 - 108 U/L		
CD4:CD8 ratio	1.2 - 2.6	CHOL ^a	45 - 274 mg/dL		
		GLU ^a	75 - 134 mg/dL		
		NA ^a	150 - 165 mmol/L		

^c Willett BJ et al *Immunology*, 78 (1993) 1-6



Groups (n)	Followed 2 years	Followed 3 years	Followed 4 years
FIV -	72	63	34
FIV+	51	43	26
FIV+ private home	32	28	13
FIV+ sanctuary	19	15	13

Table 3.2. Sample size for groups at each time interval



Parameter median (range)	Group	Enrollment	Year 1	Year 2	Year 3	P-value
НСТ	FIV-	43	45	45	78	0.016
		(34 - 62)	(33 – 62)	(28 – 55)	(18 – 63)	
	FIV+	42	44	44	44	
		(21 – 50)	(32 – 52)	(33 – 52)	(27 – 55)	
BUN	FIV-	23	24	23	24	0.001
		(14 – 38)	(17 – 32)	(15 – 52)	(15 - 41)	
	FIV+	22	20	22	22	
		(12 - 34)	(13 – 28)	(14 – 30)	(13 – 32)	
CHOL	FIV-	154	161	151	154	0.03
		(81 – 304)	(93 – 334)	(82 – 346)	(104 – 332)	
	FIV+	140	139	136	128	
		(76 – 316)	(81 – 303)	(73 – 336)	(70 – 334)	
ALB	FIV-	3.5	3.5	3.5	3.6	0.015
		(2.5 - 4.2)	(2.8 - 4.0)	(2.5 - 4.5)	(2.6 - 4.2)	
	FIV+	3.2	3.4	3.3	3.1	
		(2.5 - 3.9)	(2.5 – 3.9)	(2.7 - 3.9)	(2.6 – 3.9)	

 Table 3.3. Descriptive statistics (median and range) and P-values for selected laboratory

 parameters over 3 years for FIV-infected and FIV-uninfected cats



Parameter median (range)	Group	Enrollment	Year 1	Year 2	Year 3	P- value	
	FIV+ private	41	45	46	46	0.05	
ИСТ	home	(32 - 50)	(34 – 52)	(33 – 52)	(31 – 55)		
HCI	FIV+	42	41	41	40	0.03	
	sanctuary	(21 - 48)	(32 - 49)	(36 – 50)	(27 - 49)		
	FIV+ private	10.3	11.2	8.3	8.7		
WDC	home	(5.2 - 20.9)	(4.1 – 18.7)	(3.2 – 12.7)	(4.3 – 13.2)	<0.001	
WBC	FIV+	12.7	11.1	10.1	12.3	<0.001	
	sanctuary	(4.5 - 23.7)	(6.6 - 24.6)	(6.0 - 26.7)	(6.9 – 36.0)		
	FIV+ private	7.9	8.1	8.0	7.7	0.004	
TD	home	(6.5 - 9.9)	(6.8 – 9.6)	(6.7 – 9.2)	(6.4 - 9.2)		
11	FIV+	8.0	8.1	8.2	8.2	0.004	
	sanctuary	(7.2 - 8.8)	(6.8 - 8.8)	(6.8 – 11.0)	(7.1 – 10.3)		
	FIV+ private	23	22	24	23	0.02	
DUN	home	(14 - 34)	(14 - 28)	(15 – 30)	(13 – 32)		
DUN	FIV+	20	18	18	20	0.05	
	sanctuary	(12 - 28)	(13 – 22)	(14 - 23)	(14 - 29)		
CREA	FIV+ private	1.4	1.5	1.5	1.5		
	home	(0.9 - 2.0)	(1.0 - 1.9)	(1.0 - 1.9)	(1.1 - 2.2)	<0.001	
	FIV+	1.4	1.2	1.3	0.9		
	sanctuary	(1.0 - 2.1)	(0.6 - 1.8)	(0.9 - 1.8)	(1.7 - 2.5)		
ALT	FIV+ private	51	52	50	52		
	home	(10 – 587)	(15 – 239)	(27 - 197)	(29 - 92)	0.007	
	FIV+	50	47	46	59		
	sanctuary	(26 – 82)	(14 – 115)	(12 – 96)	(41 – 78)		

Table 3.4. Descriptive statistics (median and range) and P-values for selected laboratory parameters over 3 years for FIV-infected in sanctuary housing and FIV-infected cats in private homes









Figure 3.2. Descriptive statistics (median and range) for differences in total protein for FIVinfected and uninfected cats over 2 year





Figure 3.3. Descriptive statistics (median and range) for differences in globulin levels for FIV-infected and uninfected cats over 2 years











Figure 3.5. Temporal patterns for absolute CD4 T cell counts in FIV-infected and uninfected cats over 3 years

Blue lines: FIV-uninfected cats; Green line: FIV-infected cats; P = 0.008







Blue line: FIV-uninfected cats; Green line: FIV-infected cats; P = 0.01







Blue line: FIV-uninfected cats; Green line: FIV-infected cats; P = 0.01





Figure 3.8. Descriptive statistics (median and range) for differences in globulin levels for FIV-infected cats in sanctuary housing and FIV-infected cats in private homes over 2 years

Blue boxes: FIV-infected cats in private homes; Green boxes: FIV-infected cats in sanctuary housing, Open circles: extreme values; Stars: outliers; P = 0.002.







Blue boxes: FIV-infected cats in private homes; Green boxes: FIV-infected cats in sanctuary housing, Open circles: extreme values; Stars: outliers; P = 0.02.





Figure 3.10. Descriptive statistics (median and range) for differences in albumin levels for FIV-infected cats in sanctuary housing and FIV-infected cats in private homes over 2 years

Blue boxes: FIV-infected cats in private homes; Green boxes: FIV-infected cats in sanctuary housing, Open circles: extreme values; Stars: outliers; P <0.001.





Figure 3.11. Descriptive statistics (median and range) for differences in cholesterol levels for FIV-infected cats in sanctuary housing and FIV-infected cats in private homes over 2 years

Blue boxes: FIV-infected cats in private homes; Green boxes: FIV-infected cats in sanctuary housing, Open circles: extreme values; Stars: outliers; P = 0.001.



References

1. Levy JK, Scott HM, Lachtara JL, et al. Seroprevalence of feline leukemia virus and feline immunodeficiency virus infection among cats in North America and risk factors for seropositivity. J Am Vet Med Assoc 2006;228:371-376.

2. Polak KC, Levy JK, Crawford PC, et al. Infectious diseases in large-scale cat hoarding investigations. Vet J 2014;201:189-195.

3. Yamamoto JK, Hansen H, Ho EW, et al. Epidemiologic and clinical aspects of feline immunodeficiency virus infection in cats from the continental United States and Canada and possible mode of transmission. J Am Vet Med Assoc 1989;194:213-220.

4. Courchamp F, Yoccoz NG, Artois M, et al. At-risk individuals in Feline Immunodeficiency Virus epidemiology: evidence from a multivariate approach in a natural population of domestic cats (Felis catus). Epidemiol Infect 1998;121:227-236.

5. Ueland K, Nesse LL. No evidence of vertical transmission of naturally acquired feline immunodeficiency virus infection. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 1992;33:301-308.

6. English RV, Nelson P, Johnson CM, et al. Development of clinical disease in cats experimentally infected with feline immunodeficiency virus. J Infect Dis 1994;170:543-552.

7. Dua N, Reubel G, Moore PF, et al. An experimental study of primary feline

immunodeficiency virus infection in cats and a historical comparison to acute simian and human immunodeficiency virus diseases. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 1994;43:337-355.

8. Hartmann K. Clinical aspects of feline retroviruses: a review. Viruses 2012;4:2684-2710.

9. Ackley CD, Yamamoto JK, Levy N, et al. Immunologic abnormalities in pathogen-free cats experimentally infected with feline immunodeficiency virus. Virol J 1990;64:5652-5655.

10. Murphy B, Hillman C, McDonnel S. Peripheral immunophenotype and viral promoter variants during the asymptomatic phase of feline immunodeficiency virus infection. Virus Res 2014;179:34-43.

11. Liem BP, Dhand NK, Pepper AE, et al. Clinical findings and survival in cats naturally infected with feline immunodeficiency virus. J Vet Intern Med 2013;27:798-805.

12. Yamamoto JK, Sparger E, Ho EW, et al. Pathogenesis of experimentally induced feline immunodeficiency virus infection in cats. Am J Vet Res 1988;49:1246-1258.



13. Ishida T, Taniguchi A, Matsumura S, et al. Long-term clinical observations on feline immunodeficiency virus infected asymptomatic carriers. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 1992;35:15-22.

14. Ishida T, Tomoda I. Clinical staging of feline immunodeficiency virus infection. Jap J Vet Sci Clin 1990;52:645-648.

15. Dean GA, Reubel GH, Moore PF, et al. Proviral burden and infection kinetics of feline immunodeficiency virus in lymphocyte subsets of blood and lymph node. Virol J 1996;70:5165-5169.

16. Lawrence CE, Callanan JJ, Willett BJ, et al. Cytokine production by cats infected with feline immunodeficiency virus: a longitudinal study. Immunology 1995;85:568-574.

 Willett BJ, Hosie MJ, Callanan JJ, et al. Infection with feline immunodeficiency virus is followed by the rapid expansion of a CD8+ lymphocyte subset. Immunology 1993;78:1-6.
 Hofmann-Lehmann R, Holznagel E, Ossent P, et al. Parameters of disease progression in long-term experimental feline retrovirus (feline immunodeficiency virus and feline leukemia virus) infections: hematology, clinical chemistry, and lymphocyte subsets. Clin Diagn Lab Immunol 1997;4:33-42.

19. Shimojima M, Miyazawa T, Kohmoto M, et al. Expansion of CD8alpha+beta- cells in cats infected with feline immunodeficiency virus. J Gen Virol 1998;79 (Pt 1):91-94.

20. Shimojima M, Nishimura Y, Miyazawa T, et al. Phenotypic changes in CD8+ peripheral blood lymphocytes in cats infected with feline immunodeficiency virus. Microbes Infect 2003;5:1171-1176.

21. Kohmoto M, Uetsuka K, Ikeda Y, et al. Eight-year observation and comparative study of specific pathogen-free cats experimentally infected with feline immunodeficiency virus (FIV) subtypes A and B: terminal acquired immunodeficiency syndrome in a cat infected with FIV petaluma strain. J Vet Med Sci 1998;60:315-321.

 Lin J, Litster A. Fluorescence flow cytometry methodology to exclude platelet aggregate interference when measuring feline CD4 and CD8 lymphocyte counts. Vet J 2013;198:275-278.
 Beczkowski PM. Virus evolution in the progression of natural feline immunodeficiency virus infection. In: College of Medical, Veterinary and Life Sciences MRC -Centre for Virus ResearchUniversity of Glasgow; 2012.

24. Howard KE, Reckling SK, Egan EA, et al. Acute mucosal pathogenesis of feline immunodeficiency virus is independent of viral dose in vaginally infected cats. Retrovirology 2010;7:2.



25. Howard KE, Burkhard MJ. Mucosal challenge with cell-associated or cell-free feline immunodeficiency virus induces rapid and distinctly different patterns of phenotypic change in the mucosal and systemic immune systems. Immunology 2007;122:571-583.

26. Dean GA, Quackenbush SL, Ackley CD, et al. Flow cytometric analysis of T-lymphocyte subsets in cats. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 1991;28:327-335.

27. Campbell DJ, Rawlings JM, Koelsch S, et al. Age-related differences in parameters of feline immune status. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 2004;100:73-80.

28. Day MJ. Ageing, immunosenescence and inflammageing in the dog and cat. J Comp Pathol 2010;142 Suppl 1:S60-69.

29. Gebhard DH, Dow JL, Childers TA, et al. Progressive expansion of an L-selectin-negative CD8 cell with anti-feline immunodeficiency virus (FIV) suppressor function in the circulation of FIV-infected cats. J Infect Dis 1999;180:1503-1513.

30. Baxter KJ, Levy JK, Edinboro CH, et al. Renal disease in cats infected with feline immunodeficiency virus. J Vet Intern Med 2012;26:238-243.



CHAPTER 4. ILLNESS AND MORTALITY RATES IN CATS NATURALLY INFECTED WITH FELINE IMMUNODEFICIENCY VIRUS AND MARKERS ASSOCIATED WITH THESE OUTCOMES

4.1 Introduction

Feline immunodeficiency virus (FIV) is an important life-long lentiviral infection in cats which leads to immunosuppression and increased risk of certain opportunistic infections, neoplasias and early mortality. Prevalence of FIV is estimated to be approximately 2.5% of owned cats in the United States however, prevalence is increased in cats allowed outdoors (4.3%), those living in large shelters where environments are consistent with hoarding situations (8.8%), and in cats presenting to a veterinarian with clinical signs of illness (up to 20.6%) ^{1,2}. Male, intact, outdoor cats are at greatest risk of infection due to territorial fighting behavior^{1,3,4}.

In FIV infection, disease course is typically categorized into three stages: 1) acute infection, 2) asymptomatic or chronic infection and 3) symptomatic or end stage infection. Acute infection may be characterized by transient signs of illness including lethargy, fever, lymphadenopathy and diarrhea that occur several weeks post-infection⁵. During this period there is a decrease in CD4 T cell counts, an increase in CD8 T cell counts due to expansion of the CD8 β^{low} subset, and an inversion of the CD4:CD8 ratio⁵⁻⁸. The expansion of CD8 β^{low} cells, unique to FIV-infected cats, are reported to have anti-FIV properties that aid is controlling viremia but an exact mechanism of action is unknown^{6.7,9}. As cats transition into the chronic phase of infection CD4 T cells are restored but not to pre-infection levels. Chronic infection lasts for a variable period of years during which patients show no outward signs of clinical illness on physical examination¹⁰. There is a slow decline in CD4 T cell counts, a continued expansion of CD8 β^{low} cells, and continued decrease in the CD4:CD8 ratio^{6.8,11}. Hypergammaglobulinemia is often reported in the chronic stage of FIV infection and is reported to be a polyclonal gammopathy secondary to FIV-related B cell stimulation. In a recent study it was reported that as cats progress to the symptomatic stage of infection plasma globulin levels are further increased compared to the asymptomatic stage of



infection¹². Cats progressing to end stage immunodeficiency syndrome typically suffer loss of body condition, muscle wasting, treatment-refractory opportunistic infections, anemia, leukopenia, lymphopenia, neoplasia and death¹³. It is anticipated cats will have a marked decline in CD4 T cells and CD4:CD8 ratio, anemia and leukopenia however, clinical pathological and lymphocyte immunophenotype data in end stage disease has not been well reported. The knowledge of biochemical and lymphocyte immunophenotype changes in cats with end stage disease is still sparse as there have been few studies performed and reported results are based on only a few cats which may not reflect end stage disease in the larger population of cats infected with FIV^{14,15}.

In FIV infection, there are no distinct biomarker guidelines to stage disease or determine increasing risk of illness or progression to end stage disease. The study of FIV infection presents several unique challenges: 1) the lengthy duration of the asymptomatic chronic phase of infection makes consistent follow-up difficult and expensive; 2) it is not known what percentage of FIV-infected cats will succumb to FIV compared to other diseases unrelated to FIV infection; and 3) it is not known what factor or factors are definitively associated with progression from asymptomatic to symptomatic or end stage disease^{8,16}.Current recommendations for monitoring FIV-infected cats in the asymptomatic phase of infection are twice yearly physical examination and once yearly routine hematological and serum biochemistry panels to assess for abnormalities.^{17,18} While important for monitoring health, these recommendations only identify disease once it has occurred and do not evaluate immune parameters, such as CD4 and CD8 T cell counts or viral loads, that may identify FIV disease progression prior to the occurrence of clinical signs of illness or death.

In this study, it was hypothesized that: 1) FIV-infected cats have an increased incidence of illness and mortality rate compared to FIV-uninfected cats; 2) FIV-infected cats have increased markers of inflammation and immune activity compared to FIV-uninfected cats and; 3) FIV-infected cats residing sanctuary housing will have an increased incidence of illness, mortality and inflammation compared to FIV-infected cats living in private homes. The aim of this prospective study was to determine the incidence of indicators of illness on physical examination and mortality rate in3 cohorts of cats and evaluate the association of lymphocyte immunophenotype, inflammatory and hepatic markers of disease to the incidence of indicators of illness and mortality rate in these cohorts. Cohorts were comprised of cats naturally infected with FIV residing in either sanctuary housing or private homes (<7 cats) and FIV-uninfected control cats



residing in private homes. The association between living environment and incidence of indicators of illness and mortality rate in FIV-infected cats was also assessed. Percent change in lymphocyte immunophenotype, inflammatory and hepatic markers over the 1-year and 6-month intervals prior to illness and death was evaluated for associations with progression to illness and mortality in FIV-infected cats. The clinical outcome for a subset of 44 FIV-infected cats enrolled in this study has been previously reported for the first 22 months of the study period¹⁹.

4.2 Materials and Methods

4.2.1 Animals

Cats were enrolled from adoption guarantee shelters (PAWS Chicago and Treehouse Humane Society, (Chicago, IL)), the Fitzhugh B. Crews FIV Sanctuary (Memphis, TN) or private homes in the Chicago, IL and Memphis, TN metropolitan areas. Cats were considered FIV-infected when enzyme linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) and polymerase chain reaction (PCR) were both positive at the time of enrollment. Any cat with discordant results had virus isolation (VI) performed and this result determined the FIV status. Any cat testing positive for feline leukemia virus (FeLV) at enrollment was excluded from the study. Illness was defined by the following : 1) a body condition score ≤ 3 out of 9²⁰; or 2) a gingival score (GS) ≥ 2 out of 3²¹ and any degree of gingivostomatits, or tooth root exposure or loose teeth; or 3) nasal or ocular mucopurulent discharge; or 4) neoplasia that was visible or palpable on physical examination and confirmed by histopathology. At enrollment all cats received a physical examination; only cats that were free of evidence of illness as defined above on physical examination were included in this study.

4.2.2 Laboratory findings

FIV-infected cats were examined every 6 months and FIV-uninfected cats were examined every 12 months. At enrollment and at each subsequent examination time point, blood was collected and submitted to IDEXX Laboratories (Westbrook, ME) for complete blood count (CBC), plasma biochemistry, and FIV/FeLV ELISA test (SNAP® FIV/FeLV test, IDEXX Laboratories, Westbrook, ME). Lymphocyte immunophenotyping was performed at IDEXX Laboratories (Westbrook, ME) or Purdue University (West Lafayette, IN). Lymphocyte immunophenotyping was performed using the protocol described by Lin et al (2013)²². PCR for FIV (FIV Real PCRTM Test) was performed at IDEXX Laboratories (West Sacramento, CA) using proprietary primers and methodology. VI was performed at the University of Glasgow Centre for Virus Research (Glasgow, United Kingdom)²³. Necropsies were performed on all cats that died during the study



unless the owner declined. Necropsies were performed at the Indiana Animal Disease Diagnostic Laboratory at Purdue University by one of the authors (TL). If autolysis interfered with the necropsy diagnosis then the cause of death was reported as unknown. Death was considered associated with FIV infection if the histopathological diagnosis included bone marrow hyperplasia, lymphoid hyperplasia, lymphoid hypoplasia or depletion, or lymphadenomegaly, and at least one of the following: lymphoma (at any site), other neoplasia, bacterial tracheitis, bronchitis, rhinitis, or conjunctivitis, lymphocytic-plasmacytic or necrotizing enteritis, or emaciation ^{5,24-26}.

The following were evaluated for association with progression to illness or death: 1) markers of inflammation: hematocrit (HCT), leukocyte count (WBC), neutrophil count (NEUT), lymphocyte count (LYMPH), total protein (TP), albumin (ALB), and globulin (GLOB); 2) markers of T cell immune status and activation: CD4 count, CD8 count, CD8 β^{low} , CD4:CD8 ratio and CD4:CD8 β^{low} ratio; and 3) markers of hepatic inflammation and injury: alkaline phosphatase (AlkP), aspartate aminotransferase (AST), and alanine aminotransferase (ALT) activities, cholesterol (CHOL) and glucose (GLUC).

Changes in the laboratory values were assessed at one year prior to onset of illness or death for FIV-infected and FIV-uninfected cats that developed illness or died during the study. For the cats that did not develop illness or survived to the end of the study, the changes in values were assessed at one year prior to the end of the study. Values at 6-months prior to illness, death, or the end of the study were also evaluated for FIV-infected cats.

4.2.3 Statistical analysis

Data were analyzed using commercially available statistical software (IBM SPSS for Windows version 22). Kaplan-Meier method was used to estimate median time to death and onset of illness in FIV-uninfected cats, FIV-infected cats living in sanctuary housing, and FIV-infected cats living in private households with <7 cats. Cox regression was used to compare hazard rate of mortality and illness between the 3 groups of cats with an adjustment for age at enrollment to address the concern that older cats are more likely to develop illness or die compared to younger cats. Cox regression was also used to assess the association of percent change in lymphocyte immunophenotype, inflammatory and hepatic markers with mortality and illness in FIV-infected cats over a 6-month and 1-year interval prior to death or illness. The percent change in value for analytes was computed using the equation: $(T_0 - T_{-1})/T_{-1} \ge 10^{\circ}$.



prior to death or at the time of illness and T_{-1} is the sample collected 1 year or 6 months prior to T_0 . Analytes were investigated using Cox regression with a stepwise procedure as groups (immunophenotype panel, inflammatory panel and liver panel) and only the statistically significant (P <0.05) markers within each group were reported. Receiving operator curve (ROC) analysis was performed for CD4 to determine discriminating ability for illness and mortality.

4.3 Results

A total of 174 cats were evaluated and 130 cats (78 FIV-uninfected cats and 52 FIV-infected cats) were included in this study and monitored up to 5 years, depending on enrollment and death dates. Twenty-six FIV-infected cats lived in sanctuary housing of \geq 10 cats and 26 lived in private homes of <7 cats. Sixteen FIV-uninfected cats and 3 FIV-infected cats residing in private homes were lost to follow-up. Age of the cats at enrollment was not significantly different among the three groups (P=0.189, ANOVA test) (Table 1).

4.3.1 Kaplan-Meier analysis

The median time to death was 27 months (95% CI 9.5, 44.5) for FIV-infected cats in sanctuary housing. FIV-uninfected cats and FIV-infected cats in private homes did not reach the median time for death during the 5-year follow-up period (Figure 1). Compared to FIV-uninfected cats, FIV-infected cats living in sanctuary housing had an 11.7 (95% CI 4.1, 33.9; P<0.001) fold increase in mortality rate and FIV-infected cats living in private homes had a 4.1 (95% CI 1.2, 14.7; P=0.028) fold increase in mortality rate after adjusting for age at enrollment. FIV-infected cats living in sanctuary housing had a 5.1 (95% CI 1.4, 18.2) fold increase in the rate of mortality associated with FIV compared to those FIV-infected cats living in private homes.

The median time to the onset of illness was 23 months (95% CI 14.7, 31.3) for FIV-infected cats living in sanctuary housing and 53 months (95% CI 37.3, 68.7) for FIV-infected cats living in private homes (Figure 2). Compared to FIV-uninfected cats, FIV-infected cats living in sanctuary housing had a 15.1 (95% CI 6.2, 37.0; P <0.001) fold increase in illness rate and FIV-infected cats living in private homes had a 3.0 (95% CI 1.1, 8.7; P = 0.037) fold increase in illness rate after adjusting for age at enrollment.

Necropsies were performed on 18 of 21 FIV-infected cats and necropsy findings indicated that death was associated with FIV infection in 15 of 26 FIV-infected cats (58%) living in sanctuary housing and 3 of 26 FIV-infected cats (12%) living in private homes. Among 25 FIV-infected cats that developed illness, 15 died and had necropsy findings associated with FIV infection.



There was no difference in mortality rate, following the onset of illness, between FIV-infected cats living in sanctuary housing and those living in private homes, after adjusting for age at enrollment (P=0.600). The median time to death, following onset of illness, in FIV-infected cats with necropsy findings associated with FIV infection was 27 months (95% CI 14.5, 39.5). In cats with necropsy findings associated with FIV, those that developed clinical signs of illness had a 3.8 (95% CI 1.0, 14.1) fold increase in the rate of mortality compared to those cats that did not develop illness (P = 0.05).

4.3.2 Cox regression analysis for mortality rate

In FIV-infected cats, after adjusting for environment and age at enrollment, a greater decrease in TP and ALB in the 1-year interval prior to death was associated with an increased mortality rate (P = 0.042 and 0.009, respectively) in the stepwise survival analysis (Table 2). In the 6-month interval prior to death, a greater decrease in HCT and ALB was associated with an increased mortality rate (Table 2). There were no associations between hepatic markers and mortality in FIV-infected cats.

4.3.3 Cox regression analysis for illness rate

In FIV-infected cats, after adjusting for environment and age at enrollment, a greater decrease in CD4 and ALB (P = 0.002 and 0.039, respectively) and a greater increase in the CD4:CD8 ratio were associated with an increased rate of illness in the 1-year time interval prior to the clinical signs of illness on physical examination in the stepwise survival analysis (Table 2). Over the 6-month time interval prior to the onset of clinical signs of illness in FIV-infected cats, a greater decrease in CD4 (P = 0.041) and a greater increase in NEUT (P = 0.040) was associated with an increased rate of illness (Table 2). There were no associations between hepatic markers and incidence of illness in FIV-infected cats.

There were no associations between inflammatory, immunophenotype, or hepatic markers and incidence of illness or mortality in FIV-uninfected cats at the 1 year interval. ROC analysis for CD4 did not show adequate ability to discriminate for progression to illness or mortality (data not shown).

4.4 Discussion

The results of this study show an increase in the rate of mortality and illness in FIV-infected cats compared to FIV-uninfected cats; furthermore, FIV-infected cats living in sanctuary housing show an increase in rate of mortality and illness compared to FIV-infected cats living in private



homes. In FIV-infected cats, a greater increase in TP and a greater decrease in HCT and ALB prior to death, was associated with an increased mortality rate in the stepwise survival analysis. A greater decrease in CD4and ALB and a greater increase in CD4:CD8 ratio and NEUT prior to the onset of illness was associated with an increased rate of illness in FIV-infected cats. These results suggest that, in FIV-infected cats, mortality rate is associated with chronic inflammation and onset of illness is associated with immune activity. However, given the complicated nature of FIV infection, the inflammatory and immune parameters are undoubtedly intertwined. It has been reported that alterations in cytokine production, activation of T regulatory (T_{reg}) cells, and up-regulation and overexpression of inhibitory T cell surface proteins are associated with immunocompromise and chronic inflammation during FIV infection²⁷. Increased circulating pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as interleukin-6 (IL-6), IL-1, IL-10, and tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α) and decreased circulating IL-12 resulted in an immune response that favored humoral (antibody) immunity and decreased cell-mediated immunity, leaving the host unable to mount an appropriate immune response to pathogens, particularly to intracellular pathogens²⁸⁻³⁰. T_{reg} cell activation limits the amount of IL-2 produced; a key cytokine produced by T cells to propagate an adaptive immune response to pathogens 31,32 . Up-regulation and overexpression of surface proteins, CTLA-4 and B7.1, on activated T cells act as co-stimulatory signals between T cells and induce a state of anergy (immune inactivity) ³³⁻³⁵. The combination of these factors may create a paradoxical situation, in which, immune activation responds to inflammatory signals but stimulates dampening of the adaptive immune response, rather than proliferation of a protective response.

The definition for clinical signs of illness were chosen based on previous studies that reported FIV-infected cats have a higher risk of upper respiratory infections, dental disease, loss of body condition and neoplasia compared to FIV-uninfected cats^{10,13,36,37}. The results of this study further support that FIV-infected cats have an increased rate of illness characterized by loss of body condition and respiratory and oral disease and neoplasia. Some clinical signs included in criteria for clinical signs of illness, such as dental disease and neoplasia, may not be readily apparent to a lay person. Therefore, it remains important for owners to follow current retroviral guidelines for FIV-infected cats to be examined twice yearly regardless of health status of a cat^{17,18}.



An increased rate of mortality and illness observed in the FIV-infected cats living in sanctuary housing compared to FIV-infected cats in private homes is not entirely unexpected. Identifying an underlying cause of illness in enrolled cats was beyond the scope of this study however, recent publications in shelter medicine have reported increased illness, particularly upper respiratory infection (URI), among cats living in shelter environments ³⁸⁻⁴¹. Although certain upper respiratory tract pathogens are almost ubiquitous in the cat population, several studies have reported an increased prevalence of feline herpesvirus-1 (FHV-1), feline calicivirus (FCV), *Bordetella bronchiseptica, Chlamydophila felis* and *Mycoplasma* species within shelter settings³⁸⁻⁴¹. Several guidelines have made recommendations for care and management of large multi-cat

housing situations and efficient use of resources including medical management, quarantine and isolation to limit pathogen exposure, reduction of fomite exposure via personnel, and adequate housing facilities (including space and ventilation) to reduce incidence of infectious diseases^{42,43}. In addition to basic housing construction requirements, alleviation of environmental and inter-cat stress is also important and has been associated with increases in stress hormones. Recent studies have shown increases in the urine cortisol-to-creatinine (UCC) ratio in cats housed under differing housing conditions within shelter situations. UCC were increased in cats not exhibiting outward signs of stress⁴⁴. UCC levels were also reported to be higher in privately owned cats visiting a veterinarian's office compared to UCC levels in the same cats when at home, suggesting that cats are quite sensitive to environmental stressors⁴⁵.

The results of this study show an increased rate of mortality in FIV-infected cats, both residing in sanctuary housing (age-adjusted rate ratio 11.7) and in private homes (age-adjusted rate ratio 4.1) compared to FIV-uninfected cats. Recent studies have reported that FIV-infected cats may succumb to illnesses unrelated to FIV infection and that the lifespan of an FIV-infected cat is not statistically different from an FIV-uninfected cat^{1,4,46}. While a few FIV-infected cats in this study died of causes unrelated to FIV infection, such as trauma and urethral obstruction, the majority (86%) of FIV-infected cats in this study had necropsy findings consistent with FIV infection without other differential diagnostic findings for cause of death. Importantly, in this study, FIV-infected cats that developed clinical signs of illness had an increased mortality rate after adjustment for age and environment. These results support an association between clinical signs of illness on physical examination and progression to early mortality, however, as previously reported in the literature the time to death following onset of clinical signs is variable between FIV-infected cats. In studies of naturally acquired infection, the time to death, following observation of clinical signs of illness, has ranged from 1 month to more than 41 months⁴⁷.



The choice of CBC and chemistry parameters evaluated in this study was made based on evidence that FIV causes chronic inflammation, immunosuppression, chronic disease and depletion of lymphoid cells, particularly in the mucosal lymphoid tissue^{28,29,48-53}.

The association of a greater decline in HCT and ALB with mortality may be explained by chronic inflammation associated with FIV infection, although inflammation associated with concurrent infections or neoplasia may also play a role. Increased circulating pro-inflammatory cytokines, interleukin-1 β (IL-1 β), IL-6 and tumor necrosis-alpha (TNF- α), cause production of positive acute phase proteins in the liver; at the same time the inflammatory cytokines interfere with production of negative acute phase proteins such as ALB^{54,55}. This loss of ALB during chronic FIV infection may be associated with higher levels of circulating pro-inflammatory cytokines that have been reported in cats in the symptomatic stage of FIV infection compared to those in the asymptomatic stage of infection⁵⁰. It may also be that ALB was lost via the kidneys or gastrointestinal tract (GIT) but direct conclusions cannot be drawn from this study. Renal values were not assessed for their association with illness or mortality in this study and urine protein-tocreatinine ratio was not performed in these cats. TP, GLOB, CHOL and GLU were not associated with illness or mortality suggesting that gastrointestinal loss of ALB was not an issue but intestinal biopsies and intestinal fatty acid binding protein levels were not performed to assess GIT integrity. In terms of application, a further 10% decrease in ALB in FIV-infected cats would correlate with a 3.3 fold increase in mortality rate over a 1-year interval and 2.2 fold increase over a 6-month interval ($e^{(-10*-0.119)}$ and $e^{(-10*-0.079)}$, respectively). The association of a greater decrease in HCT with mortality rate might be explained by anemia of chronic disease. This process has been reported to be associated with chronic inflammatory conditions and neoplastic disease, such as lymphoma, and may result in reduced erythroid production or iron deficiency associated shortening of the red blood cell life span.

In FIV-infected cats, a greater decrease in the percent change of CD4 was associated with an increased illness rate over the 1-year and 6-month time intervals. CD4 T cells are a driving force of the adaptive immune system and play a key role in orchestrating the humoral and cell-mediated responses to infection. The progressive loss of CD4 T cells in FIV-infected cats during the acute and asymptomatic stages of infection compared to FIV-uninfected cats has been widely reported; CD4 T cell counts in the end stage of FIV infection are not often reported. While CD4 T cell counts of <21 cells/mL in FIV-infected cats with end stage disease have been reported; it has also been reported that FIV-infected cats have tolerated low (<50 cells/mL) CD4 T cell levels



without showing outward signs of clinical illness during the asymptomatic stage of infection. Although the results of this study show an association between CD4 T cell percentage and illness rate, the low hazard rate ratio suggests that a greater change in CD4 T cells would not be sufficient as a single tool to indicate progression to disease. A greater decrease of percent change in CD4 T cells in cats in this study had limited practical application. For example, a further 50% decrease in CD4 T cells would only result in a 1.9 fold increase in illness over a 1–year interval and 1.7 fold increase in illness over a 6-month interval ($e^{(-50*-0.013)}$ and $e^{(-50*-0.011)}$, respectively).

A greater increase in the CD4:CD8 ratio over a 1-year interval and NEUT over a 6-month interval was associated with an increased illness rate. Goto et al¹⁴ reported an increase in the CD4:CD8 ratio for cats in the end stage of disease compared to those in the chronic stage of disease. This change in ratio was attributed to loss of both CD4 and CD8 cells in the end stage of disease because the end stage ratio was still markedly lower than that of the asymptomatic cats. It is difficult to determine why a greater increase in the CD4:CD8 ratio was associated with illness in these study cats. It is possible that the timing of illness was early enough in the disease course that a sufficient number of CD4 T cells were still present in relation to CD8 T cells and kept the CD4:CD8 ratio at a higher level. Conversely, it may be that expansion of $CD\beta^{low}$ cells within the CD8 T cell population was not at a point great enough to decrease the CD4:CD8 ratio in comparison to the CD4 T cell population. Due to the fact that these infections were naturally acquired without a known infection date, it is impossible to know the duration of infection and how this may have impacted immunosuppression and T cell levels. The association of a greater increase in NEUT with illness may reflect a normal fluctuation of cell counts in this small group of FIV-infected cats but it is also possible that the immune response mounted by the FIV-infected cats was still adequate at this stage in chronic disease.

There are several limitations to this study that may have affected our results. Survival analysis was used to statistically account for loss to follow-up in the different groups of cats. However, an assumption that the reasons cats were lost to follow-up were unrelated to mortality and illness cannot be validated. Our use of a stepwise procedure to identify significant associations between markers and outcomes of interest is considered exploratory and a confirmatory study is needed. The cats enrolled in this study were all naturally infected with FIV and the exact date of infection, the infecting dose at the time of infection and duration of infection are unknown. Given these unknowns direct longitudinal comparisons among the cats was not possible. Additionally, as



these cats were all sourced from shelters, the age assigned at the time of shelter admission, and that used for the age at enrollment, was an estimate. Given the long term chronic nature of FIV infection the time frame of the study (up to five years) might not have been long enough to realize the natural disease progress of FIV-infected cats.

4.5 Conclusion

Cats infected with FIV had a higher incidence rate of mortality and illness compared to FIVuninfected cats and those that residing in sanctuary housing had a higher incidence rate of mortality and illness compared to FIV-infected cats in private homes with <10 cats. Percent change in inflammatory markers ALB and NEUT and lymphocyte immunophenotype were associated with an increased rate to illness or death in FIV-infected cats, however, the incremental changes and associations are considered exploratory in this small group of cats and cannot be extrapolated to FIV-infected cats in general. Furthermore, the change in rate ratio for lymphocyte immunophenotype values was small and may not be practically important as a single monitoring tool for illness and mortality. These results do support the hypothesis that inflammation and immune activity are important components associated with FIV disease progression. The results also highlight the importance of housing environment on illness and mortality in FIV-infected cats, which is key in defining best management practices as the animal sheltering community more commonly seeks to place FIV-infected cats for adoption. Further investigation into the interaction between inflammatory pathways, immunophenotype changes and housing environment in cats naturally infected with FIV is warranted.





Figure 4.1. Survival curves for Mortality in FIV-infected and FIV-uninfected cats

Blue line: FIV -; Green line: FIV+ in private home; Orange line: FIV+ in sanctuary





Figure 4.2. Survival curves for Illness in FIV-infected and FIV-uninfected cats

Blue line: FIV -; Green line: FIV+ in private home; Orange line: FIV+ in sanctuary


Table 4.1. Age and Sex of FIV-infected and FIV-uninfected cats

^a All cats were previously spayed or neutered at time of enrollment

	Groups			
	FIV-negative	FIV-positive	FIV-positive private	
	n = 78	sanctuary housing n	homes	
		= 26	n = 26	
Males (%) ^a	50 (64)	19 (73)	18 (69)	
Females (%) ^a	28 (35)	7 (27)	8 (31)	
Age (years) at enrollment ^b (range)	5 (1.5-11)	3 (1.5-10)	4.5 (2-9)	

^b Median age at enrollment for FIV-infected and FIV-uninfected cats



Table 4.2. Analytes that are significantly associated with mortality and illness in FIVinfected cats investigated in Cox regression with a stepwise procedure

^a A negative coefficient indicates that a greater decrease in the marker prior to death/illness is associated with an increase in the rate of mortality and illness. A positive coefficient indicates that a greater increase in the marker prior to death/illness is associated with an increase in the rate of mortality and illness.

Mortality	Variable	Coefficient ^a	P-value
1 year interval in FIV+ cats	TP	0.072	0.042
	ALB	-0.119	< 0.001
6 month interval in FIV+ cats	НСТ	-0.049	0.001
	ALB	-0.079	0.004
Illness	Variable	Coefficient ^a	P-value
1 year interval in FIV+ cats	CD4	-0.02	0.002
	CD4:CD8 ratio	0.009	0.015
	ALB	-0.043	0.039
6 month interval in FIV+ cats	CD4	-0.011	0.041
	NEUT	0.009	0.04



References

1. Levy JK, Scott HM, Lachtara JL, et al. Seroprevalence of feline leukemia virus and feline immunodeficiency virus infection among cats in North America and risk factors for seropositivity. J Am Vet Med Assoc 2006;228:371-376.

2. Polak KC, Levy JK, Crawford PC, et al. Infectious diseases in large-scale cat hoarding investigations. Vet J 2014;201:189-195.

3. Ueland K, Nesse LL. No evidence of vertical transmission of naturally acquired feline immunodeficiency virus infection. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 1992;33:301-308.

4. Liem BP, Dhand NK, Pepper AE, et al. Clinical findings and survival in cats naturally infected with feline immunodeficiency virus. J Vet Intern Med 2013;27:798-805.

5. Dua N, Reubel G, Moore PF, et al. An experimental study of primary feline immunodeficiency virus infection in cats and a historical comparison to acute simian and human immunodeficiency virus diseases. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 1994;43:337-355.

6. Shimojima M, Miyazawa T, Kohmoto M, et al. Expansion of CD8alpha+beta- cells in cats infected with feline immunodeficiency virus. J Gen Virol 1998;79 (Pt 1):91-94.

7. Willett BJ, Hosie MJ, Callanan JJ, et al. Infection with feline immunodeficiency virus is followed by the rapid expansion of a CD8+ lymphocyte subset. Immunology 1993;78:1-6.

8. Murphy B, Hillman C, McDonnel S. Peripheral immunophenotype and viral promoter variants during the asymptomatic phase of feline immunodeficiency virus infection. Virus Res 2014;179:34-43.

9. Bucci JG, Gebhard DH, Childers TA, et al. The CD8+ cell phenotype mediating antiviral activity in feline immunodeficiency virus-infected cats is characterized by reduced surface expression of the CD8 beta chain. J Infect Dis 1998;178:968-977.

10. Pedersen NC, Yamamoto JK, Ishida T, et al. Feline immunodeficiency virus infection. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 1989;21:111-129.

11. Gebhard DH, Dow JL, Childers TA, et al. Progressive expansion of an L-selectin-negative CD8 cell with anti-feline immunodeficiency virus (FIV) suppressor function in the circulation of FIV-infected cats. J Infect Dis 1999;180:1503-1513.

12. Takano T, Hosoya S, Shibao A, et al. Comparative study of the plasma globulin level, CD21(-) B-cell counts and FOXP3 mRNA expression level in CD4(+) T-cells for different clinical stages of feline immunodeficiency virus infected cats. Res Vet Sci 2012;92:157-161.



13. Yamamoto JK, Hansen H, Ho EW, et al. Epidemiologic and clinical aspects of feline immunodeficiency virus infection in cats from the continental United States and Canada and possible mode of transmission. J Am Vet Med Assoc 1989;194:213-220.

14. Goto Y, Nishimura Y, Mizuno T, et al. Quantification of viral ribonucleic acid in plasma of cats naturally infected with feline immunodeficiency virus. Am J Vet Res 2000;61:1609-1613.
15. Kohmoto M, Uetsuka K, Ikeda Y, et al. Eight-year observation and comparative study of

specific pathogen-free cats experimentally infected with feline immunodeficiency virus (FIV) subtypes A and B: terminal acquired immunodeficiency syndrome in a cat infected with FIV petaluma strain. J Vet Med Sci 1998;60:315-321.

16. Hofmann-Lehmann R, Holznagel E, Ossent P, et al. Parameters of disease progression in long-term experimental feline retrovirus (feline immunodeficiency virus and feline leukemia virus) infections: hematology, clinical chemistry, and lymphocyte subsets. Clin Diagn Lab Immunol 1997;4:33-42.

17. Levy J, Crawford C, Hartmann K, et al. 2008 American Association of Feline Practitioners' feline retrovirus management guidelines. J Feline Med Surg 2008;10:300-316.

18. Hosie MJ, Addie D, Belak S, et al. Feline immunodeficiency. ABCD guidelines on prevention and management. J Feline Med Surg 2009;11:575-584.

19. Beczkowski PM, Litster A, Lin TL, et al. Contrasting clinical outcomes in two cohorts of cats naturally infected with feline immunodeficiency virus (FIV). Vet Microbiol 2015;176:50-60.

20. Laflamme D. Development and validation of a body condition score system for cats: A clinical tool. Feline Practice 1997;25:13-18.

21. Lobprise HB. Blackwell's five-minute veterinary consult clinical companion : Small animal dentistry. Ames, Iowa: Wiley-Blackwell; 2012.

 Lin J, Litster A. Fluorescence flow cytometry methodology to exclude platelet aggregate interference when measuring feline CD4 and CD8 lymphocyte counts. Vet J 2013;198:275-278.
 Beczkowski PM. Virus evolution in the progression of natural feline immunodeficiency virus infection. In: College of Medical, Veterinary and Life Sciences MRC -Centre for Virus ResearchUniversity of Glasgow; 2012.

24. Beebe AM, Dua N, Faith TG, et al. Primary stage of feline immunodeficiency virus infection: viral dissemination and cellular targets. Virol J 1994;68:3080-3091.

25. Brown PJ, Hopper CD, Harbour DA. Pathological features of lymphoid tissues in cats with natural feline immunodeficiency virus infection. J Comp Pathol 1991;104:345-355.



26. Shelton GH, Linenberger ML, Persik MT, et al. Prospective hematologic and clinicopathologic study of asymptomatic cats with naturally acquired feline immunodeficiency virus infection. J Vet Intern Med 1995;9:133-140.

27. Tompkins MB, Tompkins WA. Lentivirus-induced immune dysregulation. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 2008;123:45-55.

28. Dean GA, Bernales JA, Pedersen NC. Effect of feline immunodeficiency virus on cytokine response to Listeria monocytogenes in vivo. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 1998;65:125-138.

29. Dean GA, LaVoy A, Yearley J, et al. Cytokine modulation of the innate immune response in feline immunodeficiency virus-infected cats. J Infect Dis 2006;193:1520-1527.

30. Levy JK, Liang Y, Ritchey JW, et al. Failure of FIV-infected cats to control Toxoplasma gondii correlates with reduced IL2, IL6, and IL12 and elevated IL10 expression by lymph node T cells. Vet ImmunoIImmunopathol 2004;98:101-111.

31. Mexas AM, Fogle JE, Tompkins WA, et al. CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells are infected and activated during acute FIV infection. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 2008;126:263-272.

32. Miller MM, Petty CS, Tompkins MB, et al. CD4+CD25+ T regulatory cells activated during feline immunodeficiency virus infection convert T helper cells into functional suppressors through a membrane-bound TGFbeta / GARP-mediated mechanism. Virol J 2014;11:7.

33. Hoffman-Lehmann R, Holznagel E, Ossent P, Lutz H.Parameters of disease progression in long term experimental feline retrovirus (feline immunodeficinecy virus and feline leukemia virus) infections: hematology, clinical chemistry, and lymphocyte subsets. Clin Diagn Lab Immunol 1997;4:33-42.

34. Bull ME, Vahlenkamp TW, Dow JL, et al. Spontaneous T cell apoptosis in feline immunodeficiency virus (FIV)-infected cats is inhibited by IL2 and anti-B7.1 antibodies. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 2004;99:25-37.

35. Vahlenkamp TW, Bull ME, Dow JL, et al. B7+CTLA4+ T cells engage in T-T cell interactions that mediate apoptosis: a model for lentivirus-induced T cell depletion. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 2004;98:203-214.

36. Ishida T, Taniguchi A, Matsumura S, et al. Long-term clinical observations on feline immunodeficiency virus infected asymptomatic carriers. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 1992;35:15-22.

37. Ishida T, Tomoda I. Clinical staging of feline immunodeficiency virus infection. Jap J Vet Sci Clin 1990;52:645-648.



38. Gourkow N, Hamon SC, Phillips CJ. Effect of gentle stroking and vocalization on behaviour, mucosal immunity and upper respiratory disease in anxious shelter cats. Prev Vet Med 2014;117:266-275.

39. Bannasch MJ, Foley JE. Epidemiologic evaluation of multiple respiratory pathogens in cats in animal shelters. J Feline Med Surg 2005;7:109-119.

40. McManus CM, Levy JK, Andersen LA, et al. Prevalence of upper respiratory pathogens in four management models for unowned cats in the Southeast United States. Vet J 2014;201:196-201.

41. Dinnage JD, Scarlett JM, Richards JR. Descriptive epidemiology of feline upper respiratory tract disease in an animal shelter. J Feline Med Surg 2009;11:816-825.

42. Hosie MJ, Addie D, Belak S, et al. Matrix vaccination guidelines: ABCD recommendations for indoor/ outdoor cats, rescue shelter cats and breeding catteries. J Feline Med Surg 2013;15:540-544.

43. Mostl K, Egberink H, Addie D, et al. Prevention of infectious diseases in cat shelters: ABCD guidelines. J Feline Med Surg 2013;15:546-554.

44. McCobb EC, Patronek GJ, Marder A, et al. Assessment of stress levels among cats in four animal shelters. J Am Vet Med Assoc 2005;226:548-555.

45. Cauvin AL, Witt AL, Groves E, et al. The urinary corticoid:creatinine ratio (UCCR) in healthy cats undergoing hospitalisation. J Feline Med Surg 2003;5:329-333.

46. Ravi M, Wobeser GA, Taylor SM, et al. Naturally acquired feline immunodeficiency virus (FIV) infection in cats from western Canada: Prevalence, disease associations, and survival analysis. Can Vet J 2010;51:271-276.

47. Goto Y, Nishimura Y, Baba K, et al. Association of plasma viral RNA load with prognosis in cats naturally infected with feline immunodeficiency virus. Virol J 2002;76:10079-10083.

48. Dean GA, Pedersen NC. Cytokine response in multiple lymphoid tissues during the primary phase of feline immunodeficiency virus infection. Virol J 1998;72:9436-9440.

49. Dean GA, Reubel GH, Moore PF, et al. Proviral burden and infection kinetics of feline immunodeficiency virus in lymphocyte subsets of blood and lymph node. Virol J 1996;70:5165-5169.

50. Lawrence CE, Callanan JJ, Willett BJ, et al. Cytokine production by cats infected with feline immunodeficiency virus: a longitudinal study. Immunology 1995;85:568-574.



51. Howard KE, Burkhard MJ. Mucosal challenge with cell-associated or cell-free feline immunodeficiency virus induces rapid and distinctly different patterns of phenotypic change in the mucosal and systemic immune systems. Immunology 2007;122:571-583.

52. Howard KE, Fisher IL, Dean GA, et al. Methodology for isolation and phenotypic characterization of feline small intestinal leukocytes. J Immunol Methods 2005;302:36-53.

53. Howard KE, Reckling SK, Egan EA, et al. Acute mucosal pathogenesis of feline immunodeficiency virus is independent of viral dose in vaginally infected cats. Retrovirology 2010;7:2.

54. Ceron JJ, Eckersall PD, Martynez-Subiela S. Acute phase proteins in dogs and cats: current knowledge and future perspectives. Vet Clin Pathol 2005;34:85-99.

55. Gabay C, Kushner I. Acute-phase proteins and other systemic responses to inflammation. New Engl J Med 1999;340:448-454.



CHAPTER 5. CONCLUSION

Research into FIV infection is complicated due to the lengthy chronic asymptomatic phase of disease, inability to identify cats that will progress to end stage disease, lack of factors associated with disease progression and expense associated with long term monitoring. To date, the majority of longitudinal research has focused on the acute and early chronic stages of infection in experimental models of FIV infection¹⁻⁴. Research investigating the transition from late chronic to end stage infection is sparse; published findings are based primarily on the outcome information of only a few cats with natural infection which makes extrapolation to the general FIV-infected population difficult⁵⁻⁷.

This research project followed a cohort of cats naturally infected with FIV and uninfected control cats over a period of up to 5 years. Comparisons were made between FIV-infected cats and FIV-uninfected cats and between FIV-infected cats in sanctuary housing and FIV-infected cats in private homes of <7 cats. The purpose of this study was to determine temporal patterns in routine laboratory parameters and lymphocyte immunophenotype, describe the illness and mortality rates, and assess the association of inflammatory, lymphocyte immunophenotype and hepatic markers with incidence of illness and mortality.

The most striking finding of this study was the disparity in hazard rates for illness and mortality among the groups of cats. Compared to FIV-uninfected cats, mortality rate was increased 11.7 fold in FIV-infected cats in sanctuary housing and 4.1 fold in FIV-infected cats in private homes. The mortality rate was increased 5.1 fold for FIV-infected cats in sanctuary housing compared to FIV-infected cats in private homes. Compared to FIV-uninfected cats, the illness rate was increased 15.1 fold for FIV-infected cats in sanctuary housing and 3.0 fold for FIV-infected cats in private homes. Furthermore, FIV-infected cats that became ill had a 3.8 fold increase in mortality rate compared to FIV-infected cats that did not become ill. These findings support an association



between clinical signs of illness and early mortality, however, time to death following the onset of clinical signs was variable and similar to the 1 month to greater than 41 months that has been previously published⁵. Direct comparison of illness and mortality rates between FIV-infected cats living in different environments has not been previously reported. These results were surprising, although not completely unexpected. Determination of causes for increased illness and mortality rates was beyond the scope of this study, however, it has been reported that cats living in shelter housing have a high prevalence of illness; particularly upper respiratory infections⁸⁻¹¹. Increased incidence and prevalence of upper respiratory infections in shelters have been associated with increased numbers of cats within the shelter, ineffective cleaning and disinfecting protocols, lack of standard vaccination protocols, presence of upper respiratory disease within the shelter, and lack of quarantine and isolation procedures for cats entering a facility⁸⁻¹¹. Several studies have reported higher urine cortisol-to-creatinine (UCC) levels in cats under certain shelter housing conditions, and in cats at a veterinary facility compared to UCC levels in the same cats at home which suggests that cats are sensitive to environmental conditions^{8,12,13}.

Differences in temporal patterns for CD4 and total CD8 T cells and lymphocyte counts showed a greater loss in FIV-infected cats compared to uninfected cats. CD4 T cells are the primary target of FIV infection but CD8 T cells can also be infected and progressive loss of T cells through cell mediated, apoptotic or anergic mechanisms have been reported¹⁴⁻¹⁶. Although anticipated, differences in temporal patterns for CD8 β^{low} cell counts were not seen, despite CD8 β^{low} cell counts being consistently higher in FIV-infected cats. It is possible that maximal expansion of CD8 β^{low} cells had already occurred in the FIV-infected cats. This may have impacted the CD4:CD8 ratios, as they were lower in FIV-infected cats, as expected, but no difference in temporal pattern was seen.

Notable differences in temporal patterns between FIV-infected cats in sanctuary housing and cats in private homes were seen for absolute white blood cell counts and total protein values. White blood cell counts and total protein levels increased in FIV-infected cats in sanctuary housing compared to decreased values in FIV-infected cats in private homes. Median total protein levels for both FIV-infected groups were above the reference interval throughout the study. The increased total protein levels may reflect hypergammaglobulinemia thought to be secondary to B cell stimulation in FIV-infected cats. The sanctuary housed FIV-infected cats had consistently higher median globulin values and absolute neutrophil counts, and lower median albumin values compared to cats in private homes, although differences in temporal patterns were not seen. These



findings may reflect the increased illness rate in sanctuary housed cats and suggest an increased inflammatory process that may be related to increased illness or stress within the environment.

Associations between inflammatory and lymphocyte immunophenotype markers and increased illness and mortality rates were found in FIV-infected cats. This lends further support to previously published findings linking chronic inflammation and alterations in T cells with chronic FIV infection^{2,3,17-19}. A greater decrease in CD4 T cell and albumin percentages and greater increase in CD4:CD8 ratio and neutrophil percentages were associated with increased illness rate. Increase in mortality rate was associated with a greater increase in total protein and greater decrease in albumin and hematocrit percentages. However, the individual hazard rate associated with each marker was weak. Inflammation in chronic disease states has been associated with albumin loss. This is thought to be secondary to increased pro-inflammatory cytokine and positive acute phase protein production and decreased negative acute phase protein production, such as albumin^{20,21}. FIV-infected cats are reported to have increased circulating proinflammatory cytokines and this may be a potential cause of the association between decreased albumin and increased illness and mortality¹⁹. Loss of CD4 T cells following FIV infection is well documented and association between decreased CD4 T cells with illness and mortality was expected, however, the associations were anticipated to be much stronger. This supports previous postulations that cats can tolerate low CD4 T cell levels without developing disease. Previously published studies have reported conflicting observations between clinical signs of illness and low CD4 T cell counts in FIV-infected cats^{7,22}.

Overall, this study showed an increased risk of illness and death in FIV-infected cats compared to uninfected cats. Furthermore, it uncovered a discrepancy in illness and mortality rates, not previously reported in the literature, between FIV-infected cats living in sanctuary housing and those living in private homes. This raises the question of whether environment plays a role in illness and mortality associated with FIV infection. Further investigation into the role of environment in FIV disease progression is warranted; particularly as animal shelters increasingly seek to adopt rather than euthanize FIV-infected cats. The associations between inflammatory and lymphocyte immunophenotype markers and illness and mortality rates were considered exploratory and extrapolation to the general population of FIV-infected cats cannot be made; especially as associations were weak. However, given the lack of readily available monitoring techniques to assess disease progression in FIV-infected cats, further investigation into these health parameters may be necessary. Ultimately, new, reliable and easily performed diagnostics



are needed to better assess the immune response and inflammation associated with long term, chronic FIV infection. Better tools to assess immune health in relation to the progression of FIV infection will lead to better management techniques and earlier medical intervention to preserve and extend length and quality of life.



References

1. Dua N, Reubel G, Moore PF, et al. An experimental study of primary feline

immunodeficiency virus infection in cats and a historical comparison to acute simian and human immunodeficiency virus diseases. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 1994;43:337-355.

2. Dean GA, LaVoy A, Yearley J, et al. Cytokine modulation of the innate immune response in feline immunodeficiency virus-infected cats. J Infect Dis 2006;193:1520-1527.

3. Dean GA, Pedersen NC. Cytokine response in multiple lymphoid tissues during the primary phase of feline immunodeficiency virus infection. Virol J 1998;72:9436-9440.

4. Willett BJ, Hosie MJ, Callanan JJ, et al. Infection with feline immunodeficiency virus is followed by the rapid expansion of a CD8+ lymphocyte subset. Immunology 1993;78:1-6.

5. Goto Y, Nishimura Y, Baba K, et al. Association of plasma viral RNA load with prognosis in cats naturally infected with feline immunodeficiency virus. Virol J 2002;76:10079-10083.

6. Goto Y, Nishimura Y, Mizuno T, et al. Quantification of viral ribonucleic acid in plasma of cats naturally infected with feline immunodeficiency virus. AmJ Vet Res 2000;61:1609-1613.

7. Ishida T, Taniguchi A, Matsumura S, et al. Long-term clinical observations on feline immunodeficiency virus infected asymptomatic carriers. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 1992;35:15-22.

8. McManus CM, Levy JK, Andersen LA, et al. Prevalence of upper respiratory pathogens in four management models for unowned cats in the Southeast United States. Vet J 2014;201:196-201.

9. Helps CR, Lait P, Damhuis A, et al. Factors associated with upper respiratory tract disease caused by feline herpesvirus, feline calicivirus, Chlamydophila felis and Bordetella bronchiseptica in cats: experience from 218 European catteries. Vet Rec 2005;156:669-673.

10. Dinnage JD, Scarlett JM, Richards JR. Descriptive epidemiology of feline upper respiratory tract disease in an animal shelter. J Feline Med Surg 2009;11:816-825.

11. Spindel ME, Slater MR, Boothe D. A survey of North American shelter practices relating to feline upper respiratory management. J Feline Med Surg 2013;15:323-327.

12. Gourkow N, Hamon SC, Phillips CJ. Effect of gentle stroking and vocalization on behaviour, mucosal immunity and upper respiratory disease in anxious shelter cats. Prev Vet Med 2014;117:266-275.



13. Cauvin AL, Witt AL, Groves E, et al. The urinary corticoid:creatinine ratio (UCCR) in healthy cats undergoing hospitalisation. J Feline Med Surg 2003;5:329-333.

14. Tompkins MB, Bull ME, Dow JL, et al. Feline immunodeficiency virus infection is characterized by B7+CTLA4+ T cell apoptosis. J Infect Dis 2002;185:1077-1093.

15. Tompkins MB, Tompkins WA. Lentivirus-induced immune dysregulation. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 2008;123:45-55.

16. Vahlenkamp TW, Bull ME, Dow JL, et al. B7+CTLA4+ T cells engage in T-T cell interactions that mediate apoptosis: a model for lentivirus-induced T cell depletion. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 2004;98:203-214.

Dean GA, Bernales JA, Pedersen NC. Effect of feline immunodeficiency virus on cytokine response to Listeria monocytogenes in vivo. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 1998;65:125-138.
 Murphy B, Hillman C, McDonnel S. Peripheral immunophenotype and viral promoter variants during the asymptomatic phase of feline immunodeficiency virus infection. Virus Res 2014;179:34-43.

19. Lawrence CE, Callanan JJ, Willett BJ, et al. Cytokine production by cats infected with feline immunodeficiency virus: a longitudinal study. Immunology 1995;85:568-574.

20. Ceron JJ, Eckersall PD, Martynez-Subiela S. Acute phase proteins in dogs and cats: current knowledge and future perspectives. Vet Clin Pathol 2005;34:85-99.

21. Gabay C, Kushner I. Acute-phase proteins and other systemic responses to inflammation. New EnglJ Med 1999;340:448-454.

22. Hofmann-Lehmann R, Holznagel E, Ossent P, et al. Parameters of disease progression in long-term experimental feline retrovirus (feline immunodeficiency virus and feline leukemia virus) infections: hematology, clinical chemistry, and lymphocyte subsets. Clin Diagn Lab Immunol 1997;4:33-42.

